## Role of neopterin on inflammasome activation in the nervous system

## Roberta de Paula Martins (*Master in Biochemistry*)

A thesis of The Australian School of Advanced Medicine, Faculty of Human Sciences, Macquarie University, and The Graduate Program in Biochemistry, Department of Biochemistry, Federal University of Santa Catarina, submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Supervisor: Gilles Guillemin (Macquarie University) Alexandra S. Latini (Federal University of Santa Catarina, Brazil)

Co-supervisor: Chiat K. (Edwin) Lim (Macquarie University) Renata Tiscoski Nesi (Federal University of Santa Catarina, Brazil)

March 2016







**DE SANTA CATARINA** 

## **Declaration of originality**

I hereby declare that the work presented in this thesis is originated from a cotutelle PhD realized at Macquarie University, Australia, and at Federal University of Santa Catarina, Brazil. Therefore, the Portuguese version of this thesis has been submitted to the Graduate Program in Biochemistry, Department of Biochemistry, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Brazil. To the best of my knowledge this submission contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference is stated otherwise. Any contribution made to the research by others is explicitly acknowledged.

Roberta de Paula Martins

Australian School of Advanced Medicine Faculty of Human Science Macquarie University

5<sup>th</sup> March 2016

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my advisor at *Macquarie University*, Gilles Guillemin, for having received me in his lab and for providing a professionally and personally enriching experience. For his indispensable help for the execution of the agreement which enabled the doctorate in joint supervision. And finally, for his availability and scientific support for the development of this work. Also, I am thankful to my co-supervisor, Chiat (Edwin) Lim, for his friendship and encouragement, as well as scientific and experimental contribution to this work. Thank you for your mentorship and friendship.

I am grateful to my laboratory colleagues, Ariel Seaton, David Lovejoy, Emily Don, Gloria C. González, Jenn Fifita, Josien de Bie, Kelly Jacobs, Kelly Williams, Seray Adams and Serene Gwee for having received me with open arms, and for their friendship and support throughout the period we were together. In special, to Vanessa Tan and Benjamin Heng, for their indispensable help, friendship, and encouragement.

I would also like to thank, Jim Piper, vice chancellor of research at Macquarie University, who enabled my participation in the English course University Entry Preparation Program for Human Sciences, Arts and Science in this same university.

My thanks to ASAM, at Macquarie University, and its members, for welcoming me. Specially, to Laura Newey and Shanna O'Connor for all the help in administrative matters throughout the doctorate period in *MQ*.

I am thankful to everyone who helped me personally and professionally during my stay in Australia, including the already mentioned.

I am also grateful to my advisor at the Federal University of Santa Catarina, Prof. Alexandra Latini, for her confidence in my work, for her example and dedication, and for all the opportunities she has given me during this journey. And, more importantly, for making me believe in myself and always demand the best of me. I would also like to thank my cosupervisor, Dr. Renata Tiscoski Nesi, for all the scientific assistance and especially for the friendship and support, and for making all the moments lighter.

I thank the professors Adherbal Aguiar Jr. and Anicleto Poli for their scientific and experimental contribution, and encouragement during this work.

Moreover, my thanks to my laboratory colleagues, Alexandre Solano, Ananda Staats, Anelise Bavaresco, Bruna Lenfers Gianni Mancini, Jacqueline Cabral, Karine Dallagnolo, Larissa Queiroz, Marcos Straliotto and Priscilla Ferreira for the friendship and support, especially to those who helped experimentally. To my friends Aline Remor, Deborah Scheffer, Karina Ghisoni, Lucila de Bortoli and Viviane Glaser, for the scientific collaboration and mainly for the friendship and support at all times throughout this journey.

I would also like to state my gratitude to Professor Marcelo Farina, responsible for my start in the scientific career as my first advisor.

My appreciation for *CNPq, CAPES*, Science without Borders and Macquarie University for the financial support.

Finally, I would like to thank my family, the best gift God has given me. My parents, Roberto de Paula Martins and Maria de Fatima Martins, for the love, example, confidence and encouragement they have always offered me. For being the basis of all my life, and for have given me the tools to achieve my goals. My brother Leonardo de Paula Martins, for the encouragement, example of dedication, and love for the teaching career. My sister-in-law Sonia Martins, for the affection and encouragement at all times. And, my nephew Eduardo MArtins, that, even not knowing makes every moment of my life happier, including this one.

I am also thankful to my fiancé Rodrigo de Melo, for being by my side, loving, believing and sharing my dreams and difficulties at all times, even in different continents. And, to my future family, Pedro de Melo, Zenita de Melo, Aline de Melo, Alex de Melo, and Nicolas de Melo, for the encouragement, love and understanding.

My thanks to all the friends and family who encouraged me, and who directly or indirectly participated in this stage of my life.

At last, I would like to mention my appreciation to Bruna Plácido, for language editing.

Thank you very much!

## **Publications**

#### Journal publications aroused from the thesis

- GHISONI, K.; MARTINS, R.P.; BARBEITO, L.; LATINI, A. (2015) Neopterin as a Potential Cytoprotective Brain Molecule. Journal of Psychiatric Research, v. 71, p. 134-139. Literature review with results. Chapter 5, section 5.1.
- MARTINS, R.P.; GHISONI, K.; LIM, C. K.; GUILLEMIN, G. J.; LATINI, A. Neopterin Prevents Inflammasome Activation in Human Primary Astrocytes. Submitted to the Journal of Experimental Medicine. Chapter 5, section 5.2.
- LIM, C. K.; ESSA, M. M.; MARTINS, R.P.; LOVEJOY, D. B.; WALY, M. I. ; AL-FARSI, Y. M.; AL-SHARBATI, M.; AL-SHAFFAE, M. A.; GUILLEMIN, G. J. (2015) Altered Kynurenine Pathway Metabolism in Autism: Implication for Immune-Induced Glutamatergic Activity. Autism Research, 9(6): 621-31. Chapter 5, section 5.3.

#### Journal publications

- SCHMIDT, É.C.; PEREIRA, B.; DOS SANTOS, R.W.; GOUVEIA, C.; COSTA, G.B.; FARIA, G.S.M.; SCHERNER, F.; HORTA, P.A.; MARTINS, R.P.; LATINI, A.; RAMLOV, F.; MARASCHIN, M.; BOUZON, Z.L. (2012) Responses of the macroalgae Hypnea musciformis after in vitro exposure to UV-B. Aquatic Botany, 100: 8 17.
- SCHMIDT, É.C.; SANTOS, R.W.; FAVERI, C.; HORTA, P.A.; MARTINS, R.P.; LATINI, A.; RAMLOV, F.; MARASCHIN, M.; BOUZON, Z.L. (2012) Response of the agarophyte Gelidium floridanum after in vitro exposure to ultraviolet radiation B: changes in ultrastructure, pigments, and antioxidant systems. Journal of Applied Phycology, 1 15.
- BOUZON, Z. L.; CHOW, F.; ZITTA, C.S.; DOS SANTOS, R.W.; OURIQUES, L.C.; FELIX, M.R. DE L.; OSORIO, L.K.P.; MARTINS, R.; GOUVEIA, C.; LATINI, A.; RAMLOV, F.; MARASCHIN, M.; SCHMIDT, E.C. (2012) Effects of Natural Radiation, Photosynthetically Active Radiation and Artificial Ultraviolet Radiation-B on the Chloroplast Organization and Metabolism of Porphyra acanthophora var. brasiliensis (Rhodophyta, Bangiales). Microscopy and Microanalysis, 18(6): 1467-79.
- SANTOS, R.W.; SCHMIDT, É.C.; **MARTINS, R.P.**; LATINI, A.; HORTA, P.A.; MARASCHIN, M.; BOUZON, Z.L. (2012) Effects of cadmium on growth, photosynthetic pigments, photosynthetic performance, biochemical parameters and structure of chloroplasts in the agarophyte Gracilaria domingensis (Rhodophyta, Gracilariales). American Journal of Plant Sciences, 3: 1077.

- SCHMIDT, E.C., PEREIRA, B., PONTES, C.L.M., SANTOS, R., SCHERNER, F., HORTA, P.A., MARTINS, R.P., LATINI, A., MARASCHIN, M., BOUZON, Z.L. (2012) Alterations in architecture and metabolism induced by ultraviolet radiation-B in the carragenophyte *Chondracanthus teedei* (Rhodophyta, Gigartinales). Protoplasma, 249: 353 - 367.
- GOUVEIA, C.; KREUSCH, M.; SCHMIDT, É.C.; FELIX, M.R. DE L.; OSORIO, L.K.P.; PEREIRA, D.T.; DOS SANTOS, R.; OURIQUES, L.C.; MARTINS, R.; LATINI, A.; RAMLOV, F., CARVALHO, T.J.G., CHOW, F., MARASCHIN, M., BOUZON, Z.L. (2013) The Effects of Lead and Copper on the Cellular Architecture and Metabolism of the Red Alga *Gracilaria domingensis*. Microscopy and Microanalysis (Print), 19: 513 - 524.
- ALMEIDA, S.L.; SCHMIDT, E.C.; PEREIRA, D.T.; KREUSCH, M.L.; FELIX, M.R.; OSORIO, L.K.P.; **MARTINS, R.P.;** LATINI, A.; RAMLOV, F.; CHOW, F.; MARASCHIN, M.; RODRIGUES, A.C.; BOUZON, Z.L. (2013) Effect of ultraviolet-B radiation in laboratory on morphological and ultrastructural characteristics and physiological parameters of selected cultivar of *Oryza sativa L*. Protoplasma, 250: 1303 1313.
- MARTINS, R.; GLASER, V.; SCHEFFER, D.L.; FERREIRA, P.M.F.; WANNMACHER, C.M.D.; FARINA, M.; OLIVEIRA, P.A.; PREDIGER, R.D.; LATINI, A. (2013) Platelet oxygen consumption as a peripheral blood marker of brain energetics in a mouse model of severe neurotoxicity. Journal of Bioenergetics and Biomembranes, 45: 449 - 457.
- <u>GLASER, V.; MARTINS, R.P.;</u> VIEIRA, A. J.; OLIVEIRA, E.M.; STRALIOTTO, M.R.; MUKDSI, J.; TORRES, A.; BEM, A. F.; FARINA, M.; ROCHA, J.B.T.; DE PAUL, A.; LATINI, A. (2014) Diphenyl diselenide administration enhances cortical mitochondrial number and activity by increasing hemeoxygenase type 1 content in a methylmercury-induced neurotoxicity mouse model. Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry, 390: 1 - 8.
- AGUIAR, J.R.; TRISTÃO, F.S.M.; AMAR, M.; CHEVARIN, C.; GLASER, V.; MARTINS, R.P.; MOREIRA, E.L.G.; MONGEAU, R.; LANFUMEY, L.; RAISMAN-VOZARI, R.; LATINI, A.; PREDIGER. R.D. (2014) Six Weeks of Voluntary Exercise don't Protect C57BL/6 Mice Against Neurotoxicity of MPTP. Neurotoxicity Research, 25(2): 147-52.
- POLO, L.K.; FELIX, M.R.L.; KREUSCH, M.; PEREIRA, D.T.; COSTA, G.B.; SIMIONI, C.; MARTINS, R.; LATINI, A.; FLOH, E.S.I.; CHOW, F.; RAMLOV, F.; MARASCHIN, M.; BOUZON, Z. L.; SCHMIDT, É.C. (2015) Metabolic profile of the brown macroalga *Sargassum cymosum* (Phaeophyceae, Fucales) under laboratory UV radiation and salinity conditions. Journal of Applied Phycology, 27: 887-899.
- SCHEFFER, D.L.; MARTINS, R.P.; DE PAUL, A.; TORRES, A.; Guglielmo, L.G.A.; PREDIGER, R.D.; Ward, C.; Andrews, N.; AGUIAR, J.R.; LATINI, A. Levodopa improves performance fatigability in reserpine-treated mice. Submitted to npj Parkinson's Disease.

- <u>MARTINS, R.P.</u>; NESI, R.T.; LIM, C. K.; GUILLEMIN, G. J.; LATINI, A. (2016) How Mitochondria Affect Inflammasome Activation? Literature Review [*in* progress].

#### **Conference proceedings**

Poster Presentation

- 23rd Congress of the International Union of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology (IUBMB) and 44<sup>th</sup> Annual Meeting of the Brazilian Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology (2015).
- MARTINS, R.P.; LIM, C. K.; GUILLEMIN, G. J.; NESI, R. T.; Latini, A. . Potential inhibitory effects of neopterin on inflammasome activation. In: 23rd Congress of the International Union of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology (IUBMB) and 44th Annual Meeting of the Brazilian Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology SBBq, Foz do Iguaçu, Brazil. SBBq's Abstract Book, 2015.

**Oral Presentations** 

- Advanced Studies in Neuroscience, Porto Alegre, Brazil, 2015.
- MARTINS, R.P.; NESI, R.T.; LIM, C.; GUILLEMIN, G.; LATINI, A. Neopterin attenuates inflammasome activation in human primary astrocytes. 2015.
- 23rd Congress of the International Union of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology (IUBMB) and 44<sup>th</sup> Annual Meeting of the Brazilian Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Foz do Iguaçu, Brazil, 2015
- MARTINS, R.P.; LIM, C. K.; GUILLEMIN, G. ; NESI, R. T. ; LATINI, A. Potential inhibitory effects of neopterin on inflammasome activation in human primary astrocytes. 2015.

#### Awards

Finalist at the 19<sup>th</sup> Award for the Young Talent in Life Sciences (2015).

#### Abstract

The inflammasome is a protein complex responsible for the maturation of the proinflammatory cytokines, pro-IL-1 $\beta$  and pro-IL-18. It represents a key event in the pathogenesis of inflammatory diseases which can be triggered by reactive oxygen species (ROS). Neopterin, an endogenous pteridin, is considered an early and sensitive biomarker of immune system activation. Although elevated neopterin levels have been associated with oxidative stress and inflammation for decades, the role of the pteridine in these conditions also remains unclear. Therefore, we investigated neopterin production in the central nervous system (CNS) under inflammatory conditions and the effect of neopterin preconditioning on inflammasome activation in nervous cells. A single lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (0.33 mg/kg; intraperitoneal) injection elicited an early hippocampal and serum increase of neopterin levels in adult Swiss mice, which occurred in parallel with inflammasome activation. It was also observed that rat cortical astrocytes produced and released neopterin under mitochondrial stress. In addition, extracellular neopterin (50 nM) inhibited ROS production and increased heme-oxygenase-1 (HO-1) content, an inducible antioxidant enzyme controlled by Nrf2 (nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2), which was also increased by the pteridine. Aiming to better understand the role of neopterin, we evaluated the effect of neopterin preconditioning on LPS-induced inflammasome activation in human primary nerve cells. Neopterin inhibited the inflammasome activation in astrocytes and neurons. Moreover, neopterin increased the anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-10 and IL-1Ra astrocytic release. Finally, we analysed the levels of neopterin and cytokines in the serum of patients diagnosed with Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD), a disease whose the pathophysiology remains virtually unknown. Higher neopterin and IL-10 and IL-1Ra levels were observed in ASD patients, while IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 did not change. In conclusion, neopterin appears to induce neuroprotective functions, when produced before or in parallel with the inflammatory stimulus in the CNS, by favoring oxidative stress resistance and inhibiting inflammasome assembly. The proposed molecular mechanism for this effect is throught the activation of the Nrf2/HO-1 cytoprotective pathway.

**Keywords:** Neopterin, inflammasome, oxidative stress, central nervous system, Autism Spectrum Disorders.

## **Table of Contents**

Declaration of originality	i
Acknowledgements	ii
Publications	iv
Abstract	vii
Table of Contents	viii
List of Figures	xiii
List of Tables	xv
List of Schemes	xv
List of Abbreviations	xvi
Chapter 1 Literature Review	1
1.1.Neuroinflammation	3
1.2. Inflammasome	7
1.2.1. Conventional activation of NLRP3 inflammasome	10
1.2.2. Unconventional activation of NLRP3 inflammasome	15
1.2.3. Pyroptotic cell death	16
1.2.4. Inflammasome activation in diseases	18
1.2.5. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in CNS diseases	18
1.2.6. Treatment of inflammasome-associated diseases	19
1.2.7. NLRP3 inflammasome inhibitors	20
1.3. Neopterin: Biomarker in inflammatory Processes (Review)	21
1.3.1. Neopterin synthesis	21
1.3.2. Neopterin is a peripheral biomarker of cellular immune response	23
1.3.3. Neopterin production in the CNS	25
1.3.4. Biological effects of neopterin	26
1.4. Autism Spectrum Disorder	29

2.1. Problem Statement	33
2.2. Main Hypothesis	34
2.3. Specific Aims	34
2.4. Research Approach	35
Chapter 3 Material and Methods	37
3.1. In Vivo Experiments	37
3.1.1. Animals	37
3.1.2. Neuroinflammation model induced by LPS	37
3.2. In Vitro Experiments	38
3.2.1. Rat cortical primary astrocytes	38
3.2.2. Maintenance and treatment of C6 cell line	38
3.2.3. Maintenance and treatment of Neuro2a cell line	39
3.2.4. Human nervous cells	39
3.2.4.1. Human primary astrocytes	39
3.2.4.2. Human primary neurons	41
3.3. Participants on the Autism Spectrum Disorder Study	41
3.4. Biochemical Parameters	42
3.4.1. Analysis of neopterin levels	42
3.4.1.1. Preparation and analysis of samples from the <i>in vivo</i> and <i>in vitro</i> experiments	42
3.4.1.2. Preparation and analysis of samples from the participants of the ASD study	43
3.4.2. Analysis of IL-1β, caspase-1 and ASC content	43
3.4.2.1. Preparation and analysis of samples from the in vivo and in vitro (C6 cells)	
experiments	43
3.4.2.2. Preparation and analysis of samples from human primary astrocytes	44
3.4.3. Evaluation of Cell Viability	45
3.4.4. Measurement of ROS production	45
3.4.5. Lactate quantification	46
3.4.6. Analysis of Nrf2 content	46
3.4.7. Multiplexing cytokine analysis	46
3.4.8. Protein determination	47

3.5. Molecular Parameters4	7
3.5.1. Gene expression analysis of <i>Gch1, IL1B</i> and <i>CASP1</i> 4	7
3.5.1.1. Preparation and analysis of samples from the <i>in vivo</i> experiment 4	17
3.5.1.2. Preparation and analysis of samples from the <i>in vitro</i> experiments4	18
3.6. Statistical analysis	49
Chapter 4 Results	50
4.1. Section I: Evaluation of neopterin and inflammatory mediators' synthesis in inflammato	ory
4.1.1. Temporal profile of neopterin and the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1β synthesis in Swiss	1
mice subjected to the LPS-induced neuroinflammation	51
	51
4.1.2. Evaluation of neopterin secretion in conditions of mitotoxicity in rat primary astrocytes5	5
4.1.3. Evaluation of neopterin effects on cellular viability, oxidative stress and/ or metabolism	
parameters in conditions of mitotoxicity in neurons and astrocytes5	6
4.1.4. Neopterin effect on Nrf2 content and activation in C6 astrocytic cell line6	50
4.2. Section II: Neopterin effect on inflammasome activation in nervous cells	62
4.2.1. LPS-induced inflammasome activation in C6 astrocytic cell line	62
4.2.2. Temporal gene expression of LPS-induced inflammasome proteins in human primary	
astrocytes	63
4.2.3. Neopterin effects on LPS-induced inflammasome activation in human primary astrocytes _6	54
4.2.4. Neopterin effects on inflammasome activation-related parameters induced by LPS in huma	n
primary neurons	67
4.3. Section III: Evaluation of neonterin and inflammatory mediators' secretion in the serum from	
ASD patients	58
Chapter 5 Discussion7	71
5.1. Neopterin production under inflammatory conditions and its potential sytoprotective role	71
5.2. Neopterin effects on inflammasome activation in nervous cells	8
5.3. Neopterin and inflammatory mediators secretion in ASD patients' samples 8	32
Chapter 6 Final Conclusions 8	6
	-
Chapter 7 Future Directions8	7

References	88
Appendix	123

xii

## List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Activation of the innate immune response mediated by PAMPs, MAMPs
and/or DAMPs6
Figure 1.2: Structure of conventional inflammasomes
Figure 1.3: Main conventional NLRP3 inflammasome activation pathways12
Figure 1.4: ROS induces the inflammasome activation through TXNIP14
Figure 1.5: Unconventional activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome15
Figure 1.6: The inflammasome activation contributes to the pyroptosis17
Figure 1.7: Neopterin synthesis from the BH4 <i>de novo</i> biosynthetic pathway23
Figure 1.8: The role of IFN- $\gamma$ in neopterin and kynurenine synthesis
Figure 1.9: The role of the Nrf2-Keap1-ARE system in the regulation of the antioxidant response
Figure 4.1: LPS systemic administration rapidly increases peripheral neopterin and IL- 1β production
Figure 4.2: Evaluation of serum neopterin levels in LPS-exposed Swiss mice52
Figure 4.3: LPS systemic administration rapidly induces central neopterin and <i>Gch1</i> expression
Figure 4.4: LPS systemic administration rapidly increases IL-1β production and caspase-1 activation in mice CNS
Figure 4.5: Sodium azide induces neopterin secretion in astrocytes
Figure 4.6: Neopterin does not affect cell viability
Figure 4.7: Neopterin does not induce ROS production
Figure 4.8: Neopterin inhibits azide-induced oxidative stress in astrocytes
Figure 4.9: Neopterin positively modulates HO-1 content in astrocytes

Figure 4.10: Neopterin exposure increases Nrf2 content and activation in
astrocytes
Figure 4.11: Active caspase-1 release in the supernatant of astrocytes treated with
crescent concentrations of LPS (1 and 5 $\mu$ g/mL)
Figure 4.12: LDS increases $U_{LR}$ and $C_{ASPL}$ gene expression in human primary
estreastes
astrocytes
Figure 4.13: Neopterin negatively modulates inflammasome activation in human
primary astrocytes exposed to LPS
Figure 4.14: Neopterin inhibits IL-1 $\beta$ secretion in human primary astrocytes exposed to
LPS
Figure 4.15: Nagentaria induges anti inflammatory autokings socration in human
Figure 4.15. Neopterin induces anti-inflammatory cytokines secretion in inflammatory
primary astrocytes exposed to LPS
Figure 4.16: Neopterin negatively modulates CASP1 gene expression in human primary
neurons exposed to LPS
Figure 4.17:Neopterin levels in ASD patients and healthy controls
Figure 4.18: Inflammatory cytokings layels in ASD nations and healthy control 60
rigure 4.10. Inflammatory cytokines levels in ASD patients and nearly control09

## List of Tables

Table 1.1: Compounds which inhibit NLRP3 inflammasome activation and their
mechanisms of action
Table 1.2: Neopterin extracellular effects in <i>in vitro</i> cellular systems
Table 1.3: Comparison of the neopterin <i>in vitro</i> extracellular effects (NEO) and 7,8-
<i>dihydroneopterin</i> (7,8-NH2) in different cell systems
Table 3.1: Participant Demographics
Table 3.2: Sequence of the primers used to determine gene expression in mice
samples
Table 3.3: Sequence of the primers used to determine gene expression in human
samples49

## List of Schemes

Scheme 3.1: Schematic representation of the in vitro experimental protoco	ol used to
evaluate neopterin preconditioning effects on LPS-induced inflammasome	activation
in human primary nervous cells	40

## List of Abbreviations

ADI-R	Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised
AGMO	Alkylglycerol monooxygenase
AIM2	Absent in melanoma 2
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
APC	Allophycocyanin
ARE	Antioxidant responsive element
ASC	Apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD
ASD	Autism Spectrum Disorder
ASK1	Apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
B2M	β-2-microglobulin
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
BH4	Tetrahydrobiopterin
BLAST	Basic Local Alignment Search Tool
Ca <sup>2+</sup>	Calcium ions
CAPS	Cryopyrin-associated periodic syndromes
CARD	Caspase recruitment domain
CARS	Childhood Autism Rating Scale
CASP	Protease pro-domain consisting of p20 and p10.
CDC	Cholesterol-dependent cytolysin
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CEUA	Ethics Committee for Animal Research
CNS	Central nervous system
CIITA	Class II, MHC, transactivator
CINCA	Chronic infantile neurological cutaneous and articular syndrome
CLRs	C-type lectin receptors
$CO_2$	Carbon dioxide
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
DAMPs	Danger-associated molecular patterns
DCF	2'-7'-dichlorofluorescein
DCFH-DA	2'-7'-dichlorofluorescein diacetate
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium

DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetracetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FCAS	Familial cold autoinflammatory syndrome
FCCP	Carbonyl cyanide-4-(trifluoromethoxy) phenylhydrazone
FIIND	Function to find domain
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid
GFAP	Glial fibrilar acid protein
GPx	Glutathione peroxidase
GR	Glutathione reductase
GSH	Glutathione
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate
GTPCH	Guanosine triphosphate cyclohydrolase I
HET-E	Incompatibility protein of Podospora anserina
HIN	Hematopoietic expression, interferon-inducible nature, and nuclear localization
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
$H_2O_2$	Hydrogen peroxide
HO-1	Heme oxygenase-1
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
i.c.v.	Intracerebroventricular
IDO-1	Indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase 1
IDO-2	Indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase 2
IFN-α	Interferon- α
IFN-β	Interferon- β
IFN-γ	Interferon- γ
IL-1β	Interleukin-1β
IL-6	Interleukin-6
IL-10	Interleukin-10
IL-18	Interleukin-18
IL-1Ra	Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist

ΙκΒ	κB protein inhibitor
i.p,	Intraperitoneal
IPAF	IL-1-converting enzyme protease-activation factor
IRAK	IL-1R associated kinase
JAK	Janus kinases
$K^+$	Potassium ions
Keap1	Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1
LAMEB	Multiuser Laboratory for Biological Studies
LDL	Low density lipoprotein
LPS	Bacterial lipopolysaccharide
LRR	Leucine-rich repeat
LTP	Long term potential
MAMPs	Microorganism-associated molecular patterns
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MPTP	1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine
$MPP^+$	1-methyl-4-phenylpyridine
mRNA	Messenger RNA
MWS	Muckle-Wells syndrome
MYD88	Myeloid differentiation factor 88
7,8-NH2	7,8-dihydroneopterin
NACHT	NAIP, CIITA, HET-E and TP1
$\mathrm{NAD}^+$	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NADPH	Reduced form of Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NaF	Sodium fluoride
NAIP	Neuronal apoptosis inhibitor protein
NALP	NACHT, LRR and PYD domains-containing protein
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide
Na <sub>3</sub> VO <sub>4</sub>	Sodium orthovanadate
NF-κB	Kappa B nuclear factor
NGF	Nerve growth factor
NLRC4	NLR family, CARD domain containing 4

NLRP1	NLR family protein, containing pyrin domain 1
NLRP2	NLR family protein, containing pyrin domain 2
NLRP3	NLR family protein, containing pyrin domain 3
NLRP5	NLR family protein, containing pyrin domain 5
NLRs	NOD-like receptors
NO	Nitric Oxide
NOD	Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain NOD
NOMID	Neonatal-onset multisystem autoinflammatory disease
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase
NOS1	Neuronal NOS
NOS2	Inducible NOS
NOS3	Endothelial NOS
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
Nrf2	Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2
P2X7R	P2X <sub>7</sub> receptor
PAMPs	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline
PHA	Phenylalanine hydroxylase
PMSF	Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride
PRRs	Pattern recognition receptors
PTPS	6-pyruvoyltetrahydropterin synthase
PYD	Pyrin domain
qRT-PCR	Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction
RIG	Retinoic acid-inducible gene-I
RIPA	Radioimmunoprecipitation assay lysis buffer
RLRs	RIG I - like receptors
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNS	Reactive nitrogen species
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
sIL-1Ra	IL-1Ra soluble isoform
SPSS	Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate

SR	Sepiapterin reductase
STATs	Signal transducers and activators of transcription
TCA	Trichloroacetic acid
TDO	Tryptophan dioxygenase
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-β
TH	Tyrosine hydroxylase
Th1	T helper 1 cells
TIR	Toll/IL-1 receptor domain
TIRAP	TIR domain-containing adaptor protein
TLRs	Toll-like receptors
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-a
TNF-β	Tumor necrosis factor-β
TP1	Telomerase-associated protein 1
ТРН	Tryptophan hydroxylase
TXNIP	Thioredoxin-interacting protein
TRIF	TIR domain-containing adapter inducing IFN-β
TRX1	Thioredoxin 1
TRX2	Thioredoxin 2

# **Chapter 1** *Literature Review*

Inflammation is a protective response that aims to eliminate pathogens or molecules that cause cell and tissue damage. The persistence and/or imbalance of this response can trigger a state of chronic inflammation, which will be prejudicial to the already affected tissue (for review see Hsieh and Yang, 2013). Thus, the neuroinflammation and the innate immune response are considered to be important events in the pathogenesis of many diseases of the central nervous system (CNS) such as the Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, autism, and others (Vargas et al., 2005, Sriram et al., 2006, Gubandru et al., 2013). Among the proinflammatory cytokines involved in the pathogenesis of CNS diseases are interleukin (IL) -1β and IL-18 which are synthesized as precursor proteins and depend on the processing executed by caspase-1 enzyme to become mature and perform their functions (Thornberry et al., 1992). Likewise, the activation of caspase-1 protease is dependent on the proteolytic cleavage performed by a multiprotein complex called inflammasome. This complex is composed of *i*) a sensor/receptor protein located in the cytosol that serves as a platform for the formation of the complex, ii) an adapter protein, ASC [apoptosis-associated speck-like protein] containing a CARD (caspase recruitment domain)], and iii) an effector protein, caspase-1 (Martinon et al., 2002). The inflammasome formation facilitates self-cleavage and the activation of caspase-1, which proteolytically cleaves pro-IL-1ß and pro-IL-18 cytokines in their mature forms, favoring pro-inflammatory and anti-microbial responses (Broz et al., 2010, Liu et al., 2012).

Although the inflammasome activation is essential in host defense, recent studies have shown that the activation of this complex is involved in the pathogenesis of various diseases with inflammatory component, including peripheral chronic conditions such as type 2 diabetes and CNS disorders such as neurodegenerative, Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease, and developmental, such as autism, for example (Halle et al., 2008, Masters et al., 2010, Siniscalco et al., 2012, Codolo et al., 2013, Heneka et al., 2013). Therefore, investigating potential inhibitors of the inflammasome activation will allow the development of effective therapies for the treatment of diseases characterized by chronic inflammation.

The use of peripheral biomarkers contributes for the early disease detection, the assessment of the progression, as well as, the monitoring of the palliative treatment in systemic and/or neurological processes (Brodacki et al., 2008, Molero-Luis et al., 2013, Wissmann et al., 2013, Suh et al., 2014). In this context, the measurement of neopterin has been related to the development and progression of diseases with neurological impairment such as Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease (Hull et al., 2000, Widner et al., 2002a, Azumagawa et al., 2003, Frick et al., 2004, Molero-Luis et al., 2013, Parker et al., 2013, Wissmann et al., 2013).

Neopterin is a byproduct of the *de novo* synthesis pathway of tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4), synthesized under conditions of cellular stress induced by inflammatory stimuli, including IFN- $\gamma$  (interferon- $\gamma$ ), LPS (bacterial lipopolysaccharide), hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>), among others (Troppmair et al., 1988, Franscini et al., 2003, Ishii et al., 2005). The literature suggests that in humans, macrophages and monocytes would be the main producers of neopterin (Werner et al., 1990), in order to exacerbate the inflammatory response mediated by them. In this manner, an increase in neopterin levels in biological fluids has been regarded as a sensitive marker of the immune system activation. For example, plasma concentrations of this pteridine may increase 2-3 times in subjects affected by viral infections, autoimmune diseases, peripheral diseases of chronic progression or the CNS diseases (Fredrikson et al., 1987, Fuchs et al., 1989a, Parker et al., 2013). Moreover, neopterin levels can reach up to 500 nmol/L in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) in inherited metabolic diseases characterized by the deficiency of 6-pyruvoyltetrahydropterin synthase (PTPS) (Blau et al., 1996).

The investigations related to the production of neopterin have generally been focused on the peripheral myeloid cells lineage (Franscini et al., 2003). However, Kuehne et al. (2013) recently suggested that neopterin would also be produced in the CNS based on *i*) estimated low quotient (1/40) for neopterin to cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB) (Hagberg, et al., 1993); and *ii*) the neopterin levels found in CSF being higher than the plasma or serum, for example, in patients with neurological diseases with intact BBB (Kuehne et al., 2013). Furthermore, previous results of our group are consistent with this proposal of neopterin central production, since the pteridine secretion was observed from hippocampal slices and striatal astrocytes in conditions of mitochondrial toxicity. On the other hand, little is known about the extracellular functions of neopterin in the CNS. Some studies have associated high concentrations of neopterin (higher than those encountered in pathological conditions) with oxidative stress, inflammation, and apoptosis (Weiss et al., 1993, Hoffmann et al., 1996, Schobersberger et al., 1996, Cirillo et al., 2006). Conversely, recent studies have demonstrated that, when intracerebroventricularly (i.c.v.) administered, neopterin (at concentrations slightly above those found at baseline levels) enhances the antioxidant status in mice cerebral cortex, reduces reactive oxygen species (ROS) production (Ghisoni and Latini, 2015), besides facilitating the acquisition of aversive memory and the generation of hippocampal long term potential (LTP) and reducing the IL-6 levels induced by peripheral administration of LPS in mice brain tissue (Ghisoni et al.,2016).

Taking into consideration that both the inflammasome activation and the neopterin production occur in inflammatory conditions and that neopterin should be produced and accumulate in the nervous tissue, it was sought to investigate the role of neopterin in the inflammasome activation in the CNS.

### **1.1 Neuroinflammation**

The maintenance of CNS homeostasis is essential for the functioning of neuronal cells. The inflammatory process plays a crucial role in the homeostasis mainly through the active protection against various noxious stimuli such as neurotropic viral infections and/or traumatic injury, promoting tissue regeneration (Butovsky et al., 2006, Das et al., 2014). The CNS has developed strategies to limit the entry of immune elements as well as immune tissue activation, a phenomenon called immune privilege. Such condition is partially dependent on the presence and integrity of the BBB, which limits the entry of solutes and ions (Carson et al., 2006). While the peripheral immune access to the CNS is restricted and finely controlled, it is able to generate acute or chronic inflammatory and immune responses to various harmful stimuli, for example, infections, trauma, stroke, toxins and others (Xiong et al., 2009, Fu et al., 2014, Wang et al., 2014). The acute neuroinflammatory response in the CNS includes the activation of resident immune cells, such as microglia, resulting in a phagocyte phenotype with the release of inflammatory mediators such as cytokines and chemokines (Henry et al., 2009, Puntener et al., 2012). While an acute stimulation can induce cellular stress, this is typically of short duration and, if solved, it does not affect the neuronal survival. Thus, it is believed that an acute neuroinflammatory response is, in general, beneficial to the CNS, provided that it tends to minimize injury and contribute to damaged tissue repair.

When the brain homeostasis is not restored after acute local inflammatory response,

neuroinflammation becomes a chronic condition which can lead to neuronal death, representing one of several pathological events induced by pro-inflammatory factors (for review see Hsieh and Yang, 2013). In addition to persistent microglia activation and subsequent inflammatory mediators release, the chronic neuroinflammation also involves the increase of oxidative and/or nitrosative stress (Tronel et al., 2013, Vasconcelos et al., 2015). The constant release of inflammatory mediators propagates the inflammatory cycle, activating more microglial cells, promoting their proliferation and resulting in the release of more inflammatory factors. Due to the chronic and persistent nature of the inflammation, it can compromise the integrity of the BBB increasing its permeability with consequent infiltration of peripheral macrophages in brain parenchyma (Yang et al., 2014, Maggioli et al., 2015). Generically, chronic inflammation can be defined as a harmful condition that damages the nervous tissue. As a consequence, neuroinflammation has beneficial and deleterious consequences critically depending on the resolution of the inflammatory response.

Microglial cells are macrophages resident in the nervous tissue and are the first cells to respond to a noxious stimulus. They play a critical role in the tissue repair, neuronal regeneration, regulation of the synapses number during development, (Wakselman et al., 2008) and removal of apoptotic neurons (Takahashi et al., 2005). The microglia can be activated by acute stimuli or under chronic conditions such as aging and CNS disorders (McGeer et al., 1988). In the activated state, microglia shares functions with macrophages from other tissues destroying and phagocytosing viruses, bacteria and other invaders, possibly presenting antigens to infiltrated lymphocytes in the brain tissue, and removing cellular debris as part of tissue repair. Microglia can modulate neuroinflammation, restore homeostasis and protect the nervous tissue by producing anti-inflammatory cytokines and tissue repair factors such as glucocorticoids and IFN type 1  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  (Park et al., 2007, Khorooshi and Owens, 2010). Nevertheless, when the neuroinflammation becomes chronic and/or under secondary stimulation, microglia produces excessive amounts of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF) - $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6, and ROS (Godbout et al., 2005), exerting deleterious effects, for example, contributing to the development of Parkinson's disease (Lazzarini et al., 2013).

Astrocytes also maintain the brain tissue homeostasis and perform functions that assist in the development and migration of neurons during the CNS development, production of growth factors, maintenance of the BBB integrity and participation of immune and repair responses (for review see Pěkný and Pěkná, 2014). In recent decades, additional functions of astrocytes have emerged, for example, its critical role in synaptic function. Specifically, astrocytic processes involve most of the synapses in the brain and express receptors for various neurotransmitters which mediate increases in astrocytic calcium concentration (Ca<sup>2+</sup>), resulting in regulated secretion of gliotransmitters, which modulate neuronal excitability, and synaptic strength (Perea and Araque, 2007). As well as microglia, astrocytes present numerous receptors involved in innate immunity, including Toll-like receptors (TLR), mainly TLRs 2 and 4 (Bowman et al., 2003) and nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs) (Sterka et al., 2006). Although not considered immune cells, astrocytes also have immune-like properties, such as expression of cytokines (IL-1, IL-6, IL-10, IFN- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and TNF- $\beta$ ) and chemokines (Choi et al., 2014) and phagocytosis of cellular debris (Bechmann and Nitsch, 1997).

The cells with a role in the immune response are activated by the recognition of noxious stimuli to the tissue, which can be originated from pathogens or the host itself. The pathogenic stimuli are preserved microbial structures such as the LPS, lipoproteins, flagellin, peptidoglycan or bacterial and viral nucleic acids classified as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) or microorganism-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs) (Poltorak et al., 1998, Ozinsky et al., 2000, Souza et al., 2004). When invading tissues and/or the circulatory system, PAMPs/MAMPs can initiate an inflammatory response mediated by the innate immunity cells (Figure 1.1) with consequent release of DAMPs (danger-associated molecular patterns). DAMPs are endogenous stimuli that can be damaged cells (debris) or molecules released during cell death such as ATP (adenosine triphosphate) which induce the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in response to injury or stress (Perregaux and Gabel, 1994). DAMPs can synergistically act with PAMPs/MAMPs and contribute to tissue damage. When the inflammatory response is triggered exclusively by the sensing of DAMPs, it is called sterile inflammation, as there is no involvement of microorganisms (Codolo et al., 2013, Heneka et al., 2013).

The induction of the pro-inflammatory response mediated by PAMPs, MAMPs or DAMPs involves the presence of molecular sensors, collectively called pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). There are several PRRs subfamilies including TLRs, NLRs, C-type lectin receptors (CLRs) and RIG I (retinoic acid-inducible gene-I)- like receptors (RLRs). Nonetheless, NLRs have drawn more attention due to the ability to form multiprotein complex called inflammasomes. The inflammasome activation has already been linked to the physiopathogeny of several chronic diseases with an inflammatory component, such as neurodegenerative diseases (Chin et al., 2008, Heneka et al., 2013, Terrill-Usery et al., 2014, Wang et al., 2014).



**Figure 1.1.** Activation of the innate immune response mediated by PAMPs, MAMPs and/or DAMPs. (a) PAMPs released from pathogens during an infection and/or (c) MAMPs from commensal bacteria activate PRRs located on the cell membrane, such as TLR and CLR, or in the cytosol of immune cells, such as NLR and some subtypes of TLRs, leading to inflammatory response. Further, the infectious process can lead to tissue damage and consequent release of DAMPs which may also activate the PRRs, contributing to inflammation. (b) In case of tissue injury, the released DAMPs (e.g., ATP) can be endogenous agonists of TLR and/or NLR receptors and inflammation, given that there is no involvement of microorganisms (Figure from Mills, 2011). PAMPs: pathogen-associated molecular patterns; MAMPs: microorganisms-associated molecular patterns; DAMPs: danger-associated molecular patterns; PRRs: pattern recognition receptors; TLRs: Toll-like receptors; CLRs: C-type lectin receptors; NLRs: NOD-like receptors, RLRs: RIG-like receptor.

### 1.2 Inflammasome

The inflammasome is a complex of signalling proteins that promotes the processing of pro-IL-1 $\beta$  and pro-IL-18 (Martinon et al., 2002), cytokines known for their ability to cause biological effects associated with infection, inflammation and autoimmune processes (Bohn et al., 1998, CASAMENTI et al., 1999, Lachmann et al., 2009b, Palotai et al., 2014). The processing of IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-18 precursors is mediated by caspase-1 (Thornberry et al., 1992), protease synthesized as an inactive zymogen of 45 kDa consisting of a CARD and two subunits, p20 (20 kDa) and p10 (10 kDa), which together form the protease pro-domain. The inflammasome functions as a platform that enables the approaching of two or more processpases, allowing its proteolytic self-cleavage and the formation of an enzymatically active heterodimer composed of the subunits p20 and p10 (Salvesen and Dixit, 1999, Martinon et al., 2002, Boatright et al., 2003).

There are four conventional or canonical inflammasomes which process pro-IL-1 $\beta$  and pro-IL-18 via caspase-1 (Figure 1.2), they are: NLRP1 (NLR family protein, containing pyrin domain 1), NLRP3, IPAF (IL-1-converting enzyme protease-activation factor) and the AIM2 protein (absent in melanoma 2) induced by IFN and belonging to the HIN (hematopoietic expression, interferon-inducible nature, and nuclear localization) family domain. These inflammasomes differ primarily in structure, requirement of the accessory protein ASC and potential activators. The ASC protein is composed of a pyrin domain (PYD) and a CARD domain and it functions as an adapter for the interaction between proteins containing PYD and proteins containing CARD, such as pro-caspase-1 (Masumoto et al., 1999, Conway et al., 2000).

AIM2 is formed by a HIN domain and a PYD domain, which mediates the association

of the receptor with the adapter protein ASC, allowing the recruitment of pro-caspase-1 and the formation of inflammasome (DeYoung et al., 1997). This receptor can be activated either by bacterial or viral deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) (Hornung et al., 2009, Roberts et al., 2009).

NLRP1, NLRP3 and IPAF are cytosolic receptors of the NLR family characterized by the outstanding structural homology to disease resistance proteins of plants (Dixon et al., 2000). They are consisted of three domains: *i*) LRR (leucine-rich repeat) whose function is related to PAMPs recognition (Kajava, 1998); *ii*) NACHT [NAIP (neuronal apoptosis inhibitor protein), CIITA (class II, major histocompatibility complex (MHC), transactivator), HET-E (incompatibility protein of *Podospora anserina*) and TP1 (telomerase-associated protein)] responsible for the oligomerization of the receptor (Pop et al., 2006, Faustin et al., 2007); and *iii*) CARD or PYD, which will permit the association with ASC or pro-caspase-1 (Zou et al., 1997, Bertin et al., 1999, Inohara et al., 1999) (Figure 1.2).

IPAF, also known as NLRC4 (NLR family, CARD domain containing 4), contains a CARD domain and may interact directly and specifically with the pro-caspase-1 through homotypic interaction CARD-CARD (Poyet et al., 2001). It can be activated by an entire bacteria such as *Salmonella typhimurium, Pseudomonas aeruginosa* or *Legionella pneumophila* as well as bacterial components, for instance, the flagellin (Franchi et al., 2006, Miao et al., 2008, Case et al., 2009b). However, the exact mechanism of bacterial compounds detection by IPAF and of caspase-1 activation is not yet fully elucidated.

NLRP, also known as NALP (NACHT, LRR and PYD domains-containing protein) is the largest subfamily of NLR receptors, containing 14 members in humans and 12 in mice. Although the classical members are NLRP1 and NLRP3 (Martinon et al., 2002, Mariathasan et al., 2004), NLRP2 also forms functional inflammasomes (Minkiewicz et al., 2013). NLRP1 contains the domains mentioned above and also the FIIND (function to find) domain followed by a CARD. Consequently, NLRP1 can directly recruit pro-caspase-1. The NLRP1 activation has been demonstrated by Bacillus anthracis and muramyl dipeptide, constituent of the bacterial cell wall (Hsu et al., 2008). NLRP2 has not been widely investigated, but some studies have shown that this receptor can be activated by LPS, IFN- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  (Bruey et al., 2004). The NLRP3 inflammasome is the most studied and best characterized, probably due to its ability to detect both PAMPs and DAMPs. When activated, it is desubiquitinated (preventing its degradation by autophagy) and self-oligomerizes in an ATP-dependent manner (Duncan et al., 2007). The NLRP3 and NLRP2 complexes, different from NLRP1, do not contain the CARD domain, requiring the adapter protein ASC for the recruitment of procaspase-1. Thus, these inflammasomes are formed by homotypic interactions PYD-PYD between the receptor and ASC and CARD-CARD between ASC and pro-caspase-1. The recruitment of pro-caspase-1 for the protein complex will lead to its self-cleavage and activation (Figure 1.2) (Agostini et al., 2004, Bruey et al., 2004).

The inflammasome components are commonly expressed under physiological conditions in myeloid lineage cells and/or tissues with high content of cells involved in innate immunity (Kummer et al., 2007, Guard et al., 2011). Yet, it has been demonstrated that nervous cells also express the proteins that constitutively form the inflammasomes. Thus, NLRP1 has been detected in culture of human neurons (Kaushal et al., 2015) and in neurons from mice spinal cord (Rivero Vaccari et al., 2008). AIM2 and IPAF were also detected in human neuronal cells culture, but not as significantly as NLRP1 (Kaushal et al., 2015). The NLRP2 protein has been described in human primary astrocytes culture (Minkiewicz et al., 2013). In addition, IPAF, NLRP1, AIM2 and NLRP3 mRNA have also been described in mice cortical astrocytes culture, the latter being the most abundant (Alfonso-Loeches et al., 2014). Therefore, though the activation of the inflammasome in the CNS is not known in detail, there is evidence of the presence of several proteins involved in the process.



**Figure 1.2.** Structure of conventional inflammasomes. All conventional inflammasomes are constituted by a receptor and the effector protein pro-caspase-1, differing regarding the requirement of the adapter protein ASC. The NLRP1 and IPAF receptors have a CARD domain, allowing the recruitment of caspase-1 directly, while NLRP3 and AIM2 have a PYD domain and need ASC for the inflammasome formation (Figure from Schroder and Tschopp, 2010). LRR: leucine-rich repeat; NACHT: NAIP, CIITA, HET-E, and TP1; PYD: pyrin domain; CARD: caspase recruitment domain; FIIND: function to find domain; HIN: hematopoietic expression, interferon-inducible nature, and nuclear localization domain.

#### 1.2.1 Conventional activation of NLRP3 inflammasome

The NLRP3 inflammasome is considered unique among the innate immune system sensors given that it can be activated by PAMPs and DAMPs with great structural variability (Mariathasan et al., 2004). NLRP3 can be activated by high concentrations of ATP, glucose, ROS, sphingosine, ceramides, oxidized LDL (low density lipoprotein), β-amyloid peptide, uric acid crystals and cholesterol, apart from environmental irritants, toxic chemicals like particles of asbestos, biomaterials, nanoparticles, among others (Figure 1.3) (Halle et al., 2008, Duewell et al., 2010, Jiang et al., 2012, Luheshi et al., 2012). Because of the great chemical and structural diversity of the activators (Petrilli et al., 2007, Dostert et al., 2008, Halle et al., 2008), it is likely that both NLRP3 agonists and the signalling pathways activated by it, alter cell homeostasis or the function of any organelle that integrates the activation signals and, as a result, causes the activation of the inflammasome. It is important to stress that inflammasomes can only induce the processing and secretion of IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-18 previously stored in the cells. Subsequently, the NLRP3 inflammasome requires two signals to be activated. The first signal or priming is provided by TLR ligands or by kappa B nuclear factor (NF-kB) activators, which will induce the expression of pro-IL-1β and also NLRP3. The second signal will directly activate NLRP3 and will stimulate caspase-1 activation and pro-IL-1 $\beta$  and pro-IL-18 cleavage with subsequent release of mature cytokines.

There are three main NLRP3 inflammasome activation models (Figure 1.3): the potassium ( $K^+$ ) efflux induced by ATP, the lysosomal rupture and the ROS production.

It may be cited among the NLRP3 inflammasome activators, agents that induce intracellular  $K^+$  efflux, as high extracellular concentrations of ATP and/or pore-forming toxins such as nigericin. Initially, it was shown that these compounds, ATP and nigericin, induce the secretion of mature IL-1 $\beta$  through  $K^+$  depletion in LPS-primed macrophages (Hogquist et al., 1991, Perregaux and Gabel, 1994). In addition, Walev et al. (1995) showed

that  $K^+$  addition to the extracellular medium, blocking the ion efflux, inhibits the secretion of active IL-1 $\beta$  in monocytes culture.

The *in vitro* stimulation of murine macrophages with high concentrations of ATP (from 100  $\mu$ M up) activates the purinergic receptor P2X<sub>7</sub>(P2X<sub>7</sub>R) which is associated with a cation channel and induces the rapid efflux of K<sup>+</sup> (Surprenant et al., 1996). This leads to the opening of a large pore permeable to molecules of 900 Da or greater, and consisting of pannexin-1, a connexin family protein present in the communicating junctions (Pelegrin and Surprenant, 2006). There are speculations that NLRP3 activators could cross such pore and activate the receptor present in the cytosol, however, the role of pannexin-1 in inflammasome activation is still unclear.

Regarding the activation of P2X<sub>7</sub>R, this happens exclusively in the ATP-induced NLRP3 activation. In murine macrophages, the activation of P2X<sub>7</sub>R by exogenous ATP is strictly necessary for the processing and secretion of IL-1 $\beta$  in response to exogenous stimuli (Franchi et al., 2007). However, depending on the cell type and species, the first signal or priming induces cell disorders (such as ATP secretion) sufficient to activate NLRP3, for example, the secretion of IL-1 $\beta$  via NLRP3 was dependent on the activation of P2X<sub>7</sub>R in human monocytes stimulated with LPS (Piccini et al., 2008). The activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome via K<sup>+</sup> efflux has also been demonstrated for other activators in addition to ATP, such as monosodium urate crystals, peptidoglycan of the bacterial cell wall (Petrilli et al., 2007), asbestos (Dostert et al., 2008), among others.

The second conventional inflammasome activation model has been proposed especially for particulate and/or crystalline activators. When these compounds are endocyted, they would cause the destabilization of the lysosomal acid compartment with subsequent release of cathepsin B that would activate the NLRP3 receptor (Hornung et al., 2008). In this regard, it was shown that cathepsin B inhibitors can prevent caspase-1 activation induced by certain microorganisms like *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, and bacterial toxins such as cholesterol-dependent cytolysin (CDC), in human monocytes and murine macrophages, respectively (Chu et al., 2009, Duncan et al., 2009). Additionally, the lysosomal destabilization can lead to the release of its Ca<sup>2+</sup> content, with subsequent activation of Ca<sup>2+</sup> release from the endoplasmic reticulum and subsequent NLRP3 activation (Murakami et al., 2012). The role of Ca<sup>2+</sup> signalling and flux in the inflammasome activation is still not fully understood, since there is no consensus in the literature about this subject.

In the third model, the production of ROS is considered a critical event for the activation of the inflammasome. Initially, it was suggested that the activation of the inflammasome was induced by ROS produced by NADPH (nicotinamide adenine

dinucleotide phosphate) oxidase in macrophages (Dostert et al., 2008). But, as the deficiency in four of the seven isoforms of the enzyme did not affect the activation of the inflammasome in human macrophages (Meissner et al., 2010), studies were directed to the involvement of mitochondrial ROS (Nakahira et al., 2011, Alfonso-Loeches et al., 2014).



**Figure 1.3.** Main conventional NLRP3 inflammasome activation pathways. In general, the cells do not store pro-IL-1 $\beta$ . Thus, the cell may be primed to induce the synthesis of pro-IL-1 $\beta$  by the transcription factor NF-kB activation. Subsequently, the NLRP3 inflammasome activators should induce cellular changes that lead to its activation as, for example, the efflux of K<sup>+</sup> induced by ATP, ROS production or lysosomal rupture induced by particulate ligands, for example, uric acid crystals, asbestos and silica. These changes lead to the NLRP3 receptor oligomerization, ASC and pro-caspase-1 recruitment, facilitating its self-cleavage and activation. Activated caspase-1 promotes the proteolytic cleavage of pro-IL-1 $\beta$  into mature IL-1 $\beta$  with subsequent secretion (Figure adapted from Schroder and Tschopp, 2010). PAMPs: pathogens-associated molecular patterns; DAMPs: danger-associated molecular patterns; ROS: reactive oxygen species; LRR: leucine-rich repeats; NACHT: NAIP, CIITA, HET-E, and TP1; PYD: pyrin domain; CARD: caspase recruitment domain; CASP: protease pro-domain consisting of p20 and p10.

Under physiological conditions, the mitochondria are the main ROS source during the electrons transfer to the complete oxygen reduction in water (Barja, 1998). Yet, changes in the activity of the mitochondrial electron transport chain can lead to inflammasome activation by the overproduction of ROS. For example, the complex I inhibitor of the electron transport chain, rotenone, induces the production of mitochondrial ROS together with the NLRP3 inflammasome priming in murine NLRP3 and MyD88/TRIF (myeloid differentiation factor 88/ Toll/IL-1 receptor (TIR) domain-containing adapter inducing IFN-β) knockout macrophages (proteins involved in LPS signalling pathway) (Julien et al., 2012). Moreover, rotenone exposure induces NLRP3 oligomerization in human kidney cells (Park et al., 2013), and NLRP3 activation in murine microglial cells lineage (Liang et al., 2015). Further, antimycin A, respiratory chain complex III inhibitor, and FCCP (Carbonyl cyanide-4-(trifluoromethoxy)phenylhydrazone) uncoupler of oxidative phosphorylation in mitochondria, significantly increase IL-1ß secretion and ROS production in murine macrophages (Jabaut et al., 2013). On the other hand, the use of mitochondrial antioxidants inhibits the inflammasome activation. For example, MitoTEMPO, specific antioxidant against mitochondrial ROS, reduces the its production and the inflammasome activation in inducible nitric oxide synthase (NOS2) knockout macrophages stimulated with LPS and ATP (Mao et al., 2013) and murine macrophages exposed to LPS and palmitate (Weber and Schilling, 2014).

The exact mechanism by which ROS activates the inflammasome is still not well defined. The most plausible or accepted hypothesis is that ROS induces the inflammasome activation via thioredoxin-interacting protein (TXNIP) (Figure 1.4). TXNIP is located in the cell nucleus and, under oxidative stress conditions translocates to the cytosol and mitochondria. In the cytosol, TXNIP associates with the thioredoxin 1 (TRX1) protein and in the mitochondria with the TRX2. The association with TXNIP, inhibits the antioxidant

activity of both TRXs (Nishiyama et al., 1999, Saxena et al., 2010). When ROS production increases, TRX1 is oxidized and the TXNIP/TRX1 complex dissociates, allowing the interaction of TXNIP with the LRR domain of NLRP3 receptor, leading to inflammasome activation (Zhou et al., 2010). In the mitochondria, TRX2 is linked to the apoptosis signal-regulating kinase (ASK) 1 protein. When TXNIP translocates to the mitochondria, it decouples the complex TRX2/ASK and associates with TRX2. Consequently, TXNIP inhibits the TRX2 antioxidant activity and ASK1 is released and activated by phosphorylation, activating caspase-3 and inducing apoptosis (Bhattacharyya et al., 2003).



**Figure 1.4:** ROS induces the inflammasome activation through TXNIP. Under stress conditions, TXNIP can translocate from the nucleus to the cytosol or mitochondria. In the cytosol, TXNIP associates with TRX1. In oxidative stress conditions, TRX1 is oxidized and the association is undone, allowing TXNIP activate the NLRP3 receptor. In mitochondria, TXNIP undoes the complex formed by TRX2 and ASK1, binding to TRX2. The free ASK1 can be phosphorylated and activated, mediating the activation of caspase-3 and inducing apoptosis (Figure adapted from Harijith et al., 2014). TXNIP: thioredoxin-interacting protein; TRX: thioredoxin; ASK1: apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 protein; ROS: reactive oxygen species.

Besides these activation mechanisms, recent research found that the NLRP3 inflammasome can also be activated by unconventional ways involving other caspases, called inflammatory.
#### **1.2.2** Unconventional activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome

The unconventional/non-canonical NLRP3 inflammasome activation is mediated by caspase-11 in mice and caspase-4 and -5 in humans (Lamkanfi et al., 2002), which can induce pyroptosis in response to bacterial infections independently of caspase-1. Kayagaki et al. (2011) showed that the secretion of IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-18 via caspase-11 was induced only by gram-negative bacteria and not by other classic NLRP3 inflammasome activators. In 2013, Hagar et al. reported for the first time that the activation of caspase-11 is LPS-dependent, while there is no NLRP3 activation mediated by gram-positive bacteria. In the cytosol, LPS may bind to pro-caspase-11 (or 4/5 in human) promoting its self-cleavage and activation. The activated enzyme can induce pyroptosis or activate NLRP3 inflammasome after a priming signal (Figure 1.5) (Hagar et al., 2013).

The LPS is widely used to induce inflammatory *in vitro* and *in vivo* responses (Hurme and Seppala, 1988, Henry et al., 2009). It binds to the TLR4 membrane receptor (Poltorak et al., 1998), activating a signalling cascade with consequent activation of transcription factors such as NF-kB, controlling the production of pro and anti-inflammatory cytokines (Fitzgerald et al., 2003). *In vivo*, the intraperitoneal administration of high doses of LPS increases the serum concentration of IL-1 $\beta$  dependently on caspase-11 and 1 (Kayagaki et al., 2011) and NLRP3 (He et al., 2013).



**Figure 1.5.** Unconventional activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome. The murine pro-caspase-11 enzyme (mPro-caspase-11) and human pro-caspase 4/5 (hPro-caspase 4/5) can directly bind to intracellular LPS, which induces oligomerization of these pro-caspases and its auto-cleavage and activation. This is sufficient for pyroptosis induction but not for IL-1 $\beta$  processing. However, mCaspase-11 and hCaspase-4/5 may promote the oligomerization and activation of NLRP3 inflammasome constituting the unconventional NLRP3 inflammasome activation (Figure from Guo et al., 2015). LPS: bacterial lipopolysaccharide; TLR4: Toll-like receptor 4; NLRP3: NLR protein family, containing pyrin domain 3; ASC: apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD.

#### **1.2.3** Pyroptotic cell death

The inflammasome activation induces the formation of ASC oligomerized complexes, nominated pyroptosome (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 2007). The formation of pyroptosome can lead to pyroptosis, a highly inflammatory cell death and dependent on caspase-1 activity (Cookson and Fink, 2006). The pyroptosis often occurs in response to infection by intracellular pathogens (Suzuki et al., 2007, Fink, 2008, Case et al., 2009) and is part of the antimicrobial response. Although it is considered a way of programmed cell death, it is different from apoptosis, a type of cell death immunologically silent. The apoptosis is characterized by the occurrence of morphological changes in affected cells, which include the translocation of phosphatidylserine from the inner to the outer layer of the cellular lipid bilayer, condensation and aggregation of the chromatin and nuclear fragmentation, ending with the formation of apoptotic bodies (Kerr et al., 1972).

The pyroptosis, in turn, is accompanied by DNA cleavage and nuclear condensation, water influx causing cell swelling and consequent disruption of the cell membrane and release of pro-inflammatory cell content (Fink and Cookson, 2006, Molofsky et al., 2006). Thus, the pyroptosome and caspase-1, IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-18 can be released into the extracellular medium where pyroptosome can be phagocytosed by neighboring cells, or remain active leading to the caspase-1 activation, cytokines release and propagation of the inflammation (Balci-Peynircioglu et al., 2008, Franklin et al., 2014) (Figure 1.6).



**Figure 1.6:** The inflammasome activation contributes to the pyroptosis. The activation of caspase-1 leads to cell death by pyroptosis, characterized by rupturing the cell membrane and inflammatory contents extravasation: oligomerized ASC (pyroptosome), activated caspase-1, IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-18. The pyroptosome can be endocytosed by neighboring cells, activating caspase-1 and spreading inflammation (Figure from Broderick and Hoffman, 2014). ROS: reactive oxygen species; NLRP3: NLR protein family, containing pyrin domain 3; ASC: apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD; IL-1 $\beta$ : interleukin 1 $\beta$ , IL-18: interleukin 18.

#### **1.2.4. Inflammasome activation in diseases**

Despite its importance in the immune response, as already mentioned, the inflammasome activation is also involved in the pathophysiology of several diseases. For example, mutations that generate functional gain of function in the NACHT domain of NLRP3 are involved in cryopyrin-associated periodic syndromes (CAPS), named after the initial designation of the NLRP3 encoding gene. Among these diseases there are the familial cold autoinflammatory syndrome (FCAS), Muckle-Wells syndrome (MWS) and neonatal-onset multi-system auto-inflammatory disease/ chronic infantile neurological cutaneous and articular syndrome (NOMID/CINCA) (Aganna et al., 2002). These syndromes constitute a spectrum of disorders with varying severity, with FCAS, MWS and NOMID/CINCA representing moderate, intermediate and severe levels respectively. Clinically, they are characterized by recurrent fever, urticaria, ocular and joint inflammation, amyloidosis, and, in the case of NOMID/CINCA, neurological complications (Muckle and Wellsm, 1962, Lampert, 1986, Hoffman et al., 2001, Aksentijevich et al., 2002).

The inappropriate activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome is also involved in most chronic diseases. For example, accumulated metabolites in chronic disorders, such as monosodium urate crystals in the gout (Martinon et al., 2006),  $\beta$ -amyloid plaques in Alzheimer's disease (Halle et al., 2008, Heneka et al., 2013), pancreatic islets  $\beta$ -amyloid polypeptide in type 2 diabetes (Masters et al., 2010) or cholesterol crystals in atherosclerosis (Duewell et al., 2010), cause the activation of the inflammasome.

#### 1.2.5. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in CNS diseases

The role of the inflammasome in CNS diseases has only been recently investigated. The activation of the inflammasome in the CNS is considered one of the primary and critical steps in neuroinflammation induced by PAMPs and DAMPs, followed by the production and secretion of chemokines and cytokines (Rivero Vaccari et al., 2009, Jha et al., 2010). Activated inflammasomes have been identified in the brain tissue of patients and animal models of CNS diseases. It was also identified in nervous cells stimulated with metabolic products involved in the pathophysiology of CNS diseases, for example, the  $\beta$ -amyloid polypeptide (Halle et al., 2008, Heneka et al., 2013).

NLRP3 inflammasome activation has already been identified in the white matter of patients with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection, as evidenced by an increase in IL-1 $\beta$  expression, caspase-1 and ASC (Walsh et al., 2014). Experimentally, the NLRP3 inflammasome activation was observed in the brain structure of animals subjected to chronic mild stress (Pan et al., 2014), diabetes associated with parkinsonism induced by MPTP (1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine) (Wang et al., 2014), and epilepsy induced by electrical stimulation (Meng et al., 2014). Furthermore, it was observed in the nervous tissue from  $\beta$ -amyloid precursor proteins and presenilin 1 knockout mice, genetic model of Alzheimer's disease that mimics the deposition of amyloid plaques (Alloza-Garcia et al., 2006).

There are also evidences showing that  $\beta$ -amyloid peptide and  $\alpha$ -synuclein involved in the physiopathology of Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases, respectively, induce the assembly of NLRP3 in cultured murine microglia (Halle et al., 2008, Codolo et al., 2013). Additionally, compounds used to induce experimental models of Parkinson's disease such as MPP<sup>+</sup> (1-methyl-4-phenylpyridine), also induce the activation of NLRP3 inflammasome, evidenced by the high content of NLRP3, caspase-1 and IL-1 $\beta$  in astrocyte culture of neonatal mice cortex (Lu et al., 2014).

#### 1.2.6. Treatment of inflammasome-associated diseases

The treatment of conditions associated with excessive activation of the inflammasome aim at blocking the cytokine IL-1 $\beta$ , the main pyogenic product of the inflammasome activity, or their effects by blocking its receptor. For example, the inhibition of IL-1 $\beta$  activity by IL-1-directed antibody, canakinumab, is used as a therapeutic strategy for the treatment of MWS and FCAS in clinical trials (Lachmann et al., 2009a). The inhibition of the IL-1 receptor by the human IL-1 receptor antagonist, Anakinra, has also been used in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis and prevents cartilage degeneration associated with this pathology (Konepaut and Galeotti, 2014). Clinical trials with GSK1070806, antibody for IL-18, have also been performed. Tests on healthy and obese subjects have presented that the antibody was effective in neutralizing IL-18 and showed moderate adverse effects (Mistry et al., 2014), but, it is not used in clinic yet. In summary, the inflammasome inhibition alone would be more effective than inhibitors of cytokines, as it would inhibit the induction of cell death by pyroptosis in addition to blocking the secretion of IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-18, instead of inhibiting only its effects.

#### 1.2.7. NLRP3 inflammasome inhibitors

The inflammasome inhibitors can act in all essential steps for the inflammasome formation, such as in the NF-kB and NLRP3 receptor activation, in the ASC oligomerization or in the caspase-1 activation, as shown in Table 1.1. Some of these compounds have already shown clinical outcome, while others were tested only in animal models and in *in vitro* systems.

**Table 1.1:** Compounds which inhibit NLRP3 inflammasome activation and their mechanisms of action.

Compound	Mechanism of NLRP3 inflammasome inhibition	References
Parthenolide	Inhibits NF- $\kappa$ B activation, NLRP3 ATPase activity and caspase-1 activity through cysteine residues alkylation	Juliana et al., 2010.
AZD9056	Inhibits K <sup>+</sup> efflux and P2X7R	Keystone et al., 2012.
$\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate	Inhibits K <sup>+</sup> efflux	Youm et al., 2015.
Curcumin	Inhibits $K^+$ efflux, lisossomal rupture and ROS production	Gong et al., 2015.
Resveratrol	Induces NLRP3 ubiquitination and autophagy and inhibits ROS production	Chang et al., 2015.
Dopamine	Induces NLRP3 ubiquitination and autophagy	Yam et al., 2015.
Glybenclamide	Not elucidated	Lamkanfi et al., 2009.
MCC950	Inhibits ASC oligomerization	Coll et al., 2015.

Among the compounds mentioned, the only one used in patients was AZD9056, which reduced joint inflammation in patients with rheumatoid arthritis when orally administered (Keystone et al., 2012). All the other compounds showed inhibition of NLRP3 inflammasome activation in murine or human macrophages or monocytes culture (Lamkanfi et al., 2009, Julian et al., 2010, Chang et al., 2015, Coll et al., 2015, Gong et al., 2015, Yan et al., 2015). Particularly, parthenolide and curcumin also inhibit the NLRP3 inflammasome activation induced, respectively, by ethanol in organotypic hippocampal culture and by glutamate in hippocampal slices, besides reducing the deleterious effects of ethanol in hippocampal neurogenesis (Zou and Crews, 2012).

Besides the effects already mentioned, most of these compounds also exert antiinflammatory *in vivo* effects. For example,  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate and resveratrol attenuate the immune cells infiltration and IL-1 $\beta$  secretion induced, respectively, by uric acid crystals in the peritoneum and progressive nephropathy model in mice renal tissue (Chang et al., 2015, Youm et al., 2015). Resveratrol also reduces the infarct volume and myocardial fibrosis induced by ischemia/reperfusion injury in rats (Dong et al., 2015). Yet, dopamine lowers the serum secretion of NLRP3 inflammasome-dependent cytokines (Yan et al., 2015), while curcumin inhibits the IL-1 $\beta$  secretion in peritoneal cavity and hepatic alterations induced by LPS intraperitoneal (i.p.) administration, besides increasing the survival of mice (Gong et al., 2015). In addition, MCC950, compound containing diarylsulphonylurea, attenuates the severity of symptoms in animal models of NLRP3-associated diseases, as experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, which mimics multiple sclerosis in humans, and CAPS family auto-inflammatory diseases (Coll et al., 2015).

## **1.3** Neopterin: Biomarker in Inflammatory Processes (Review)<sup>1</sup>

Inflammatory processes are characterized by an increase in the number of activated immune cells, besides the levels of cytokines and chemokines (Henry et al., 2009, Suh et al., 2014). Some molecules synthesized during inflammation, such as C-reactive protein and neopterin, may be measured and used as peripheral biomarkers in order to early characterize, assess the progression, as well as monitor the palliative treatment, in systemic and/or neurological processes (Brodacki et al., 2008, Molero-Luis et al., 2013, Wissmann et al., 2013, Suh et al., 2014). In this context, the measurement of neopterin has been related to the development and progression of diseases with neurological impairment, such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease (Hull et al., 2000, Widner et al., 2002, Azumagawa et al., 2003, Frick et al., 2004, Molero-Luis et al., 2013, Parker et al., 2013, Wissmann et al., 2013).

### 1.3.1 Neopterin synthesis

Neopterin is a pteridine which is formed during the synthesis of BH4, an essential cofactor required for the enzymes phenylalanine, tyrosine and tryptophan hydroxylases, alkylglycerol monooxygenase (for review see Werner et al., 2011), and for the three isoforms of nitric oxide synthase (NOS; NOS1 or neuronal, NOS2 and NOS3 or endothelial) (Mayer et al., 1990). Intracellular concentrations of BH4 are maintained by multiple metabolic routes called *de novo*, salvage and recycling pathways. The *de novo* pathway produces BH4 from guanosine triphosphate (GTP) by the action of the enzymes guanosine triphosphate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This review is adapted and modified from the following journal:

GHISONI, K.; MARTINS, R.P.; BARBEITO, L.; LATINI, A. (2015) Neopterin as a Potential Cytoprotective Brain Molecule. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, v. 71, p. 134-139.

cyclohydrolase I (EC 3.5.4.16; GTPCH), PTPS (EC 4.6.1.12) and sepiapterin reductase (EC 1.1.1.153; SR) (Nichol et al., 1985). The GTPCH catalyzes the conversion of GTP in 7,8-dihydroneopterin triphosphate, which phosphates are removed by PTPS to generate 6-pyruvoyltetrahydropterin, which will give rise to BH4 in a reaction catalyzed by SR (Werner et al., 1990) (Figure 1.7).

GTPCH is the rate-limiting enzyme of the *de novo* pathway (Levine et al., 1990), and is transcriptionally regulated by IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , nerve growth factor (NGF), H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, among others (Huber et al., 1984, D'Sa et al., 1996, Bauer et al., 2002, Franscini et al., 2003, Ishii et al., 2005). While the GTPCH activity can be stimulated up to 100 times during inflammatory conditions, PTPS and SR activity is minimally increased (Kerler et al., 1989, Werner et al., 1990, Werner-Felmayer et al., 1993a, Kaneko et al., 2003). Therefore, during inflammatory states, PTPS becomes the rate-limiting enzyme in the BH4 *de novo* biosynthesis (Werner et al., 1990, Werner-Felmayer et al., 1993b), particularly in monocytes and human macrophages, as long as these cells have low expression of PTPS (Werner et al., 1990). For that reason, the intermediate metabolite 7,8-dihydroneopterin triphosphate will be dephosphorylated by alkaline phosphatases generating 7,8-dihydroneopterin that will originate neopterin through non-enzymatic oxidation. On the other hand, the production of biopterin (BH4 highest oxidation state) will be favored in monocytes/murine macrophages or human neuronal cells, which express PTPS in larger quantities where low neopterin concentrations will be accumulated (Werner-Felmayer et al., 1993b).



**Figure 1.7.** Neopterin synthesis from the BH4 *de novo* biosynthetic pathway. Neopterin is formed when the metabolic intermediate 7,8-dihydroneopterin triphosphate accumulates. This will be dephosphorylated by alkaline phosphatases generating 7,8-dihydroneopterin that, by non-enzymatic oxidation, will originate neopterin (Figure from Ghisoni et al., 2015). BH4: tetrahydrobiopterin; GTP: Guanosine triphosphate; GTPCH: guanosine triphosphate cyclohydrolase I; PTPS : 6-pyruvoyl tetrahydrobiopterin synthase; SR: sepiapterin reductase; NOS: all nitric oxide synthase isoforms; TPH: tryptophan hydroxylase; PHA: phenylalanine hydroxylase, TH: tyrosine hydroxylase; AGMO: alkylglycerol monooxygenases; NO: nitric oxide.

## **1.3.2** Neopterin is a peripheral biomarker of cellular immune response

Neopterin is a recognized biomarker of the immune system activation. IFN- $\gamma$ , released from T helper 1 (Th1) cells activated during the initiation of the cellular immune response, is a major stimulus of neopterin synthesis in monocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells (Fuchs et al., 1989b, Cano et al., 2008, Molero-Luis et al., 2013). In addition, in order to stimulate the nitric oxide (NO) synthesis, IFN- $\gamma$  also positively modulates NOS2 expression in activated immune cells (Salvemini et al., 1992), increasing NOS2 activity and requiring high cofactors levels, including the essential cofactor BH4. In consequence, GTPCH is positively modulated,

overlapping the PTPS capacity and leading to the accumulation of 7,8-dihydroneopterin triphosphate, with consequent non-enzymatic conversion to neopterin (Schoedon et al., 1987, Werner et al., 1990) (Figure 1.7).

Once produced, the neopterin levels rises in the plasma and in CSF, being, therefore, considered a sensitive and early biomarker of the immune system activation (Huber et al., 1984, Wirleitner et al., 2002). In healthy adults, it is expected to find neopterin values between 5 and 8 nmol/L in the plasma or serum and also in CSF (Hagberg, et al., 1993, Widner et al., 2002, Casal et al., 2003, Kuehne et al., 2013, Hytonen et al., 2014). These values are at least 2 to 3 times higher in pathological conditions characterized by the immune system activation. For example, the levels of neopterin reach more than 15 nmol/L in the plasma and 10 nmol/L in the CSF of untreated HIV patients (Suh et al., 2014), and around 16 nmol/L in the plasma of patients in advanced stages of Alzheimer's dementia (Wissmann et al., 2013). Moreover, the metabolite may reach approximately 500 nmol/L in the CSF in inherited metabolic diseases characterized by the deficiency of PTPS (Niederwieser et al., 1979, Blau et al., 1996, Opladen et al., 2012). Also, the neopterin concentration reaches up to 30 nmol/L in the plasma of athletes after physical exercise resistance (Lucas et al., 2014).

Several studies use the relationship between the concentrations of neopterin and tryptophan as a marker of the immune system activation in diseases characterized by inflammation (Fuchs et al., 1990, Widner et al., 2000, Lim et al., 2015). The tryptophan, an essential amino acid, can be used for protein synthesis (less than 1 %) or be metabolized into 4 metabolic pathways, being the kynurenine pathway, quantitatively, the most important. The hepatic kynurenine pathway metabolizes more than 95 % of dietary tryptophan (Bender, 1983) and contains the necessary set of enzymes for the nicotinamide and  $NAD^+$ (nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide) synthesis and the complete oxidation of tryptophan to carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) and water. During inflammatory conditions, increased levels of IFN- $\gamma$ positively modulate the gene expression and the activity of indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase (IDO-1), the rate-limiting enzyme of the kynurenine biosynthetic pathway (Figure 1.8) (Takikawa et al., 1986, Dai and Gupta, 1990). There are other rate-limiting enzymes, such as tryptophan dioxygenase (TDO), expressed in the liver (Takikawa et al., 1986, Rafice et al., 2009), and IDO-2, recently described in the kidneys, liver and male and female reproductive systems (Ball et al., 2009). The kynurenine pathway represents the main pathway of tryptophan metabolism in the CNS, where IDO-1 is the rate-limiting enzyme of the pathway. In the kynurenine pathway, tryptophan is metabolized to N-formyl-L-kynurenine, which is converted to kynurenine, reaction catalyzed by formamidases or arylformamidases. Kynurenine can be catabolized by several enzymes forming neuroactive metabolites such as

quinolinic acid, kynurenic acid, and picolinic acid (Stone, 1993). The determination of the IDO-1 activity and metabolites levels of the kynurenine pathway are also indicators of the immune system activation.



**Figure 1.8.** The role of IFN- $\gamma$  in neopterin and kynurenine synthesis. The IFN- $\gamma$  positively modulates GTPCH and IDO-1 gene transcription and activity, limiting enzymes in the BH4 *de novo* synthesis pathway and the kynurenine pathway respectively. In the kynurenine pathway, IDO-1, TDO or IDO-2 catalyze the conversion of the amino acid tryptophan to N-formyl-L-kynurenine, which is metabolized to kynurenine. This intermediate can give rise to several metabolites such as quinolinic acid, kynurenic acid, and picolinic acid. The final product of the pathway is NAD<sup>+</sup> synthesized from the quinolinic acid. IFN- $\gamma$ : interferon- $\gamma$ ; GTPCH: guanosine triphosphate cyclohydrolase I; IDO: indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase; TDO: tryptophan dioxygenase; NAD<sup>+</sup>: nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide.

#### **1.3.3** Neopterin production in the CNS

The source of neopterin in the CNS is still not well understood. According to the literature, neopterin could cross the BBB and its concentration in the CSF would reflect the serum or plasma levels (Fuchs et al., 1989a). Although this process occurs at a very low quotient (1:40) (Hagberg et al., 1993), the neopterin levels are higher in CSF than in plasma or serum under some conditions, such as traumatic brain injury (Lenzlinger et al., 2001) and cerebral meninges infection (Yoshida et al., 1999 Azumagawa et al., 2003), indicating that the pteridine could be produced by nervous cells. Regarding the hypothesis of CNS neopterin production, Kuehne et al. (2013) reported that the neopterin levels in the CSF is higher than the levels observed in the serum of psychiatric patients with normal BBB function (CSF 7.4 nmol/L, serum 4.9 nmol/L) and compromised BBB (CSF 8.9 nmol/L, serum 6.6 nmol/L).

Further, our research group has showed that neopterin can be produced by nervous cells under stress conditions using an experimental system based on the use of mytotoxic compounds in rodent brain tissue (Ghisoni and Latini, 2015).

Taking into consideration that astrocytes and microglia are the most abundant nervous cells in the CNS, and that both express NOS in response to IFN- $\gamma$  (Salvemini et al., 1992, Zielasek et al., 1992), glial cells can be considered good candidates for the neopterin synthesis in the CNS. Furthermore, since neopterin is a byproduct of the *de novo* pathway for the biosynthesis of BH4, it is expected that BH4-dependent brain regions present relative high levels of the pteridine. In agreement, Sawada and coworkers (1987) showed that neopterin levels are higher than biopterin (the full oxidized form of BH4) content in different brain regions, including the hippocampus, amygdala, locus coeruleus, substantia nigra, raphe nucleus, accumbens nucleus, caudate nucleus and the putamen from individuals with no neurological diseases, pointing out to the local production of the molecule.

#### **1.3.4 Biological effects of neopterin**

Although there are more than three thousand publications registered in the medical literature search, *PubMed*, about the identification of this molecule in different pathological situations, the physiological role of neopterin is still virtually unknown (search on www.PubMed.com 01.18.2016) both in the CNS and in the peripheral nervous system. Although few studies have reported some extracellular effects of neopterin, as shown in Table 1.2, data are contradictory and difficult to extrapolate to human physiology, especially because, in general, the concentrations used in these scientific contributions reach levels that exceed more than two thousand times the neopterin levels in plasma or CSF from healthy subjects (Hagberg, et al., 1993, Widner et al., 2002, Casal et al., 2003, Kuehne et al., 2013, Hytonen et al., 2014). These few studies show that neopterin and its dephosphorylated precursor, 7,8-NH2, induce similar in vitro effects, such as the translocation of NF-kB, intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> increase, ROS production, high expression of proto-oncogenes, apoptosis, and reduced cell viability in different rodent and human cells (Tables 1.2 and 1.3). Nevertheless, when neural cells were exposed to the metabolites, 7,8-NH2 exerted toxic action in concentrations from 400 nM to 5 mM, in which neopterin was protective or had no effect (Tables 1.2 and 1.3). It should be reinforced that there are no reports of 7,8-NH2 in biological fluids, even in situations where the pathway is completely impaired, as PTPS deficiency, that is, the accumulation of 7,8-NH2 appears not to occur in vivo (Leuzzi et al., 2010).

Species	Cell type	Treatment	Effect	
	Vascular smooth	20 µM;	Up-regulation of nuclear factor kappa B (NF- <i>x</i> B).	
	muscle cells	2 hours	Increased of inducible nitric oxide synthase (NOS2).	
			(Hoffmann et al., 1996).	
		1 - 1000 μM;	Induced apoptosis (Schobersberger et al. 1996)	
		24 hours	induced apoptosis (benoversverger et al., 1996).	
		1 - 1000 μM;	Induced intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1)	
Rodents	Alveolar epithelial	6 - 24 hours	expression (Hoffmann et al., 1999).	
	cell line	1 - 1000 μM;	Upregulation of NE- $\alpha$ B (Hoffmann et al. 1999)	
-		1 hour		
		100 nM;	Inhibited ATP-induced calcium release	
		10 min	(Hoffmann et al., 2002).	
	Embryonic	400 nM;	Induced <i>c</i> -fos gene expression in the presence of	
	fibroblast cell line	18 hours	cGMP (Uberall et al., 1994).	
	Myelonocytic	1 μM;	Increased intracellular Ca <sup>2+</sup> concentration	
	cell tine THP-1	1 min	(Woll et al., 1993).	
	Coronary artery	10 - 100 nM;	Upregulation of NF-zB (Cirillo et al., 2006).	
	endothelial cells	30 min		
	Primary	400 µM;	Inhibited singlet oxygen release induced by	
	neutrophils	3 min	opsonized zymosan (Mori et al., 2010).	
Humans	U937 - Histiocytic	0.5 - 1000 μM;	Induced programmed cell death	
	lymphoma cell line	24 hours	(Baier-Bitterlich et al., 1995).	
	Astroglioma	1 mM;	Neopterin did not alter morphology and cell	
	U373MG cell line	2 or 5 days	proliferation (Speth et al., 2000).	
	Microglial CHME	0.1 - 1 mM;	Neopterin did not alter cell proliferation	
	cell line	5 days	(Speth et al., 2000).	
	SK-N-SH - neural	0.1 - 1 mM;	Neopterin did not alter cell proliferation	
	cell line	5 days	(Speth et al., 2000).	

Table 1.2. Neopterin extracellular effects in *in vitro* cellular systems

Table adapted from Ghisoni et al, 2015.

**Table 1.3.** Comparison of the neopterin *in vitro* extracellular effects (NEO) and 7,8 

 dihydroneopterin (7,8-NH2) in different cell systems

Pterine-induced effect	NEO	7,8-NH2
Induced apoptosis in bacteria (200 µM; 24 h) (Weiss et al., 1993).	+	-
Apoptosis in rat alveolar epithelial (200µM; 24h) (Schobersberger et al., 1996).	+	+
Apoptosis in pheochromocytoma cells (PC12) (5 and 1mM; 48 h)		+
(Enzinger et al., 2002).		I
Compromised viability and cell morphology alteration in astrocytic (U373MG),		
microglial (CHME) and neuronal (SK-N-SH) cell lines (0.1 to 5 mM; 5 days)		+
(Speth et al., 2000).		
Induction of genes related to cell growth in fibroblasts (NIH3T3) (NEO or		
7,8-NH2 400 nM in combination with cyclic guanosine monophosphate	+	+
(cGMP) 20 µM) (Uberall et al., 1994).		

Table adapted from Ghisoni et al, 2015.

Despite the evidence listed in Table 1.2, and the known role as a peripheral biomarker of inflammatory processes, data from our research group have suggested that neopterin can exert neuroprotective effects (Ghisoni and Latini, 2015). Recently, it was demonstrated that neopterin increases resistance to oxidative stress in the mice cerebral cortex (Ghisoni and Latini, 2015), in addition to facilitate the acquisition of aversive memory, the generation of hippocampal LTP and anti-inflammatory action when intracerebroventricularly administered (Ghisoni et al., 2016), mainly in the dose of 4 picomol (pmol) which would generate a concentration of approximately 150 nM of neopterin in the CSF.

The increased resistance to oxidative stress induced by neopterin administration was characterized by reduced lipid peroxidation and increased total thiol content, glutathione levels, and activities of the two main glutathione-metabolizing enzymes, glutathione peroxidase and glutathione reductase in the mouse brain (Ghisoni and Latini, 2015). The transcription of these antioxidant enzymes is dependent on the activation of the antioxidant responsive element (ARE), common region in the promoter regions in genes that encode antioxidant enzymes, which is principally regulated by the binding of transcription factors, such as the nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) (Shih et al., 2003). Under physiological conditions, inactivated Nrf2 is bound to Keap1 (Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1) in the cytoplasm. On the other hand, under oxidative stress, Nrf2 is released by Keap1 and translocated to the nucleus, where it associates with a member of the Maf family protein, forming a dimer (Figure 1.9) (Itoh et al., 2003). Besides GR and GPx, the ARE activation regulates the transcription of other antioxidant enzymes such as heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1), and stage II detoxification enzymes as glutathione transferases (Prestera et al., 1995).



**Figure 1.9.** The role of the Nrf2-Keap1-ARE system in the regulation of the antioxidant response. The reactive species generated during the electrophilic stress oxidize the cysteine residue essential for the Nrf2-Keap1 complex binding, preventing its proteasome degradation. The free Nrf2 translocates to the nucleus where it forms a dimer with Maf family proteins, activating the ARE region and the transcription of antioxidant enzymes (Figure from Goldring et al., 2006). ROS: reactive oxygen species; RNS: reactive nitrogen species; Keap1: Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1; Nrf2: nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor-2; ARE: antioxidant responsive element.

Thus, neopterin seems to have a dual role, that is, high concentrations would be associated with a pro-toxic role (as shown in Table 1.2), while concentrations slightly above baseline concentrations, would exert a neuroprotective role, as has been described for numerous biomolecules, e.g., IL-6 (Li et al., 2009b), IL-1 $\beta$  (Lampa et al., 2012), dopamine (Filloux and Townsend, 1993), among others.

Diseases characterized by neuroinflammation typically present high concentrations of neopterin and cytokines in biological fluids (Azumagawa et al., 2003, Parker et al., 2013). However, the role of neopterin production in these diseases is still unknown. Cytokines, besides serving as immune regulators, are essential to paracrine and autocrine signaling in neural and non-neural nervous cells that are part of the adult or in development CNS. Thus, alterations in the immune regulation, such as maternal infections can affect normal developmental processes (for review see Goines and Ashwood, 2013). Therefore, studying the biology, functions and relationship of neopterin with other inflammatory mediators in the CNS may help in understanding pathological mechanisms in developmental disorders such as autism.

## 1.4. Autism Spectrum Disorder

The term autism spectrum disorder (ASD) comprises a group of developmental disorders, which are associated with impairments in emotional function and/or social interaction, abnormalities in oral communication and repetitive behavior (APA, 2014). The ASD term includes autism, Asperger syndrome and pervasive developmental disorder - not otherwise specified. In general, autism symptoms start at the age of 6 months old, settling between 2 and 3 years and tend to remain during life (for review see Rapin and Tuchman, 2008). According to the World Health Organization (2013), the prevalence of ASD globally corresponds to 1 in every 160 children. Additionally, it is more prevalent in men, with a ratio of prevalence men: women 4.1: 1 (Fombonne, 2009). About 70 % of autistic individuals do

not present physical abnormalities, but in 30 % of cases, autism is associated with dysmorphic features as microencephaly and/or malformation of the brain structure (Miles et al., 2005). In 5-10 % of the cases, autism is diagnosed in association with other disorders such as Fragile X syndrome, Rett and Down (Rutter et al., 1994).

In recent years, advances in research on the neurobiological basis of ASD has presented some neuropathological evidences related to autism, such as accelerated and abnormal brain growth in early childhood (Redcay and Courchesne, 2005), restricted neuronal development with evidence of abnormalities in brain cytoarchitecture (Bailey et al., 1998, van Kooten et al., 2008, Wegiel et al., 2010), metabolic changes with abnormal processing of amyloid precursor protein (Bailey et al., 2008), oxidative stress induction (James et al., 2009), and activation of glial cells (Vargas et al., 2005).

Although the etiology of ASD is not well defined, it appears to involve genetic predisposition and environmental factors. The relevance of genetic predisposition to the development of ASD is a much discussed topic. Some studies evaluating ASD patients and their families show that individuals with normal development present immune alterations similar to siblings diagnosed with ASD (Saresella et al., 2009, Napolioni et al., 2013), suggesting that heredity contributes to the disease development. On the other hand, genomic studies have shown that children diagnosed with ASD present *de novo* mutations (not inherited) not observed in the DNA of the parents, unaffected siblings, or controls (Miller et al., 2009, Krumm et al., 2015, Tammimies et al., 2015), suggesting that these alterations are due to environmental factors.

Among the environmental factors able to hinder the CNS development, it can be mentioned exposure to heavy metals, drug abuse, and prenatal infections (Atladottir et al., 2010, Hashimoto-Torii et al., 2011). In particular, evidences show a strong correlation between ASD and maternal viral infections during the first trimester of pregnancy (Atladottir et al., 2010), when the BBB is not yet formed. The ASD development has also been associated with familial autoimmune diseases (Comi et al., 1999) and the presence of autoantibodies against essential proteins in the homeostasis of the CNS, such as the myelin basic protein, a constituent of myelin sheath which surrounds and protects the axons (Mostafa and Al-Ayadhi, 2011). Thus, the immune response and inflammation appear to be key components in the pathogenesis of this syndrome.

Studies have already shown that patients with ASD exhibit immune alterations such as natural killer cells dysfunction (Enstrom et al., 2009) and an increase in the number of T cells, which can be reflected in elevated concentrations of cytokines in the patients plasma or serum and in the nervous tissue (Harrison and Pheasant, 1995, Vargas et al., 2005, Li et al., 2009a,

Ashwood et al., 2011). Moreover, the activation of microglial and astrocytic cells has been described in some brain regions of patients diagnosed with ASD, such as cortex and cerebellum (Vargas et al., 2005). The alterations in the inflammatory response can be observed in young and adult patients (5-44 years). In general, ASD patients have elevated concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$ , and reduced concentration of anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$  (transforming growth factor  $\beta$ ) in the nervous tissue, CSF, serum or plasma (Jyonouchi et al., 2001, Vargas et al., 2005, Li et al., 2009a, Ashwood et al., 2011). Some studies have also evaluated the ability of monocytic cells of ASD patients to produce cytokines towards pro-inflammatory stimuli. Jyonouchi et al. (2014) reported that monocytic cells of patients with more severe symptoms produce higher amounts of cytokines, mainly IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 when stimulated with agonists for receptors TLR1, 2, 4, 6, 7 and 8. However, not all studies show a consistent pattern according to the concentration of cytokines, which may vary depending on the severity of symptoms and association with other pathologies, e.g., gastrointestinal tract impairment, very common in patients with autism (Napolioni et al., 2013).

Taking into consideration that the inflammatory response participates in the ASD pathophysiology, the measurement of neopterin can be a reliable biomarker of the immune system activation. Nonetheless, few studies have investigated the concentration of neopterin as a biomarker in patients with autism (Messahel et al., 1998, Sweeten et al., 2003, Zimmerman et al., 2005). Some studies have already reported elevated neopterin levels in urine, plasma and CSF from ASD patients (Harrison and Pheasant, 1995, Messahel et al., 1998, Sweten et al., 2003), while others have not found differences in neopterin levels in comparison with healthy controls (Eto et al., 1992).

Besides the elevated serum and central levels of IL-1 $\beta$  in ASD patients, some evidences suggest that the inflammasome activation is involved in the pathogenesis of the disease. For example, mononuclear cells from ASD patients peripheral blood present a higher gene expression of caspases including inflammasome-dependent caspase-1 (Siniscalco et al., 2012). Furthermore, a recent study has shown that genetic variations in *Nlrp5*, essential gene for embryonic development, are associated with developmental syndromes, including autism (Docherty et al., 2015). Initially, it was believed that *Nlrp5* was exclusively expressed in human and murine monocytes (Tong et al., 2002, Tong et al., 2004), but, recently, it has been shown that this receptor is also expressed in human brain endothelial cell line (Nagyoszi et al., 2015). So far, it is unclear whether the *Nlrp5* receptor is able to form functional inflammasomes, but it can be suggested that this receptor exerts a role in the CNS homeostasis and is related to the ASD pathogenesis.

As mentioned before, neopterin has properties of cognitive enhancer, antiinflammatory and antioxidant activities. As a consequence, we hypothesized that neopterin production in the CNS during inflammatory conditions would represent a protective mechanism for neighboring cells to processes with active inflammation, whether acute or chronic, by negatively modulating the inflammasome activation.

# Chapter 2 Research objectives

## 2.1 Problem statement

The inflammasome activation is essential for host defense; however, several studies have suggested it may be a key determinant in the pathogenesis of neuroinflammatory conditions. Inflammasomes are macromolecular protein complex responsible for the activation of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1B and IL-18 via caspase-1. ROS have been suggested to be critical for inflammasome activation triggering. Neopterin is an immune system biomarker commonly observed in a large proportion of neurodegenerative diseases patients. It is a metabolite of the *de novo* BH4 pathway, mainly produced by macrophages and monocytes under an inflammatory stimulus and has been considered an inert metabolite. It has been recently proposed that CSF neopterin levels may not correlate with plasma levels, suggesting that neopterin may be centrally produced. In addition, our research group has recently shown that neopterin improves the resistance to oxidative stress in mice brain. Nevertheless, the neopterin role is virtually unknown. In order to better understand neopterin biology and its role in physiology and pathology, it is necessary to further elucidate the following questions: (1) Is neopterin produced in the CNS under inflammatory stimulus? (2) Does neopterin promote cytoprotective responses in vitro? If the response is affirmative in these cases, then (3) Does neopterin affect inflammasome activation in vitro? (4) Is neopterin an immune system activation biomaker in ASD?

## 2.2 Main Hypothesis

In response to the questions raised in the problem statement, we hypothesize that inflammatory stimulus induce neopterin production and inflammasome activation in the CNS. In addition, neopterin synthesis may be a protective response in order to control oxidative stress and inflammasome activation in acute and chronic inflammatory conditions.

## 2.3 Specific Aims

We first focused on neopterin production in the periphery and CNS and its relation to inflammasome activation under inflammatory stimulus. We then studied neopterin cytoprotective effects on mitotoxic conditions. In addition, we evaluated the neopterin role in inflammasome activation. Finally, we analysed neopterin and inflammatory mediators' production in ASD.

AIM 1: Is neopterin produced in the CNS under acute neuroinflammatory stimulus?

Neopterin is used as a biomarker in the CSF, plasma, and urine; however, recent studies suggest that CSF neopterin levels may not correlate with plasma levels. In addition, our group recently showed that hippocampal slices release neopterin under cellular stress. Our aim was to study the peripheral and central neopterin production. We have used adult Swiss mice to determine whether neopterin is produced in the CNS under an acute inflammatory stimulus and rat primary astrocytes to analyse this cell type contribution to neopterin synthesis under cellular stress induced by azide-linked mitotoxicity.

AIM 2: Does neopterin promote cytoprotective responses in vitro?

High neopterin levels are generally associated with neurological diseases and have been associated with oxidative stress and inflammation *in vitro*. On the other hand, it was recently shown that neopterin improves the resistance to oxidative stress in mice cerebral cortex. Our aim was to study the potential cytoprotective roles of exogenous neopterin in oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction induced by azide-linked mitotoxicity. This will aid in elucidating neopterin production role during cellular stress. To achieve this goal, we used rat primary astrocytes.

AIM 3: To investigate whether neopterin affects inflammasome activation in vitro.

Inflammasome activation has been identified as an important feature in the pathogenesis of many neurodegenerative diseases in which neopterin has been used as a biomarker. Neopterin has been considered an inert compound and whether its production can exert any effects on neuroinflammatory conditions is still unclear. Our aim was to investigate if neopterin preconditioning could affect LPS-induced inflammasome activation in human primary astrocytes.

AIM 4: To analyse neopterin and inflammatory mediators secretion in ASD patients.

We showed, with the completion of the previous aims, that neopterin central production may exert beneficial effects inhibiting oxidative stress and inflammasome activation in nervous cells. Thus, this aim is to evaluate neopterin and inflammatory mediators in a chronic inflammatory disorder, ASD. To investigate this objective, we used serum from ASD patients and healthy controls.

## 2.4 Research approach

To achieve the purpose of the thesis the chapters are as outlined:

**Chapter 1** summarises the literature regarding neuroinflammation and NLRP3 inflammasome activation focusing on the CNS. In addition, it reviews neopterin synthesis, its use as a biomarker and suggested effects. Moreover, it is reviewed key information about ASD pathogenesis and neopterin. Therefore, giving a better understanding on how inflammasome is activated and how neopterin could affect its activation.

Chapter 3 describes the general methods used on this study.

Chapter 4 portrays the results obtained during the PhD. It is divided into three sections:

**Section 4.1.** studies neopterin production in the CNS under inflammatory stimulus and neopterin production and potential cytoprotective effects in rat primary astrocytes.

**Section 4.2.** analyses neopterin effects on LPS-induced inflammasome activation in human primary astrocytes and neurons.

**Section 4.3.** investigates neopterin and inflammatory cytokines production in the serum of ASD patients.

**Chapter 5** discusses the results of the same sections organized on chapter  $\underline{4}$ .

Chapter 6 states the overall conclusions.

# **Chapter 3** *Material and Methods*

### 3.1 In vivo Experiments

#### 3.1.1. Animals

Adult male Swiss albino mice were obtained from the Central Animal House of the Federal University of Santa Catarina, Florianopolis-SC, Brazil. The animals were maintained in a 12-h light/dark cycle in a constant temperature ( $22 \pm 1 \,^{\circ}$ C) colony room, with free access to water and protein commercial chow (Nuvital-PR, Brazil). The experimental protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee for Animal Research (PP00760/CEUA) of the Federal University of Santa Catarina, Florianopolis-SC, Brazil, and followed the Guide for Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (8<sup>th</sup>), adopted by the National Institutes of Health in January 2012 (available in http://www.nap.edu). All efforts were made to minimize the number of animals used and their suffering.

#### **3.1.2.** Neuroinflammation model induced by LPS

The experimental protocol used 50 animals, 25 Swiss mice for experiment 1 and 25 Swiss mice for experiment 2. In each experiment, the animals were randomly divided in five experimental groups: control (N=5), LPS 5 min (N=5), LPS 15 min (N=5), LPS 30 min (N=5) and LPS 60 min (N=5). The animals were intraperitoneally injected with saline or Escherichia coli lipopolysaccharide (LPS; 0.33 mg/kg; serotype 0111:B4, Sigma, St. Louis, MO) and were euthanized by decapitation after 0, 5, 15, 30 or 60 min. LPS was diluted in saline.

Control animals received vehicle injections (saline; i.p.). The LPS dosage was selected because of the already known pro-inflammatory cytokine response in the adult mice brain (Berg et al., 2004, Henry et al., 2009). After euthanasia, mice blood was collected and centrifuged at 3,000 x g for 5 min to obtain the serum. In addition, the brain was dissected to collect the hippocampus. Samples were stored at -80 °C for subsequent analyses of neopterin levels, Gch1 and IL1B gene expression (GTPCH and pro-IL-1 $\beta$  proteins, respectively) and IL- 1 $\beta$  and pro-caspase-1 content.

## 3.2 In vitro Experiments

#### 3.2.1. Rat cortical primary astrocytes

Primary astrocytes culture were prepared from the cerebral cortex collected from Wistar rats 1 - 2 days old, according to Olivera et al. (2008). All procedures performed were previously approved by the Ethics Committee for Animal Research (PP00425/CEUA) of the Federal University of Santa Catarina, Florianopolis-SC, Brazil. Astrocytes were seeded in 24-well plates (2 x  $10^4$  cells/well) and maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) medium containing 10 % heat-inactivated Fetal bovine serum (FBS), 3 g/L HEPES, 100 UI/mL penicillin and 100 µg/mL streptomycin, in a 95 % O<sub>2</sub> and 5 % CO<sub>2</sub> humidified atmosphere, at 37 °C. Purity of astrocyte preparations was checked with a GFAP (glial fibrilar acid protein) antibody and was above 95 %. When cells achieved confluence, the culture medium was removed by suction and the astrocytes were exposed to sodium azide (5 mM) for 3 h and the supernatant was collected for neopterin measurement. In addition, the cells were treated with azide and/ or neopterin (50 and 500 nM) for 3 h to evaluate lactate release in the supernatant, ROS production and HO-1 content in the cells.

#### 3.2.2. Maintenance and treatment of C6 cell line

The astroglioma C6 cell line was obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (Rockville, Maryland, USA). The cells were seeded in flasks and cultured in DMEM (pH 7.4) containing 5 % FBS, sterile antimycotic solution 100x: 100 IU/mL penicillin, 0.1 mg/mL streptomycin, and 0.25  $\mu$ g/mL amphotericin, in a 95 % O<sub>2</sub> and 5 % CO<sub>2</sub> humidified atmosphere, at 37 °C. Exponentially growing cells were detached from the culture flasks using 0.05 % trypsin/ethylene-diaminetetracetic acid (EDTA) and seeded in 24-well plates

(10 x  $10^3$  cells/well). After cells reached confluence, the culture medium was removed by suction and the cells were treated with neopterin (0 - 5000 nM) for 1, 3 and 24 h when cell viability was evaluated through MTT reduction method. Also, the cells were treated with neopterin (0 and 50 nM) for 3 h or for 0.5 to 4 h to evaluate, respectively, Nrf2 content by flow cytometer or Nrf2 activation by Western blot. In addition, the cells were seeded in Petri dishes (10 x  $10^5$  cells/dish) and exposed to LPS 1 and 5 µg/mL for 24 h. Then, the supernatant and the cell lysate were collected and prepared to analyse caspase-1 content.

#### 3.2.3. Maintenance and treatment of Neuro2a cell line

The murine neuroblastoma cell line, Neuro2a, was obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (Rockville, Maryland, USA). Cells were cultured in flasks in DMEM supplemented with 10 % FCS, 4 mM L-glutamine, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 100 UI/mL penicillin, and 0.1 mg/mL streptomycin in a 95 %  $O_2$  and 5 %  $CO_2$  humidified atmosphere, at 37 °C. To induce neurite outgrowth, cells were plated at a 1.8 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells/cm<sup>2</sup> and, 48 h after seeding, the medium was replaced with 2% FCS-DMEM containing 20  $\mu$ M retinoic acid. After 48 h, the cells were treated with neopterin (0 - 5000 nM) for 1, 3 and 24 h when cell viability was evaluated through MTT reduction method.

#### 3.2.4. Human nervous cells

#### 3.2.4.1. Human primary astrocytes

Human primary astrocytes were obtained from 16–19 week old fetuses collected following therapeutic termination with informed consent. All experiments followed the ethical standards in accordance with the Australian National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research (2007) (HREC Application REF 5201300330). Primary astrocytes culture was prepared from the mixed brain cell cultures, and maintained using a protocol previously described by our group (Guillemin et al., 2005). Cerebral portions were washed with Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) and dissociated by repeated pipettings.

The suspension was centrifuged at 500 x g for 5 min and the cell pellet suspended again in RPMI 1640 medium containing 10 % heat-inactivated FBS, 1 % Glutamax-1, 1 % antibiotic-antimicrobial solution and 0.5 % glucose. Then, the cells were plated onto 75 cm<sup>2</sup>

culture flasks and incubated at 37 °C. The medium was changed on the 3<sup>rd</sup>, 5<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> day. Microglia was detached from the cultures by mechanically shaking the flasks for 2 h at 220 rpm at room temperature. The astrocytes were trypsinized and plated again at least three times to further purify and isolate astrocytes from contaminating microglia and neurons. Astrocytes were left to recover for 3 days after each passage. Cell cultures at 3–4 weeks were used in all the experiments. Exponentially growing cells were detached from the culture flasks using 0.05 % trypsin/EDTA and seeded in 6-well plates (1 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/well). Initially, the cells were treated with LPS 5  $\mu$ g/mL for 6, 12 and 24 h and collected for *IL1B* and *CASP1* gene expression analysis (pro-IL-1 $\beta$  and pro-caspase-1 proteins, respectively). In subsequent experiments, the cells were preconditioned with neopterin (5-500 nM) for 24 h and then stimulated with LPS 5  $\mu$ g/mL without removing the neopterin (Scheme 3.1). After 24 h of co-exposure to neopterin and LPS, the cells were collected for *IL1B* and *CASP1* gene expression analysis. After 48 h of neopterin and LPS co-treatment, the cells were collected to analyse pro-caspase-1 and ASC content and the supernatant used to measure cytokine levels.



Scheme 3.1. Schematic representation of the *in vitro* experimental protocol used to evaluate neopterin preconditioning effects on LPS-induced inflammasome activation in human primary nervous cells.

#### 3.2.4.2. Human primary neurons

The neuronal cell culture was prepared from the same tissue used for the astrocytes culture using a protocol adapted from Kerr et al. (1998). Neurons were cultured by plating the mixed cell suspension in culture dishes coated with Matrigel (1:20 in Neurobasal) and maintained in Neurobasal medium supplemented with 1 % B-27 supplement, 2 mM Glutamax, 1x antibiotic-antimycotic, 5 mM HEPES and 2 mM glucose for 7-10 days at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The medium was subsequently changed 2 days after plating and then every 3 days thereafter (Guillemin et al., 2004). Cells were treated according to Scheme 3.1, but the samples were exclusively used to analyse *CASP1* gene expression.

## 3.3 Participants on the Autism Spectrum Disorder Study

Blood samples were collected from Omani Children between 3–13 years old and their age-matched newly diagnosed children with ASD recruited from 15 different families from the pediatric clinic in Sultan Qaboos University Hospital. The study followed the code of ethics of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki) for experiments involving human subjects. Written consent was obtained from the parents, according to the guidelines and approval of the Ethical Committee of Sultan Qaboos University, Oman (EC 158/2010). Participants were initially screened and excluded based on history of tuberous sclerosis, Fragile X disorder, phenylketonuria, Lesch–Nyhan syndrome, foetal alcohol syndrome, middle ear infection, or a history of maternal illicit drug use. Other demographic data are shown in Table 3.1. None of the participants had any changes in diet or treatment (if any) prior to commencing the study.

Diagnosis of ASD in children were in accordance with the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4<sup>th</sup> Edition (APA, 2000), and confirmed by completion of a standardized and validated Arabic version of the Childhood Autism Rating Scale (CARS) questionnaire. A CARS scores greater than 30 was used to confirm all ASD diagnoses. After an overnight fast, blood samples from both the ASD cohort and healthy control children were collected at the Sultan Qaboos University Hospital and stored at -80 °C until biochemical analysis. All biochemical analyses were conducted at Macquarie University, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences in compliance with institutional approval for the use of human biomaterials (HREC 5201300330). These analyses included neopterin and cytokines measurement.

	Healthy controls	Autism
Ν	12	15
Gender (female/male)	2/10	5/10
Age (mean $\pm$ SEM),	$9.61 \pm 2.9$	$8.47\pm2.36$
years (range)	(4 - 13)	(3 - 10)
Childhood Autism Rating Scale	$17.44 \pm 2.80$	$36.10 \pm 4.51$
$(CARS)$ (mean $\pm$ SEM)	1/.77 - 2.07	$50.17 \pm 4.51$

Table 3.1. Participant Demographics

Lim et al., 2016.

## 3.4. Biochemical parameters

#### 3.4.1. Analysis of neopterin levels

## 3.4.1.1. Preparation and analysis of samples from the in vivo and in vitro experiments

Mice serum and cell culture supernatant samples were precipitated by adding one volume (1:1, v/v) of trichloroacetic acid (TCA) 5 % and the hippocampus was homogenized in 100  $\mu$ L of the same solution (1:5 dilution, p/v). Samples were centrifuged at 14,000 *x g* for 10 min at 4 °C. Extracted samples (20  $\mu$ L) were transferred to a high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) (Alliance e2695, Waters, Milford, USA) vial for analysis and injected into a SUPELCOSIL<sup>TM</sup> LC-18T reversed phase, 4.6 x 150 mm column with pore size of 5  $\mu$ m. The mobile phase consisted of 15 mM potassium phosphate buffer pH 6.4 and was delivered at 0.7 mL/min. The identification and quantification of neopterin was performed by a multi-wavelength fluorescence detector (module 2475, Waters, Milford, USA) with excitation wavelength of 350 nm and emission of 430 nm (Adapted from Lucas et al., 2014). Under these conditions the retention time of neopterin was approximately 4.68 min, with a total running time of 8 min. The results were expressed in nmol/L for serum and pmol/mg protein for tissue.

Blood neopterin levels assessed by HPLC were confirmed by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) by using a commercial kit (IBL international GmbH, Hamburg, Germany), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, the levels of neopterin were estimated by interpolation from a standard curve by colorimetric measurements at 450 nm on an ELISA plate reader (Infinite® 200 PRO TECAN, Männedorf, Switzerland). Results were expressed in nmol/L.

#### 3.4.1.2. Preparation and analysis of samples from the participants of the ASD study

Children serum samples were precipitated by adding one volume (1:1, v/v) of TCA 10% and filtered through a 0.22  $\mu$ m PTFE syringe filter (Merck-Millipore, CA, USA) in accordance with previous studies (Guillemin et al., 2007). Samples were centrifuged at 14,000 *x g* for 10 min at 4° C. Extracted samples (20  $\mu$ L) were transferred to HPLC (Agilent Technologies, CA, USA) vial for analysis and injected into a Poroshell® C18 reversed phase, 2.1 x 150 mm column with pore size of 1.8  $\mu$ m. The mobile phase consisted of 0.1 M sodium acetate buffer pH 4.65 and was delivered at 0.75 mL/min. The identification and quantification of neopterin was performed by a multi-wavelength fluorescence detector (G1321B, Agilent Technologies, CA, USA) with excitation wavelength of 370 nm and emission of 438 nm (Adapted from Lim et al., 2013). Under these conditions the retention time of neopterin was approximately 5 min, with a total running time of 8 min. The results were expressed in nmol/L.

#### **3.4.2.** Analysis of Nrf2, IL-1β, caspase-1 and ASC content

## 3.4.2.1. Preparation and analysis of samples from the in vivo and in vitro (C6 cells) experiments

The hippocampi were homogenized in 2.5 volumes (1:2.5, p/v) of 50 mM Tris, pH 7.0, containing 1 mM EDTA, 100 mM sodium fluoride (NaF), 0.1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), 2 mM sodium orthovanadate (Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>), 1 % Triton X- 100, 10 % glycerol and protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). Then, the samples were centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 10 min at 4 °C and the supernatant was collected and diluted in one volume (1:1, v/v) of 100 mM Tris buffer pH 6.8 containing 4 mM EDTA and 8 % sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS). The samples were boiled at 100 °C for 5 min. The protein content was quantified by Lowry's method (1951). Samples were diluted in 25 % 100 mM Tris Buffer (pH 6.8, with 40 % glycerol and bromophenol blue) and 8 % β-mercaptoethanol.

For caspase-1 detection, supernatants and cell lysates of C6 astroglioma cell line were collected after 24 h of LPS exposure. To investigate the translocation of Nrf2 induced by neopterin, C6 astroglioma cell line were collected after 0.5 to 4 h of neopterin treatment and

cytosolic and nuclear fractions were prepared. Cell culture supernatants were precipitated by the addition of an equal volume of methanol and 0.25 volumes of chloroform, followed by vortexing and centrifugation for 10 min at 20,000 *x g*. The upper phase was discarded and 500  $\mu$ L methanol was added to the interphase. This mixture was centrifuged for 10 min at 20,000 *x g* and the protein pellet was dried at 55 °C, suspended in 100 mM Tris Buffer and boiled for 5 min at 99 °C. Cell lysates were prepared in 50 mM Tris, pH 7.0, containing 1 mM EDTA, 100 mM NaF, 0.1 mM PMSF, 2 mM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>, 1 % Triton X- 100, 10 % glycerol and protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). Supernatants obtained after centrifugation (12,000 *x g*, 10 min; 4 °C) were recovered, and the protein content was quantified by Lowry's method (1951). Samples were diluted in 25 % 100 mM Tris Buffer pH 6.8 and 8 % βmercaptoethanol.

An aliquot of 50 µg of total protein or 10 µL of serum was size-separated by electrophoresis in 15 % SDS–polyacrylamide gel, under reducing conditions, and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. After washing and blocking the membranes were incubated overnight with anti-caspase-1 (1:5,000; Cell Signalling; Danvers, USA), anti-IL-1 $\beta$  (1:1,000; Cell Signalling; Danvers, USA) and anti-Nrf2 (1:1,000; Cell signalling; Danvers, USA) primary antibodies. Afterwards, membranes were exposed to the anti-rabbit (1:2,000; Cell Signalling; Danvers, USA) or anti-mouse (1:4,000; Cell Signalling; Danvers, USA) secondary antibodies. The immunocomplexes were visualized using the ECL chemiluminescence detection system (GE Healthcare, São Paulo, SP, Brazil). Protein bands were detected in a ChemiDoc XRS detection system (Bio-Rad) driven by Quantity One software. Membranes were stained with Pounceau S in order to verify loading evenness.

#### 3.4.2.2. Preparation and analysis of samples from human primary astrocytes

Cell lysates of human primary astrocytes were collected after 48 h of LPS exposure. Cell lysates were prepared in radioimmunoprecipitation assay lysis buffer (RIPA) containing 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1 % Nonidet P-40 and 50  $\mu$ L Protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). Supernatants obtained after centrifugation (12,000 x g, 10 min; 4 °C) were recovered, and the protein content was quantified by using the BCA Protein Assay kit (Thermo Scientific; Waltham, USA). Samples were diluted in 25 % Laemmni buffer (Bio-Rad; Hercules, USA) and 8 % β-mercaptoethanol.

An aliquot of 15 µg of total protein was size-separated by electrophoresis in 4-15 % Mini-Protean® TGXTM gel (Bio-Rad; Hercules, USA). Proteins were electrophoretically transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (Bio-Rad; Hercules, USA) equilibrated in blotting

buffer (Bio-Rad; Hercules, USA), using the Trans-Blot Turbo system (Bio-Rad; Hercules, USA) at 25 V for 7 min. After washing and blocking, the membranes were incubated overnight with anti-ASC (1:500; Abcam; Cambridge, USA) and anti-caspase-1 (1:5,000; Abcam; Cambridge, USA) primary antibodies. Afterwards, membranes were exposed to the anti-rabbit or anti-mouse secondary antibodies (1:10,000; Dako; Glostrup, Denmark). The immunocomplexes were detected using the Clarity<sup>TM</sup> Western ECL chemiluminescence detection system (Bio-Rad; Hercules, USA). Protein bands were detected in a ChemiDoc XRS detection system (Bio-Rad) driven by Quantity One software. Membranes were stripped by washing in ddH<sub>2</sub>O for 5-10 min in 0.2 M NaOH (sodium hydroxide) and a further 5 min in ddH<sub>2</sub>O at room temperature. After blocking, the content of GADPH (1:1,000; Cell signalling; Danvers, USA) was performed for verifying loading evenness.

#### **3.4.3.** Evaluation of Cell Viability

Cell viability of Neuro2a and C6 glioma cells was assessed by following the MTT (3-[4,5dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5-diphenyltetrazolic bromide) reduction. Active mitochondrial dehydrogenases cleavage and reduce the soluble yellow MTT dye into the insoluble purple formazan. Cells were incubated for 1, 3 and 24 h with neopterin (0-5000 nM). At the end of the incubation period, MTT test was performed. The formazan formation was spectrophotometrically assayed at 570 nm and 630 nm, and the net  $\Delta A_{(570-630)}$  was taken as an index of cell viability. Results were expressed as optical density (O.D.).

#### 3.4.4. Measurement of ROS production

Intracellular ROS production was detected using the non-fluorescent cell permeating compound, 2<sup> $\circ$ </sup>-7<sup> $\circ$ </sup>-dichlorofluorescein diacetate (H<sub>2</sub>DCFH-DA). H<sub>2</sub>DCFH-DA is hydrolyzed by intracellular esterases to DCFH, which is trapped within the cell. This non-fluorescent molecule is then oxidized to fluorescent 2<sup> $\circ$ </sup>-7<sup> $\circ$ </sup>-dichlorofluorescein (DCF) by action of cellular oxidants. Rat cortical primary astrocytes exposed to azide (5 mM) and/ or neopterin (50 and 500 nM) for 3 h were treated with H<sub>2</sub>DCFH-DA (50  $\mu$ M) for 30 min at 37 °C. Afterwards, the cells were visualized using the Olympus BX41 fluorescence microscope and photographed using Q-capture Pro 5.1 software. The number of positive cells was counted in 5-8 fields and the results were expressed as number of positive cells.

#### 3.4.5. Lactate quantification

The synthesis and release of lactate was measured in rat primary astrocytes supernatant using the specific analyser YSI 2700 STAT (Yellow Springs, Ohio, USA). Results were expressed as nmol/L.

#### 3.4.6. Analysis of Nrf2 content

Cell lysates of C6 astroglioma cell line were collected after 3 h of neopterin 50 nM exposure and resuspended in 500  $\mu$ L of PBS with 16 % formaldehyde for fixation. After 10 min at 37 °C, cells were washed with PBS and permeabilized with 4% saponin for 30 min. Then, cells were washed with PBS and incubated with anti-Nrf2 primary antibody (1:1,000; Cell signalling; Danvers, USA) for 1 h. After PBS washing, cells were incubated with anti-rabbit allophycocyanin (APC)-conjugated secondary antibody (1:1,000; Invitrogen; Carlsbad, USA) for 30 min at room temperature in the dark. Cells were washed with PBS, resuspended in 500  $\mu$ L of the same solution and transferred to specific flow cytometry tubes for fluorescence measurement. Samples (10,000 events for sample) were analysed in FACSCanto II (BD Biosciences, San Jose, USA) flow cytometer using the program CellQuest 2.8 (BD Biosciences, San Jose, USA) in the Multiuser Laboratory for Biological Studies (LAMEB), Federal University of Santa Catarina. The results were analysed using the ModFit 3 (Verity Software House) (BD Biosciences, San Jose, USA) program.

#### 3.4.7. Multiplexing cytokine analysis

Quantification of multiplexing cytokines was performed in human primary astrocytes culture supernatant and the serum from the participants on the ASD study using 27-plex magnetic bead based immunoassay kits (Bio-Rad, CA, USA). The multiplex kit was used in order to measure human cytokines including IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-10 and IL-1Ra in the samples (50 µL). The assay was performed in accordance to manufacturer's instruction provided and carried out using the setup described by Khan (2012). All pipetting and mixing steps of the standards and samples (50 µL) with the assay reagents outlined in the manufacturer's protocol were performed with a programmed workflow using the robotic liquid handling workstation, epMotion 5075 (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) in order to minimize pipetting errors. Subsequent washing and read out was carried out with Bio-Plex

Pro II wash station and Bio-Plex system 200, respectively (Bio-Rad, Hercules, USA). Final readout of the samples concentration was calculated based on the standard curves integrated in the assay using the Bio-Plex Manager v5.0 and expressed as percentage of controls.

### 3.4.8. Protein determination

Sample protein content was determined by the method of Lowry using bovine serum albumin as the standard (Lowry et al., 1951).

## 3.5. Molecular parameters

### 3.5.1. Gene expression analysis of Gch1, IL1B and CASP1

#### 3.5.1.1. Preparation and analysis of samples from the in vivo experiment

Total ribonucleic acid (RNA) was isolated from mouse hippocampus by using a commercial kit (Tri-reagent protocol; Sigma; Saint Louis, USA), and according to the technical recommendations of the manufacturer. The concentration and purity of the extracted RNA was determined on a NanoDrop spectrophotometer at 260 nm and 280 nm. cDNA (complementary DNA) was synthesized from up to 1  $\mu$ g of total RNA using M-MLV Reverse Transcriptase kit (Sigma; Saint Louis, USA). Briefly, for a single reaction, the following components were combined: M-MLV Reverse Transcriptase Buffer, 0.1 M DTT, RNAse OUT, Oligodt, 10 mM dNTP and the enzyme M-MLV Reverse Transcriptase (and DEPC water for a final volume of 20  $\mu$ L). A separate tube named as No-RT (no reaction tube), consisted of all of the above components with omission of the Enzyme Mix. This was used as a control to confirm that no genomic DNA was present in the sample. All the tubes were gently mixed and then placed on a Mastercycler gradient PCR machine for the cDNA synthesis reaction with the following protocol: incubation at 25 °C for 10 min, incubation at 37 °C for 50 min, and termination of the reaction at 4 °C for 10 min (Jiang et al., 2010). The resulting cDNA was then stored at -80 °C until further use.

Five  $\mu$ L of cDNA product (equivalent to 5 ng RNA) was used *per* 15  $\mu$ L reaction mix in each well, with 8.5  $\mu$ L express SYBR green qPCR super mix universal (Invitrogen; Carlsbad, USA) and 1  $\mu$ L of each primer (0.3  $\mu$ M). Each sample was run in triplicate and two PCR controls were included for each running step using 5  $\mu$ L aliquot of Reverse Transcription negative control and/or water instead of the sample. The quantitative real time PCR (qRT-PCR) was performed in the ABI PRISM 7900HT (Applied Biosystems; Foster City, USA) using the following protocol: 50 °C for 2 min, 95 °C for 2 min, followed by 40 cycles of 95 °C for 10 min and 60 °C for 1 min. The melting curve was run at the end to confirm the identity and purity of the PCR. The data was normalized by the gene expression of the housekeeping protein  $\beta$ -Actin (*ACTB* gene) and expressed as mRNA expression relative to a control sample.

The oligonucleotide sequences of the primers for mice samples used for qRT-PCR were designed using the Primer "BLAST" (*Basic Local Alignment Search Tool*) available on http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi, according to the specific exons for each protein and are described in Table 3.2.

Table 3.2. Sequence of the primers used to determine gene expression in mice samples

Genes	Forward	Reverse
Gchl	TGCTTACTCGTCCATTCTGC	CCTTCACAATCACCATCTCG
IL1B	GCCCATCCTCTGTGACTCAT	AGGCCACAGGTATTTTGTCG
ACTB	GCCCTGAGGCTCTTTTCCAG	TGCCACAGGATTCCATACCC

#### 3.5.1.2. Preparation and analysis of samples from the in vitro experiments

Total RNA was isolated from human primary astrocytes and neurons after 24 h of LPS stimulation. The supernatant was discarded and the cells were washed three times with PBS (1x) and the RNA was extracted using RNeasy mini kit (Qiagen; Valencia, USA). The concentration and purity of the extracted RNA was determined on a NanoDrop spectrophotometer at 260 nm and 280 nm. cDNA was synthesized from up to 1  $\mu$ g of total RNA using superscript® VILO<sup>TM</sup> MasterMix (Invitrogen; Carlsbad, USA). Briefly, for a single reaction, the following components were combined: 4  $\mu$ l of 5X VILO Reaction Mix, 2  $\mu$ l of 10X SuperScript Enzyme Mix, x  $\mu$ l (1.5  $\mu$ g) of RNA and DEPC-treated water to a final volume of 20  $\mu$ l. A No-RT reaction tube was also prepared in order to confirm that no genomic DNA was present in the sample. All the tubes were gently mixed and then placed on a Mastercycler gradient PCR machine for the cDNA synthesis reaction with the following protocol: incubation at 25 °C for 10 min, incubation at 37 °C for 50 min, and termination of the reaction at 4 °C for 10 min. The resulting cDNA was then stored at -80°C until further use.

Five  $\mu$ L cDNA product (equivalent to 5 ng RNA) was used per 20  $\mu$ L reaction mix in each well, with 10  $\mu$ L express SYBR green qPCR super mix universal, and 1  $\mu$ L of each primer (0.3  $\mu$ M). Each sample was run in triplicate and two PCR controls were included as described on the previous section. The real time PCR was performed in the ViiA<sup>TM</sup> 7 (Life technologies/ Applied Biosystems, Carlsbad, USA) instrument. After 2 min incubation at both 50 °C and 95 °C, DNA amplification occurred over 40 cycles (about 10 min) at 15 sec incubation at 95 °C, followed by 1 min incubation at 60 °C. The melting curve was run at the end to confirm the identity and purity of the PCR. mRNA levels were expressed as fold change from the control using the delta CT method, after adjustment according to levels of the reference housekeeping gene,  $\beta$ -2-microglobulin (*B2M*).

The oligonucleotide sequences of the primers for mice samples used for qRT-PCR were designed using the Primer "BLAST" available on http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi, according to the specific exons for each protein and are described in Table 3.3.

Table 3.3. Sequence of the primers used to determine gene expression in human samples

Genes	Forward	Reverse
CASP1	CTCAGGCTCAGAAGGGAATG	CGCTGTACCCCAGATTTTGT
IL1B	ATGATGGCTTATTACAGTGGCAA	GTCGGAGATTCGTAGCTGGA
B2M	AGGCTATCCAGCGTACTCCA	CGGCAGGCATACTCATCTTT

### 3.6. Statistical analysis

Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard SEM. Data was analysed using one or twoway ANOVA followed by the Dunnett's or Tukey's *post hoc*, when *F* was significant. Only significant *F* values are given in the text. When comparing two independent or paired groups Student's *t* test for independent or paired samples, respectively, was used. In comparing means, the equal variances assumption for *t*-tests was checked. If not satisfied, a non-equal variance *t*-test was performed. Differences between the groups were rated significant at *P* < 0.05. Statistics were performed using SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences software; version 16.0 for Windows). All graphs were performed by using GraphPad Prism 5<sup>®</sup>.

# Chapter 4 *Results*

The results obtained during the PhD were organized into three sections:

## Section I: Evaluation of neopterin and inflammatory mediators' synthesis in inflammatory conditions

We organized a first manuscript in the format of a mini-review, which included the available information about neopterin synthesis by nerve cells in the literature and previous data generated by our group. The title of this manuscript was "Neopterin as a potential cytoprotective brain molecule" and it was published in the Journal of Psychiatric Research in December, 2015 (Ghisoni et al., 2015). Consequently, we showed that neopterin is synthesized and released from glial cells after an inflammatory stimulus involving mitochondrial toxicity. In addition, we also showed that neopterin *per se* has antioxidant properties. These results are presented on Figures 4.5 and 4.9 on this section.

#### Section II: Neopterin role on inflammasome activation in nervous cells

The results presented on this section are organized on the manuscript "*Neopterin* prevents inflammasome activation in human primary astrocytes" submitted to the Journal of *Experimental Medicine*, on 10 October, 2016.

## Section III: Evaluation of neopterin and inflammatory mediators' secretion in ASD patients' serum

The results presented on this section integrate the paper "Altered Kynurenine Pathway Metabolism in Autism: Implication for Immune-Induced Glutamatergic Activity" published in the *Autism Research Journal* in October, 2015 (Lim et al., 2015).
# 4.1 Section I: Evaluation of neopterin and inflammatory mediators' synthesis in inflammatory conditions

4.1.1. Temporal profile of neopterin and the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1β synthesis in Swiss mice subjected to the LPS-induced neuroinflammation

The results presented on the next sections were performed at the Bioenergetics and Oxidative Stress Laboratory, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Brazil, and supervised by Dr. Alexandra Latini under a cotutelle agreement.

Figure 4.1 shows a curve of neopterin and IL-1 $\beta$  production overtime in Swiss mice serum in response to systemic administration of LPS (0.33 mg/kg), a classic stimulus to induce inflammation. Serum neopterin levels rapidly increased reaching a peak in 15 min and remaining increased for at least 60 min after the inflammatory challenge (Figure 4.1A)  $[F_{(4.9)}=39.87; P<0.001]$ . These data were quantified by HPLC and were confirmed by ELISA  $[F_{(2.5)}=14.17; P<0.01]$ , as shown in Figure 4.2. Figure 4.1B shows the classical peak of IL-1 $\beta$ in the serum at 4 h (240 min) after the inflammatory stimulus  $[F_{(5,12)}=315.60; P<0.0001]$ . In addition, it could also be observed a linear increase of the cytokine release into the serum up to 1 h [ $\beta=0.56; P<0.05$ ].



**Figure 4.1.** LPS systemic administration rapidly increases peripheral neopterin and IL-1 $\beta$  production. Sixty-day old mice received a single LPS intraperitoneal injection (0.33 mg/kg) and the serum was collected for biochemical analyses after 5 to 60 or 240 min. Neopterin levels (**A**) were measured by HPLC and IL-1 $\beta$  levels (**B**) were quantified by ELISA. Mean ± SEM values (n = 5 animals per group). \*\**P*<0.01, \*\*\**P* <0.001, *vs*. controls (One way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test).



**Figure 4.2.** Evaluation of serum neopterin levels in LPS-exposed Swiss mice. Sixty-day old mice received a single LPS intraperitoneal injection (0.33 mg/kg) and the serum was collected after 15 to 30 min to measure neopterin levels by ELISA. Mean  $\pm$  SEM values (n = 5 animals per group). \**P*<0.05, \*\**P*<0.01, *vs*. controls (One way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test).

Figure 4.3 shows neopterin synthesis in LPS-exposed mice hippocampus. It can be observed on Figure 4.3A that neopterin levels significantly increased in mice hippocampus 15 min after LPS systemic administration [ $t_{(2)}=7.80$ ; P<0.01]. It can also be seen that the increase in neopterin coincides with the increase in *Gch1* expression, the enzyme that transcriptionally controls neopterin formation [ $t_{(6)}=3.23$ ; P<0.01] (Figure 4.3B). Increased neopterin production occurred in parallel to increased *Gch1* expression.



**Figure 4.3.** LPS systemic administration rapidly induces central neopterin and *Gch1* expression. Sixty-day old mice received a single LPS intraperitoneal injection (0.33 mg/kg) and after 15 min the hippocampi were collected for biochemical analyses. Neopterin levels (**A**) were measured by HPLC and *Gch1* expression (**B**) was analysed by qRT-PCR. Gene expression is shown as the ratio of the studied transcripts relative to  $\beta$ -Actin measured in triplicate. Mean  $\pm$  SEM values (n = 2-4 animals per group). \*\**P*<0.01 *vs*. controls (Student's *t* test for independent samples).

Figure 4.4 shows *IL1B* gene expression and activated caspase-1 (p20) content in LPSexposed Swiss mice hippocampus. Figures 4.4A and B show an increase in both cytokine expression  $[F_{(3,4)}= 6.88; P<0.05]$ , and caspase-1 p20 content in the mice hippocampus after 5 to 30 min of LPS administration  $[F_{(4,7)}=12.39; P<0.01]$ , suggesting that there is inflammasome activation.



**Figure 4.4.** LPS systemic administration rapidly increases IL-1 $\beta$  production and caspase-1 activation in mice CNS. Sixty-day old mice received a single LPS intraperitoneal injection (0.33 mg/kg) and after 5 to 60 min the hippocampi were collected for biochemical analyses. *IL1B* gene expression (**A**) was analysed by qRT-PCR. Gene expression is shown as the ratio of the studied transcripts relative to  $\beta$ -Actin measured in triplicate. Active caspase-1 (p20) (**B**) content was assessed by Western blot technique and quantified by densitometry. Ponceau staining was used to control the amount of protein sample. Mean ± SEM values (n = 5 animals per group) and one representative Western blot is shown. \**P*<0.05; \*\**P*<0.01 *vs.* controls (One way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test).

### 4.1.2. Evaluation of neopterin secretion in conditions of mitotoxicity in rat primary astrocytes

After demonstrating that the inflammatory LPS treatment elicited the synthesis and release of neopterin in rodents, the next set of data showed that increased neopterin was cytoprotective under mitochondrial oxidative stress conditions.

Figure 4.5 shows the quantification of neopterin in the supernatant of murine primary astrocytes culture after 3 h of exposure to sodium azide (5 mM). It can be observed that the levels of secreted neopterin reached up to 35 nmol/L.



Figure 4.5. Sodium azide induces neopterin secretion in astrocytes. Rat neonatal astrocytes were exposed to sodium azide (5 mM) for 3 h. The supernatant was collected and neopterin release measured by HPLC. ND: non-detected. Mean  $\pm$  SEM values from three independent experiments.

## 4.1.3. Evaluation of neopterin effects on cellular viability, oxidative stress and/ or metabolic parameters in neurons and astrocytes

Figure 4.6 shows the effects of neopterin *per se* on cell viability in Neuro2a neurons and C6 astroglioma cell lines. It can be observed that neopterin did not affected the cellular viability in both cell types. In addition, neopterin *per se* did not induce ROS production in C6 astroglioma cell lines, except when the highest concentration was used (5000 nM) (Figure 4.7).



**Figure 4.6.** Neopterin does not affect cell viability. Neuro2a neurons and C6 astroglioma cell lines were exposed to several concentrations of neopterin (0-5000 nM) for 1, 3 and 24 h (Figures A, C and E correspond to the respectively cited times for Neuro2a neurons and Figures B, D and F for C6 astroglioma cell line). Cell viability was evaluated through MTT reduction. Mean  $\pm$  SEM values from three independent experiments.



**Figure 4.7.** Neopterin does not induce ROS production. C6 astroglioma cell lines were treated with crescent concentrations of neopterin (0- 5000 nM) for 3 h. ROS production was evaluated by measuring the oxidation of H<sub>2</sub>DCFH-DA. Mean  $\pm$  SEM values from three independent experiments. \**P*<0.05 *vs*. controls (One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test).

Figure 4.8A and B shows that sodium azide (5 mM) increased ROS production  $[F_{(1,14)}=25.43; P<0.001]$ , while the co-exposure with neopterin (50 and 500 nM) reduced this effect  $[F_{(2,14)}=6.30; P<0.05]$ , indicating that the pteridine inhibits azide-induced ROS production. In addition, it can be observed in Figure 4.9A that despite attenuating ROS production, neopterin did not change the lactate release, an evidence of compensatory glycolysis activation in response to azide-induced oxidative stress. Figure 4.9B shows that oxidative stress attenuation occurs in parallel with the increase on the antioxidant enzyme, HO-1, content. Both neopterin and azide exposure increased HO-1, with no significant interaction between the treatments (neopterin:  $[F_{(2,6)}= 16.45; P<0.01]$ ; sozium azide:  $[F_{(1,6)}= 87.36; P<0.001]$ .





**Figure 4.8.** Neopterin inhibits azide-induced oxidative stress in astrocytes. Rat neonatal astrocytes were exposed to 5 mM sodium azide and/or neopterin (50 and 500nM) for 3 h. ROS production was evaluated by measuring the oxidation of H<sub>2</sub>DCFH-DA (**A**). Fluorescence intensity was quantified and expressed as % of controls (**B**). Mean  $\pm$  SEM values from three independent experiments. \*\*\**P*<0.001 *vs*. controls; <sup>#</sup>*P*<0.05, <sup>##</sup>*P*<0.01 *vs*. azide (Two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test).



**Figure 4.9.** Neopterin positively modulates HO-1 content in astrocytes. Rat neonatal astrocytes were exposed to 5 mM sodium azide and/or neopterin (50 and 500nM) for 3 h. The supernatant was collected and used to measure the lactate release (**A**) and the cells collected and prepared to determine HO-1 content (**B**) by Western blot technique and quantified by densitometry. GAPDH expression was used to control the amount of protein sample. Mean  $\pm$  SEM values from three independent experiments and one representative Western blot is shown. \**P*<0.05, \*\**P*<0.01, \*\*\**P*<0.001 *vs*. controls (Two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test).

### 4.1.4. Neopterin effect on Nrf2 content and activation in C6 astrocytic cell line

Figures 4.10A and B show the effect of neopterin on the cellular content of the transcription factor Nrf2 in C6 astroglial cell line. It can be seen that the content of Nrf2 increased significantly after 3 h of exposure to 50 nM neopterin [ $t_{(3)}$ =5.81; *P*<0.01] (Ghisoni et al, 2015; PhD in Neuroscience, 2015). In addition, it can be observed on Figure 4.10C that neopterin treatment (50 nM; 0.5 to 4 h) also significantly increased the translocation of Nrf2 from the cytosol to the nucleus in C6 rat cell line. This result confirm that neopterin induces Nrf2 activation ( $F_{(4,10)}$  = 18.21; *P*<0.001).



**Figure 4.10.** Neopterin exposure increases Nrf2 content and activation in astrocytes. C6 rat astrocytic cell line was exposed to neopterin (50 nM). After 3 h, the cells were collected and fixed for Nrf2 staining measurement by flow cytometry. Results were obtained from three independent experiments. It is shown one representative diagram (A) and the data quantification (B). After 0.5 to 4 h, the whole cell lysate was collected and nuclear and cytosolic fractions prepared to determine Nrf2 translocation by Western blot techniques. The results were quantified by densitometry and  $\beta$ -Actin and tubulin expression were used to control the amount of protein sample in the cytosolic and nuclear fractions, respectively. Values are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments. One representative Western blot is shown. \*\**P*<0.01, \*\*\**P* <0.001, *vs*. control (Student's *t* test for dependent samples or One-Way ANOVA followed by the Dunnett's post-hoc test).

## 4.2 Section II: Neopterin effect on inflammasome activation in nervous cells

#### 4.2.1. LPS-induced inflammasome activation in C6 astrocytic cell line

In order to validate the LPS stimuli to induce inflammasome activation on the next experiments *in vitro*, it was investigated the minimum concentration of LPS that induces active caspase-1 release, a marker for inflammasome activation, in C6 astrocytic lineage. Figure 4.11 shows that the release of active caspase-1 (p20) in the supernatant was only observed when LPS was used at 5  $\mu$ g/mL concentration.



**Figure 4.11.** Active caspase-1 release in the supernatant of astrocytes treated with crescent concentrations of LPS (1 and 5  $\mu$ g/mL). C6 rat astrocytic cell line was exposed to LPS for 24h. Afterwards, the whole cell lysate and the supernatant were collected and prepared to determine the content of mature (p45) and active (p20) caspase-1 by Western blot techniques. Ponceau staining was used to control the amount of protein sample on the lysate. Results were obtained from three independent experiments and one representative Western blot is shown.

### 4.2.2. Temporal gene expression of LPS-induced inflammasome proteins in human primary astrocytes

The results presented on the next sections were performed at the Neuroinflammation Laboratory, Macquarie University, Australia, and supervised by Dr. Gilles Guillemin under a cotutelle agreement. The human cells used in the experiments were obtained following the ethics principles and the methodology used was appropriate as described on chapter 4 (Material and Methods).

Figures 4.12A and B show that LPS 5 µg/mL (the same concentration used on C6 astrocytic cell line) significantly induces *IL1B* and *CASP1* gene expression (*IL1B*:  $[F_{(3,4)}=7.912; P<0.05]; CASP1: [F_{(3,5)}=32.50; P<0.001]$ ), reaching the maximum effect after 24 h of LPS exposure.



**Figure 4.12.** LPS increases *IL1B* and *CASP1* gene expression in human primary astrocytes. The cells were stimulated with LPS (5 µg/mL) for 6, 12 and 24 h. Then, the RNA was purified and the transcription of *IL1B* (**A**) and *CASP1* (**B**) were determined by quantitative qRT-PCR. Gene expression is shown as the ratio of the studied transcripts relative to *B2M* measured in triplicate. Values are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments performed in triplicate. \**P*<0.05, \*\**P*<0.01, \*\*\**P* <0.001, *vs*. basal (One-Way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test).

### 4.2.3. Neopterin effects on LPS-induced inflammasome activation in human primary astrocytes

Figures 4.13A and B show neopterin effects on *IL1B* and *CASP1* gene expression. It can be observed that neopterin (5-500 nM) preconditioning (24 h) did not affect the LPS-induced *IL1B* gene expression, the *primer* step in inflammasome activation. (Scheme 3.1: experimental design in Material and Methods; page: 40). However, neopterin preconditioning inhibited the increase on *CASP1* gene expression and ASC and pro-caspase-1 content induced by LPS in human primary astrocytes, suggesting that the pteridin inhibits the inflammasome activation (*CASP1* gene expression:  $[F_{(3,6)}=10.27; P<0.01]$ ; pro-caspase-1 content  $[F_{(4,7)}=21.69; P<0.001]$ ; ASC content  $[F_{(4,5)}=71.38; P<0001]$ ) (Figures 4.13C, D and E).



**Figure 4.13.** Neopterin negatively modulates inflammasome activation in human primary astrocytes exposed to LPS. The cells were pre-treated with neopterin (0-500 nM) for 24 h and then activated with LPS (5  $\mu$ g/mL). After 24 h of LPS stimulation, RNA was purified and the transcription of *IL1B* (**A**) and *CASP1* (**B**) were determined by quantitative qRT-PCR. Gene expression is shown as the ratio of the studied transcripts relative to *B2M* measured in triplicate. After 24 h of neopterin exposure followed by 48 h of co-exposure toneopterin and LPS (Scheme 3.1: experimental design in Material and Methods; page: 40), the whole cell lysate was collected and prepared to determine pro-caspase-1 (**C**) and ASC (**D**) content by Western blot techniques and quantified by densitometry. GADPH expression was used to control the amount of protein sample. Values are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments. One representative Western blot is shown (**E**). \*\**P*<0.01, \*\*\**P*<0.001, *vs*. LPS (One-Way ANOVA followed by the Dunnett's post-hoc test).

Figure 4.14 shows that neopterin preconditioning significantly inhibited IL-1 $\beta$  secretion, which its maturation depends on inflammasome activation, without affecting IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$ , inflammasome-independent cytokines [ $F_{(3,4)}$ =23.49; P<0.01]. In addition, neopterin preconditioning (50 nM) increased the anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-10 and IL-1Ra secretion in comparison to cells exposed to LPS only, favoring an anti-inflammatory environment (IL-10: [ $F_{(3,4)}$ =7.626; P<0.05]; IL-Ra: [ $F_{(3,4)}$ =11.09; P<0.05]) (Figures 4.15A and B).



**Figure 4.14.** Neopterin inhibits IL-1 $\beta$  secretion in human primary astrocytes exposed to LPS. The cells were pre-treated with neopterin (0-500 nM) for 24 h and then activated with LPS (5 µg/mL). After 24 h of neopterin exposure followed by 48 h of co-exposure to neopterin and LPS (Scheme 3.1: experimental design in Material and Methods; page: 40), the supernatant was collected and IL-1 $\beta$  (**A**), IL-6 (**B**), and TNF- $\alpha$  (**C**) secretion were determined by using ELISA commercial kits. Values are presented as mean ± SEM of three independent experiments. \**P*<0.05; \*\**P*<0.01 *vs*. LPS (One-Way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test).



**Figure 4.15.** Neopterin induces anti-inflammatory cytokines secretion in human primary astrocytes exposed to LPS. The cells were pre-treated with neopterin (0-500 nM) for 24 h and then activated with LPS (5  $\mu$ g/mL). After 24 h of neopterin exposure followed by 48 h of co-exposure to neopterin and LPS (Scheme 3.1: experimental design in Material and Methods; page: 40), the supernatant was collected and IL-10 (**A**) and IL-1Ra (**B**) secretion were determined by using ELISA commercial kits. Values are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments. \**P*<0.05 *vs.* LPS (One-Way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test).

### 4.2.4. Neopterin effects on inflammasome activation-related parameters induced by LPS in human primary neurons

In order to investigate if neopterin would exert similar inhibitory effects on inflammasome activation in other nervous cells, we analysed the neopterin effects on LPS-induced *CASP1* gene expression in neurons. Figure 4.16 shows that neopterin preconditioning also inhibited the increase in *CASP1* gene expression in human primary neurons  $[F_{(3,5)}=7.902; P<0.05]$ , suggesting that neopterin inhibits inflammasome activation through a general and non cell-restricted mechanism.



#### CASP1 expression

**Figure 4.16.** Neopterin negatively modulates *CASP1* gene expression in human primary neurons exposed to LPS. The cells were pre-treated with neopterin (0-500 nM) for 24 h and then activated with LPS (5  $\mu$ g/mL). After 24 h of LPS stimulation (Scheme 3.1: experimental design in Material and Methods; page: 40), RNA was purified and the transcription of *CASP1* was determined by quantitative qRT-PCR. Gene expression is shown as the ratio of the studied transcripts relative to *B2M* measured in triplicate. Values are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments. \**P*<0.05 *vs*. LPS (One-Way ANOVA followed by the Dunnett's post-hoc test).

## 4.3. Evaluation of neopterin and inflammatory mediators' secretion in the serum from ASD patients

The data presented on this section was also performed at the Neuroinflammation Laboratory, Macquarie University, Australia, under the supervision of Dr. Gilles Guillemin. The human samples used in this section were provided by the Sultan Qabbos University Hospital, Oman.

Figure 4.17 shows that elevated neopterin levels were detected in ASD patients' serum in comparison with healthy controls, reaching up to 35 nM [ $t_{(14,83)}$ =2.45; *P*<0.05]. Interestingly, the two patients that presented substantially higher neopterin levels had their symptoms classified as severe. It was also observed increased levels of the anti-inflammatory cytokines, IL-1Ra and IL-10, in the ASD patients samples (Figures 4.18A and B). On the other hand, the serum levels of IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$ , pro-inflammatory cytokines did not significantly change, presenting a trend towards up regulation (Figures 4.18 C - E) (IL-1Ra:  $t_{(18,36)}$ =2.3; *P*<0.05; IL-10:  $t_{(16,15)}$ = 2.33; *P*<0.05).



**Figure 4.17:** Neopterin levels in ASD patients and healthy controls. Neopterin levels were measured in the serum from ASD patients (•) and healthy controls (•) by HPLC. Values are expressed as nmol/L. Horizontal lines represent mean  $\pm$  SEM of healthy controls (n = 12) and ASD patients (n = 15). \**P*<0.05 *vs.* controls (In comparing means, the equal variances assumption for *t*-tests was checked. If not satisfied, a non-equal variance *t*-test was performed).











D





IL-6

Ε





**Figure 4.18:** Inflammatory cytokines levels in ASD patients and healthy controls. The anti-inflammatory cytokines, IL-1Ra (**A**) and IL-10 (**B**), and the pro-inflammatory, IL-1 $\beta$  (**C**), IL-6 (**D**) and TNF- $\alpha$  (**E**), levels were measured in the serum from ASD patients (•) and healthy controls (•) by ELISA commercial kit. Values are expressed as pg/mL. Horizontal lines represent mean ± SEM of healthy controls (*n* = 12) and ASD patients (*n* = 15). \**P*<0.05 *vs*. controls (In comparing means, the equal variances assumption for *t*-tests was checked. If not satisfied, a non-equal variance *t*-test was performed).

## **Chapter 5** *Discussion*

## 5.1 Neopterin production under inflammatory conditions and its potential cytoprotective role

The results obtained on this section show that neopterin is produced both in the periphery and in CNS under pro-inflammatory stimuli and mitochondrial toxicity. In addition, they show that neopterin positively modulates cytoprotective systems under cellular stress.

The first results present that the time course of neopterin synthesis occurs in parallel with the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 $\beta$  secretion in the periphery. Under a pro-inflammatory stimulus, activated Th1 cells secrete IFN- $\gamma$  which activates neutrophils and macrophages to synthesize a series of products during the respiratory burst, including neopterin, NO and ROS, creating an oxidative environment in order to remove pathogens and/or damaged tissues (Huber et al., 1984, Albina et al., 1991, Vaissiere et al., 1999).

Neopterin measurement in biological fluids by HPLC has been performed for the last thirty years and is considered a sensitive and fast method for separation and quantification of this pteridine (Hausen et al., 1982), being considered the gold standard method for neopterin measurement in biological fluids. Therefore, neopterin quantification in the serum was initially performed by HPLC, using a method developed by Werner et al. (1987) with minor modifications (de Lucas et al., 2014), where the maximum serum neopterin secretion was observed 15 min after LPS injection. Even though this method is sensitive, neopterin quantification by HPLC in serum samples can be difficult due to the presence of other analytes that can interfere in the analysis specificity. Thereby, in order to confirm the HPLC

results, neopterin levels in mice serum were also analysed by ELISA, a specific method which involves the use of antibodies against neopterin. Previous studies have already validated neopterin measurement in serum samples by ELISA as a reliable method which provides similar results to HPLC (Nagatsu et al., 1984, Ogiwara et al., 1992, Turgan et al., 2001). Thus, the ELISA results confirm the increase in neopterin synthesis overtime, reaching the maximum peak in 15 min.

Taking into consideration that IL-1 $\beta$  is one of the first cytokines to be secreted in systemic inflammatory conditions (Jiang et al., 1997), we have used this cytokine as a parameter of comparison in order to evaluate neopterin secretion. Neopterin secretion rapidly increased in the serum, before the significant increase in IL-1 $\beta$  secretion (4 h). The slight increase in IL-1 $\beta$  secretion in the serum mice observed in the first time points can be due to the short time of animal's exposure to LPS, agreeing with previous studies, where the maximum concentration of IL-1 $\beta$  in the plasma is observed 4 h after LPS i.p. administration (0.33 mg/kg) (Godbout et al., 2005, Henry et al., 2008, Henry et al., 2009, Ghisoni et al., 2016).

The increase in plasma/serum neopterin and cytokine levels under inflammatory conditions is well established on the literature (Maes et al., 2012, Parker et al., 2013). Considering that recent studies suggest the central neopterin production (Kuehne et al., 2013, Ghisoni and Latini, 2015), we also analysed the LPS-induced neopterin and pro-IL-1ß synthesis in mice CNS. Based on previous results from our group which show that the intracerebroventricular administration of neopterin facilitates aversive memory acquisition and the generation of hippocampal LTP (Ghisoni et al., 2016), we decided to focus the investigation on the hippocampus. The results obtained show the rapid neopterin production and increase in Gch1 expression, suggesting that elevated neopterin levels are due to the increase in the enzyme expression. Previous studies have already shown Gch1 expression and GTPCH content increase in the mice locus coeruleus after 4 and 6 h of LPS systemic administration, respectively (Kaneko et al., 2001, Kaneko et al., 2003), followed by increased BH4 production (Kaneko et al., 2001). According to the literature, neopterin peripherically produced can cross the BBB and the pteridin accumulated in the CSF may reflect serum or plasma levels (Fuchs et al., 1989). However, the temporal profile of neopterin production and secretion in the periphery and hippocampus observed in our study contradict the mechanism of simple difusion proposed for BBB neopterin cross, supporting the hypothesis that the central neopterin production is independent of the periphery. Considering that systemic inflammatory stimuli positively modulate Gch1 expression in the cerebral tissue without influencing the PTPS expression (constitutive) (Kaneko et al., 2003), we can conclude that neopterin synthesis is favored in the CNS under inflammatory conditions.

Our results also show that the LPS-induced increase in neopterin levels occured slightly before pro-IL-1 $\beta$  expression increase and in parallel with caspase-1 activation, enzyme responsible for pro-IL-1 $\beta$  proteolytic cleavage and maturation. It was shown, for the first time, that LPS i.p. injection (0.33 mg/kg) induces caspase-1 activation, an indicator of inflammasome activation, in mice CNS. The LPS-induced inflammasome assembly in the brain has already been demonstrated in mice by the increased content of the proteins IL-1 $\beta$ , active caspase-1 (p20) and NLRP1 in the cerebral cortex (Kaushal et al., 2015), and by increased serum IL-1 $\beta$  levels (He et al., 2013; Kayagaki et al., 2011). These studies used higher doses of LPS in their experiments (5 – 25 mg / kg; i.p.), around 15 to 75 times higher than those used in our study; however, they also elicited a significant increase of serum IL-1b after 3 h of the LPS administration (25 mg / kg) (He et al., 2013). In addition, the inflammasome activation in the brain has only been investigated after 6 h of mice being challenged to LPS 5 mg / kg (Kaushal et al., 2015), thus this is the first report to show that a peripheral inflammatory stimulus rapidly triggers the complex activation in the brain.

Neopterin levels and Gch1 expression increased after caspase-1 activation. The increase in neopterin levels in biological fluids have been used as a biomarker in metabolic and/or neurological diseases with an inflammatory component, such as type 2 diabetes, Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease, among other neurological/neurodegenerative conditions (Widner et al., 2002, Parker et al., 2013, Grossmann et al., 2015). However, the role of peripheral and/or central neopterin synthesis under these conditions is virtually unknown. Recent studies from our research group have shown that neopterin i.c.v. administration improves the resistance to oxidative stress in healthy mice cerebral cortex (Ghisoni and Latini, 2015) and has anti-inflammatory effects in the brain of LPS-treated mice (Ghisoni et al., 2016). Moreover, neopterin (i.c.v.) facilitates aversive memory acquisition and the generation of hippocampal LTP (Ghisoni et al., 2016), described as a persistent increase in synaptic efficiency, which is important for memory formation (Abraham et al., 2002). NLRP3 and NLRP1 inflammasomes activation seems to play a role in the cognitive impairment observed in experimental models caracterized by neurinflammation (Mawhinney et al., 2011, Heneka et al., 2013, Tan et al., 2014). In addition, previous studies have revealed that both caspase-1 and ASC are involved in cognitive impairments induced, respectively, by Escherichia coli neonatal infection followed by LPS exposure in the adulthood, and by mutations in β-amyloid precursor protein and presenilin 1, mimicking Alzheimer's disease in mice (Bilbo et al., 2005, Couturier et al., 2016). Considering neopterin beneficial effects

73

regarding cellular stress, inflammation, and memory and that inflammasome activation is triggered by cellular stress and contributes to inflammation and cognitive impairments, we can hypothesize that neopterin central production may exert an inhibitory role on the inflammasome activation in the CNS.

The consequences of increased synthesis of inflammatory mediators include mitochondrial dysfunction and excessive ROS production (Bolanos et al., 1994, Motori et al., 2013), which may result in inflammasome activation (Zhou et al., 2010).

Therefore, taking into account that (*i*) neopterin was produced in mice hippocampus under an acute inflammatory stimulus; and (*iii*) astrocytes are the most abundant nervous cell in the CNS and express higher content of NOS2 in response to IFN- $\gamma$  (Salvemini et al., 1992), this study investigated whether astrocytes contribute to neopterin synthesis under cellular stress. Sodium azide was chosen as mitochondrial stressor based on previous data from our group showing that the cellular stress induced by the mitotoxin leads to neopterin secretion in hippocampal slices from neonate rats and rat primary astrocytes supernatants (Ghisoni and Latini, 2015). In addition, this polar toxicant is used at the millimolar range to induce ATP depletion in cultured cells (Schwoebel et al., 2002), mainly because of the week diffusion through the membranes. We evidenced that astrocytes produce and secrete neopterin during conditions of mitochondrial dysfunction, corroborating with the data previously discussed and with previous studies in which this cell type secreted neopterin when stimulated with IFN- $\gamma$ (Cano et al., 2008). Consequently, we can suggest that astrocytes contribute to neopterin production in the CNS.

The intra and extracellular neopterin effects are not elucidated yet. Some studies have suggested that high concentrations of neopterin contribute to oxidative stress and inflammation in cells from peripheral tissues. Considering the reference values found in healthy population, the concentrations of neopterin used in these studies were 10 to 100.000 times higher and exceed by up to 2000 times the concentrations used in our work. For example, the reference values are between 5 and 8 nmol/L in the CSF and serum (Hagberg et al., 1993, Widner et al., 2002, Casal et al., 2003, Kuehne et al., 2013), while most of these studies used neopterin concentrations ranging from 1 to 1000  $\mu$ M (Baier-Bitterlich et al., 1995, Schobersberger et al., 1995, Schobersberger et al., 1996, Widner et al., 1998, Hoffmann et al., 1999). According to these studies, neopterin may induce NF-kB activation in murine vascular smooth cells and human coronary endothelial cells (Hoffmann et al., 1996, Cirillo et al., 2006), and NOS2 expression in murine vascular smooth cells contributing to NO production and eventually peroxynitrite synthesis (Schobersberger et al., 1995, Widner et al., 1995, Widner et al., 1998). Again, neopterin concentrations used in these works ranged from 1 to 1000  $\mu$ M.

74

Finally, neopterin has also been associated with programmed cell death in monocytic cell line and murine alveolar epithelium exposed to concentrations of neopterin up to 1000  $\mu$ M (Baier-Bitterlich et al., 1995, Schobersberger et al., 1996). Some studies suggest that both neopterin and NO and ROS produced by activated immune cells contribute to host defense, creating an oxidative environment in order to eliminate pathogens and/or remove damaged tissues (Huber et al., 1984, Albina et al., 1991, Vaissiere et al., 1999). Therefore, based on these contradictory results from the literature, neopterin seems to exert a dual role, meaning that high concentrations of the pteridine would be related to pro-inflammatory effects while concentrations slightly above the secreted in pro-inflammatory conditions would exert a neuroprotective role. Other molecules have been described as exerting dual effect such as IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , dopamine, among others (Li et al., 2009b, Lampa et al., 2012, Filloux and Townsend, 1993).

In order to investigate the consequences of neopterin secretion, we evaluated neopterin effects in conditions of mitochondrial toxicity in murine primary astrocytes culture. Taking into account the neopterin levels secreted under azide mitotoxicity (35 nmol/L), two concentrations of the pteridine were used in the *in vitro* experiments. One slightly above the neopterin measured in the extracellular medium (50 nM) and one higher (500 nM), which corresponds to the maximum levels of neopterin detected in pathological conditions (Blau et al., 1996, Opladen et al., 2012). The concentrations choice was based on our results showing that crescent neopterin concentrations (0 - 5000 nM) do not change cell viability in C6 astroglial cells or Neuro2a neurons, and on previous results from our group in which neopterin antioxidant properties followed an inverted U curve having its maximal activity at 50 and 500 nM, when tested in vitro in C6 astroglial cells or in rat primary astrocytes. For example, C6 cells co-exposed to 0.1 mM hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ) plus neopterin (5 – 5000 nM) during 3h showed a significant reduction in the oxidation of the cell-permeant H<sub>2</sub>DCFDA, a probe used as an indicator for reactive oxygen species (ROS) in cells. The significant effect was observed only at the intermediate neopterin concentrations 50 and 500nM. Additionally, these two concentrations would correlate with i) 50 nM: the highest value of neopterin within the normal CSF range, and ii) 500 nM: concentrations found in the CSF from individuals affected by inherited metabolic disorders of the tetrahydrobiopterin biosynthesis where neopterin accumulates (deficiency of 6-pyruvoyl-tetrahydropterin synthase deficiency) (Niederwieser et al., 1979, Hagberg et al., 1993, Blau et al., 1996, Widner et al., 2002, Casal et al., 2003, Opladen et al., 2012, Kuehne et al., 2013, Hytonen et al., 2014). The results show that neopterin (50 nM) had a cytoprotective role through the inhibition of ROS production, but did not affect azide-induced mitochondrial dysfunction, indirectly evaluated by the measurement of lactate production. It is well stablished that azide is an inespecific inhibitor blocking the activities of complexes III and IV and the antioxidant enzymes superoxide dismutase and catalase (Leary et al., 2002; Misra and Fridovich, 1978; Sanchis-Segura et al., 1999). In addition, it is known that mitochondrial dysfunction in astrocytes is efficiently compensated by a rapid activation of the anaerobic glycolysis (Almeida et al., 2004). Thus, we can conclude that neopterin preferably modulates the activity of antioxidant enzymes as a compensatory mechanism to oxidative stress than prevent the respiratory chain inhibition mediated by azide. In addition, both neopterin and azide treatment increased the content of the antioxidant enzyme HO-1, a marker for Nrf2 transcription factor activation. However, they acted by distinct mechanisms. While azide-induced HO-1 content increase was clearly induced by mitochondrial oxidative stress, evidenced by increased lactate and ROS production (Almeida et al., 2004), neopterin exposure only increased HO-1 content. In this context, other highly hydrophilic compounds (like neopterin) such as resveratrol, acetyl-L-carnitine and curcumin have also been associated with protection against oxidative stress and neurotoxicity through increased HO-1 content and/or activity in in vitro experimental systems (Calabrese et al., 2005, Gonzalez-Reyes et al., 2013, Quincozes-Santos et al., 2013).

The gene expression of some antioxidant enxymes, including HO-1 and the enzymes involved in GSH synthesis and its redox cycle, GR and GPx, are regulated by the transcription factor Nrf2 through its binding to the ARE sequence (Shih et al., 2003). Besides the increase in HO-1 content, neopterin per se also increased the content and activation of Nrf2 in C6 astroglioma culture. This results are in agreement with some data previously published by our group demonstrating that Nrf2 targets are also increased by neopterin. Ghisoni et al. (2016) showed that neopterin intracerebroventricular (0.4 pmol; 1 µL) administration increased the activity of glutathione metabolizing enzymes, including glutathione reductase and glutathione peroxidase in the rodent brain (Ghisoni et al., 2016). As a transcription factor sensitive to the redox status, Nrf2 activation depends on the level of oxidative stress in order to coordinate several biological responses to maintain cellular homeostasis (Shih et al., 2003). In consequence, we can suggest that neopterin production during the respiratory burst in inflammatory conditions may contribute to oxidative stress in immune cells assisting in fighting the pathogen or damaged tissue, but it may also exert beneficial effects in neighbour cells exposed to stress by, for example, activating the Nrf2/ARE pathway. For instance, patients with metastatic colorectal cancer have elevated urine levels of neopterin which is generally associated with an unfavorable prognosis. However, patients who presented reduced neopterin levels at the beginning of the study, had

76

the neopterin urinary levels raised over the treatment with cetuximab (monoclonal antibody against antigens present in the tumor cells surface, like the epidermal growth factor receptor (Goldstein et al., 1995)), suggesting that the increased immune system activation contributes to cetuximab antitumor effect (Melichar et al., 2014). On the other hand, neopterin also inhibits NADPH oxidase activity and the consequent superoxide production in murine macrophages (Kojima et al., 1993).

The results presented on this section showed that neopterin is synthesized in both periphery and CNS under pro-inflammatory conditions and that astrocytes contribute to the pteridine synthesis. In addition to previous data in which azide induced neopterin secretion in hippocampal slices (Ghisoni and Latini, 2015), the increase in neopterin production and *Gch1* expression in LPS-treated mice hippocampus and azide-treated astrocytes suggest that inflammatory stimulus induces central neopterin production. Moreover, LPS-induced neopterin synthesis in the hippocampus occurred in parallel with caspase-1 activation, suggesting that neopterin synthesis during neuroinflammation may play an inhibitory role in inflammasome activation in the CNS.

Inflammasome activation is essential for anti-microbial responses (Broz et al., 2010, Liu et al., 2012, Hanamsagar et al., 2014); however, controlling its activation is also essencial for cellular homeostasis recovery after an inflammatory response since its persistent activation can trigger the pyroptotic cell death and subsequent tissue degeneration (Fink and Cookson, 2006).

Neopterin has been used as a disease biomarker for the last forty years and is considered an inert excretion product of the *de novo* BH4 pathway. This work demonstrated that neopterin may exert cytoprotective effects under cellular stress induced by mitotoxicity, for instance, reducing ROS production and increasing the antioxidant enzyme HO-1 content through the modulation of Nrf2/ARE pathway in murine primary astrocytes culture. Therefore, it can be concluded that neopterin production and secretion in the CNS under pro-inflammatory conditions exert neuroprotective functions by modulating antioxidants and cytoprotective systems, which can affect inflammasome activation.

#### 5.2. Neopterin effects on inflammasome activation in nervous cells

Considering that *i*) neopterin is produced by cells in the CNS, *ii*) positively modulates antioxidants systems and *iii*) its synthesis is stimulated by inflammatory conditions, we investigated the neopterin preconditioning role (produced previously to the inflammatory stimulus) in inflammasome activation. The results obtained on this section show that the pretreatment with neopterin inhibited the LPS-induced inflammasome activation, evidenced by reduced ASC and pro-caspase-1 content and IL-1 $\beta$  secretion, in human primary nervous cells. Neopterin also favored an anti-inflammatory environment by increasing the anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-10 and IL-1Ra secretion.

Inflammasome activation was induced by LPS (5 µg/mL) in human nervous cells. This concentration corresponds to the minimum concentration required to induce active caspase-1 (p20) secretion in astroglioma C6 supernatant. It is known that LPS can trigger NLRP3 inflammasome activation by a canonical pathway, through ATP secretion induction and subsequent activation of P2X<sub>7</sub>R (Piccini et al., 2008), or non-canonical pathway, through caspase-11 activation in mice or its homologs caspase-4/5 in humans (Hagar et al., 2013). Both ASC and caspase-1 activation are essential for pro-IL-1 $\beta$  and pro-IL-18 processing and maturation independently of the NLRP3 inflammasome activation pathway (Yamamoto et al., 2004). Neopterin preconditioning (50 nM) reduced the LPS-induced ASC and pro-caspase-1 content in human primary astrocytes, suggesting that the pteridine may inhibit inflammasome activation *in vitro*. In addition, neopterin also inhibited *CASP1* gene expression induced by LPS in human primary astrocytes and neurons showing that its protective effects would correspond to a common mechanism and would not be restricted to a single cell type. The increased content of ASC and/or pro- and active caspase-1 in human brain tissue has been shown in several diseases characterized by increased levels of neopterin, such as stroke, Alzheimer's disease and AIDS (Fann et al., 2013, Heneka et al., 2013, Kaushal et al., 2015, Walsh et al., 2014). Moreover, caspase-1 expression is involved in neurons and astrocytes death induced by, respectively, glucose deprivation and LPS exposure (Zhang et al., 2003, Alfonso-Loeches et al., 2014). Besides its role in inflammasome activation, caspase-1 can also cleave and activate caspase-6 in human neurons (Guo et al., 2006), enzyme responsible for tau protein cleavage and intracellular neurofibrillary tangles formation (Horowitz et al., 2004), features of Alzheimer's disease (Ishino and Otsuki, 1975). Consequently, inflammasome activation inhibition mediated by neopterin preconditioning in human neurons and astrocytes can be important for tissue homeostasis in pathological conditions.

The inflammasome activation final product is the secretion of active IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-18.

In addition to reducing the content of inflammasome components, neopterin preconditioning also inhibited LPS-induced IL-1 $\beta$  secretion, consistent with the inhibition of inflammasome activation. Other compounds with antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities were also shown to inhibit inflammasome activation, such as resveratrol, curcumin and hemin (Li et al., 2014, Chang et al., 2015, Gong et al., 2015b, Li et al., 2015). Like neopterin, hemin inhibits NLRP3 inflammasome activation induced by LPS, evidenced by reduced content of NLRP3, ASC and pro-caspase-1 and IL-1 $\beta$  secretion, in human gingival epithelial cells (Li et al., 2014). Resveratrol and curcumin inhibit NLRP3 inflammasome activation, evidenced by reduced caspase-1 activation and IL-1 $\beta$  secretion, in murine macrophages (Chang et al., 2015, Gong et al., 2015). In addition, curcumin also reduces TXNIP expression and inhibits glutamate-induced NLRP3 inflammasome activation, evidenced by reduced NLRP3 and active caspase-1 content and IL-1 $\beta$  secretion, in rat hippocampal slices (Li et al., 2015). We can notice that the common feature between these compounds and neopterin effect in inflammasome activation is the inhibition of IL-1 $\beta$  secretion, reaching around 90 % and 50 % of inhibition, respectively.

The inflammasome only processes the pro-IL-1 $\beta$  previously synthesized in the cell. The activation of TLR4 by LPS triggers the kinases TIRAP (TIR domain-containing adaptor protein), MyD88 and IRAK (IL-1R associated kinase) recruitment, and subsequent NF- $\kappa$ B activation. NF- $\kappa$ B is usually bind to its inhibitor, I $\kappa$ B ( $\kappa$ B protein inhibitor), in the cytoplasm. I $\kappa$ B phosphorylation induces its proteasomal degradation and NF- $\kappa$ B release, which translocates to the nucleus, binding to the promoter region of target genes for pro-oxidant and pro-inflammatory mediators (DiDonato et al., 1997), activating the transcription of chemokines and cytokines, receptors and adhesion molecules expression, among other cellular events (Vallabhapurapu and Karin, 2009). Therefore, LPS induces pro-IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ and IL-6 expression.

Neopterin effect on LPS-induced cytokines was restricted to IL-1 $\beta$  secretion without affecting TNF- $\alpha$  or IL-6 secretion, cytokines which release does not require processing by the inflammasome. The evidences that *(i)* neopterin only reduced IL-1 $\beta$  and did not change the inflammasome-independent cytokines, TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 and *(ii)* neopterin did not significantly affected pro-IL-1 $\beta$  gene expression induced by LPS confirm that neopterin exert its effects modulating inflammasome activation instead of inhibiting NF- $\kappa$ B activation or pro-IL-1 $\beta$  expression. The adaptor protein ASC is essential for both NLRP3 and AIM2 inflammasomes (Schroder and Tschopp, 2010). LPS can induce IL-1 $\beta$  secretion through P2X<sub>7</sub>R activation (mediated by secreted ATP) and/or ASC and NLRP3 protein expression in human and/or murine monocytes and dendritic cells (Piccini et al., 2008, Netea et al., 2009, He et al.,

2013a). As a consequence, we can suggest that neopterin inhibits NLRP3 inflammasome.

In addition to inflammasome inhibition, neopterin also increased the antiinflammatory cytokines IL-10 e IL-1Ra secretion from human primary astrocytes. IL-10 binds to its receptor and activates the Janus kinases (JAK) and subsequently the STATs (signal transducers and activators of transcription) inhibiting TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 and IL-6 production (Lai et al., 1996). IL-10 also reduces pro-inflammatory cytokines synthesis in murine microglia and inhibits neuronal death in vitro (Lodge and Sriram, 1996, Zhu et al., 2016), probably through the inhibition of LPS-induced NF-kB and MAPK (mitogen-activated protein kinase) activation (Wang et al., 1995, Kontoyiannis et al., 2001). There are three IL-1Ra intracellular isoforms, which can be released during cell death, and one soluble isoform (sIL-1Ra), which can be secreted. All isoforms work as competitive antagonists that bind IL-1 receptor, inhibiting IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-1 $\alpha$  binding, without triggering signal transduction (Malyak et al., 1998). The inhibitory properties of sIL-1Ra have already been used for drug development. For instance, Anakinra, a drug used for treatment of diseases in which inflammasome activation plays a role, such as rheumatoid arthritis and auto-inflammatory diseases, like CAPS (Kone-Paut and Galeotti, 2014). Experimentally, Anakinra attenuates the inflammation induced by chronic ethanol ingestion, decreasing cytokines expression and NLRP3-dependent caspase-1 activity in mice cerebellum (Lippai et al., 2013). In addition, IL-1Ra also reduces the number of activated microglial cells and neuronal damage induced by NMDA (N-methyl-D-aspartate) excitotoxicity in hippocampal organotypical culture from newborn rats (Vogt et al., 2008), besides inhibiting LPS-induced caspase-3 activation in neonate rat brain (Cai et al., 2003). It has been demonstrated that both IL-10 and IL-1Ra inhibit inflammasome activation in vitro and in vivo, respectively. IL-10 inhibits NLRP3 expression, caspase-1 activation and IL-1ß secretion in murine macrophages stimulated with LPS+ATP (Gurung et al., 2015), while commercial IL-1Ra (Anakinra) reduces the caspase-1 activation and NLRP3-dependent pro-inflammatory cytokines expression induced by chronic ethanol ingestion in mice cerebellum (Lippai et al., 2013).

Even though the mechanism by which neopterin inhibits inflammasome activation and induces anti-inflammatory cytokines secretion is unclear, Nrf2/ARE pathway activation and subsequent ROS production inhibition may be involved. All known NLRP3 activators, including increased levels of extracellular ATP, cholesterol, increased glucose levels, amyloid- $\beta$ , oxidized LDL or particulate activators, such as asbestos and silica, trigger the generation of ROS (Petrilli et al., 2007, Halle et al., 2008, Dostert et al., 2009, Duewell et al., 2010, Estruch et al., 2015). The mechanism by which ROS triggers NLRP3 inflammasome activation is not fully elucidated, but most of the studies suggest it may be through TXNIP.

80

This protein is bound and inhibited by TRX1 in the cytosol, which can be oxidized by ROS, dissociating from and releasing TXNIP to activate NLRP3 receptor leading to its activation (Zhou et al., 2010).

Oxidative stress triggers several cellular responses including Nrf2 activation, which positively modulates the transcription of antioxidant enzymes in order to maintain the cellular homeostasis. However, its role in inflammasome activation is ambiguous. According to Zhao et al. (2014), Nrf2 is essential for NLRP3 and AIM2 inflammasomes activation in murine macrophages and for inflammatory responses induced by peritonitis in mice. Nevertheless, other studies show that Nrf2 activators inhibit inflammasome activation. For example, the bioactive compounds from the green tea and the Chinese medical plant Litsea cubeba, respectively, epigallocatechin-3-gallate and citral, activate Nrf2 and inhibit NLRP3 inflammasome activation induced by lupic nephritis in mice glomerular tissue (Tsai et al., 2011, Ka et al., 2015). Moreover, several antioxidants and/or HO-1 inducers have been described with inhibitory activities in NLRP3 inflammasome activation, including ebselen, resveratrol, curcumin and hemin (Jabaut et al., 2013, Chang et al., 2014, Li et al., 2014, Gong et al., 2015a). Furthermore, previous studies have shown that HO-1 triggers IL-10 and IL-1Ra expression in mice liver and hepatocytes and macrophage lineages in an Nrf2 dependent way (Piantadosi et al., 2011). HO-1 induction by hemin also induces IL-10 secretion and prevents oxidative stress in mice hippocampus induced by liver transplant (Wang et al., 2015). Therefore, Nrf2/ARE pathway activation may be a mechanism by which neopterin increases the resistance to oxidative stress in mice brain (Ghisoni and Latini, 2015), the HO-1 content and the anti-inflammatory cytokines secretion, and inhibits azide-induced ROS production and LPS-induced inflammasome activation in astrocytes.

The results presented on this section show that 50 nM was the most effective concentration of neopterin in all parameters analysed, including inhibition of LPS- induced inflammasome activation. This concentration is slightly above the detected on primary astrocytes supernatant (35 nmol/L) under mitotoxicity and neopterin levels in mice CSF when injected i.c.v. (15 nmol/L) (Ghisoni and Latini, 2015, Ghisoni et al., 2016). Therefore, we can suggest that neopterin cytoprotective and cognitive effects can be related to the inhibition of inflammasome activation. In addition, considering that ROS production is a critical event for NLRP3 inflammasome activation, we suggest that Nrf2/HO-1 pathway may be the mechanism by which neopterin induces IL-10 and IL-1Ra secretion, reduces the oxidative stress, and inhibits inflammasome activation.

Nrf2 activation is closely related to the activation of another transcription factor, NF- $\kappa$ B, which modulates chemokines and cytokines production, receptors and adhesion molecules expression, among other important cellular events for the inflammatory response (Vallabhapurapu and Karin, 2009). In order to effectively respond to acute inflammation, NF- $\kappa$ B also induces an increase in mitochondrial activity and NADPH oxidases expression, the main sources of endogenous ROS (Manea et al., 2007, Mauro et al., 2011). Moreover, it has been shown that the NF- $\kappa$ B canonical subunit, p65, induces an increase in Keap1 content, the signalling protein for Nrf2 degradation through the proteasome (Yu et al., 2011). On the other hand, the *Nrf2* gene promoter region has several binding regions for  $\kappa$ B, suggesting that NF- $\kappa$ B can activate Nrf2 transcription (Rushworth et al., 2012), which in turn activates the transcription of antioxidant enzymes and reduces pro-inflammatory mediators production (Itoh et al., 1997, Lin et al., 2008). Thus, the coordinated activity of both Nrf2 and NF- $\kappa$ B is essential for the inflammatory status resolution and homeostasis maintenance.

## 5.3. Neopterin and inflammatory mediators secretion in ASD patients' samples

As we observed, neopterin synthesis overtime is similar to the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 $\beta$  secretion during LPS-induced acute inflammation. Thus, we also analysed the levels of secreted neopterin and anti- and pro-inflammatory mediators in ASD patients' serum.

Our results show that two patients diagnosed with ASD between 3 and 10 years old have substantially elevated serum neopterin levels reaching up to 35 nmol/L. The increased neopterin may be due to immune cells activation and subsequent secretion of IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , inducers of GTPCH expression and activity (Huber et al., 1984, Franscini et al., 2003). There are few studies on the literature regarding neopterin levels in ASD patients' biological fluids. Sweeten et al. (2003) described elevated neopterin plasma levels in ASD patients around 6 years old (up to 14 nmol/L); but they observed much lower levels of neopterin than we observed in our study, while other studies did not observe differences between ASD patients and healthy controls (Eto et al., 1992). In addition, neopterin levels in ASD patients' CSF are lower (up to 12 nmol/L) in comparison to controls (up to 35 nmol/L). Particularly, this work used patients with other CNS diseases, such as headaches, development delay, among others, as controls (Zimmerman et al., 2005). Considering that these controls were not healthy and that neopterin CSF levels in the normal population are around 5 nmol/L (Kuehne et al., 2013), we can conclude that neopterin levels in ASD patients' CSF were increased. In contrast, all studies analysing neopterin levels in the urine found increased levels in ASD patients compared with healthy siblings or controls (Harrison and Pheasant, 1995, Messahel et al., 1998). Therefore, our work is one of the first studies to detect elevated neopterin levels in ASD patients' serum. The difference between plasma or serum neopterin values observed in our results (up to 35 nmol/L) compared with others (up to 14 nmol/L) may be due to the late onset of ASD symptoms. When we collected the samples, the participants had recently been diagnosed (3 – 10 years old), while other studies evaluated children in which the symptoms appeared earlier (1 - 2,5 years old) (Zimmerman et al., 2005). According to Ashwood et al. (2011a), children with late symptoms onset have significantly higher levels of inflammatory mediators, like IL-1 $\beta$ , in comparison with children that had autism symptoms since the early childhood. However, the explanation for these observations is still unclear.

Besides neopterin synthesis, IFN- $\gamma$  produced in inflammatory conditions also induces IDO-1 activity, enzyme that catalyses tryptophan metabolism through the kynurenine pathway (Carlin et al., 1989). The metabolites of this pathway, for instance, quinolinic acid and kynurenic and picolinic acids can have potentially neurotoxic or neuroprotective effects, respectively (Ganong et al., 1983, Lehmann et al., 1983). In addition to the results shown in this thesis, Lim et al. (2015) also observed elevated quinolinic acid and reduced picolinic acid levels in ASD patients' serum, suggesting that both neopterin synthesis and kynurenine pathway may be involved in ASD pathogenesis.

The increase in the kynurenine/tryptophan ratio expresses tryptophan metabolism through the kynurenine pathway. Considering that tryptophan is an essential aminoacid for serotonin and melatonin synthesis, its reduced levels can lead to changes on the serotoninergic synthetic pathway, becoming a potential contributor for developmental alterations. Indeed, serotonin and melatonin levels in ASD patients' serum are lower than in healthy controls (Makkonen et al., 2008), and dietary tryptophan deprivation potentiates autism symptoms (McDougle et al., 1996).

Furthermore, the reduced picolinic acid levels suggest an imbalance on the kynurenine pathway, in which quinolinic acid production is favored. Increased quinolinic acid levels in the CNS, an NMDA receptor agonist able to induce signaling pathway in a glutamate similar way (Stone, 1993), can change the balance between excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmission. It has been suggested that ASD patients have a 'noise' cortical network due to unbalanced excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmission, mediated, respectively, by glutamate and  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GABA), resulting in alterations on language and social behaviour (Rubenstein and Merzenich, 2003). Indeed, ASD patients have increased glutamate

83

levels in the serum (Shinohe et al., 2006) and in brain regions related to learning, language and social behaviour, such as the hippocampus-amygdala complex and auditive cortex (Brown et al., 2013), in addition to reduced number of GABA receptors subunits in the frontal cortex (Fatemi et al., 2009). Moreover, ASD patients have increased susceptibility to epileptic events, one consequence of the intrahippocampal lesion induced by quinolinic acid in mice (Schwarcz et al., 1984). Thus, increased quinolinic acid production through the kynurenine pathway can function as an excitotoxin, eventually contributing to ASD pathogenesis, especially during neuroinflammation.

Aside from the neopterin potential anti-inflammatory effects described in our work, inhibition of the inflammasome-dependent IL-1 $\beta$  secretion and increase in IL-10 and IL-1Ra secretion, a recent study has shown that exogenous neopterin also inhibits IDO-1 activity in human mononuclear cells (Schroecksnadel et al., 2013). This study suggests that neopterin synthesis can exert regulatory functions in the immune response, for instance, inhibition of the kynurenine pathway metabolites production and subsequent deleterious effects.

Accordingly with the evidences of inflammation, we also observed elevated antiinflammatory cytokines, IL-1Ra and IL-10, serum levels in parallel with increased neopterin, and a trend of the pro-inflammatory IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 increase on ASD patients' serum. Previous studies suggest that ASD patients have an unbalanced inflammatory mediators' production, with predominant synthesis of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Jyonouchi et al., 2001, Ashwood et al., 2011a). ASD patients have increased plasma levels of IL-6, IL-1β and/or TNF- $\alpha$ , with no changes in IL-10 levels, in comparison with healthy or development delayed controls (Jyonouchi et al., 2001, Ashwood et al., 2011a). Interestingly, patients with late onset of ASD symptoms had increased IL-1<sup>β</sup> levels compared with patients with early onset (Ashwood et al., 2011a). Moreover, it has been shown elevated caspase-1 expression in blood mononuclear cells from ASD patients (Siniscalco et al., 2012), suggesting that inflammasome activation may be involved in the disease pathogenesis. Furthermore, activated microglia and astrocytes have been observed in ASD patients' (4-55 years old) cerebral tissue, in addition to increased gene expression of IL-6 and IL-10 in the anterior cingulate gyrus and IFN- $\gamma$  levels in the CSF (Vargas et al., 2005). Elevated levels of IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  have also been detected in ASD patients' cerebral cortex compared with other patients or healthy controls (Li et al., 2009a); demonstrating that different ASD patients can have heterogeneous inflammatory responses. This difference on the profile of anti- and pro-inflammatory mediators' production is considered common among studies, since their levels can change depending on the disease severity and association with other pathologies, for example, gastrointestinal problems, substantially common in ASD patients (Napolioni et al., 2013).

84

The increase in neopterin, IL-10 and IL-1Ra observed in our study may be negatively modulating IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 synthesis. Other studies have demonstrated elevated plasma IL-1Ra levels in ASD patients (Zimmerman et al., 2005), suggesting that it can represent a response against chronic inflammation (Suzuki et al., 2011). Moreover, the production of anti- and pro-inflammatory cytokines seems to be associated, respectively, with less or more severe behavioural symptoms of autism. For instance, it has been shown that, when stimulated with pro-inflammatory triggers, cells from ASD patients produce more IL-10, IFN- $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$  than cells from healthy controls. Furthermore, patients who produced more IL-10 were characterized by better cognitive development, evidenced by improvement on oral communication, while patients who produced more IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  were characterized by more intense stereotype behaviour determined by the Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised (ADI-R) (Ashwood et al., 2011b).

On the other hand, we could suggest that there is an exacerbated anti-inflammatory response represented by increased IL-10. This is in line with previous reports showing that IL-10 is abnormally high in other neurological conditions and can be deleterious when overproduced. For instance, excessive levels of IL-10 were found in brain tissue from Alzheimer's disease patients and its overproduction impaired the phagocytosis of amyloid- $\beta$  peptides by microglia, leading to an unbalanced immune response (Guillot-Sestier et al, 2015). The marked anti-inflammatory response in these patients might be induced by a solid inflammatory status, since the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in autism individuals appears to be associated with more severe behavioral symptoms of autism (Ashwood et al., 2011). In agreement, subjects included in this study presented a high Childhood Autism Rating Scale score.

The results presented in this section show that ASD patients have increased antiinflammatory cytokines serum levels and that two patients classified as severe presented substantially high neopterin levels. Unfortunately, the small sample size of the study limited the assessment of the correlation between neopterin levels and autism severity. However, those results can be related to a response against or improvement of the inflammatory response under neopterin-induced cellular stress.

## **Chapter 6** *Final Conclusions*

It has been observed that inflammatory conditions lead to rapid increase in peripheral and central neopterin synthesis in parallel with inflammasome activation in the hippocampus. Moreover, it was observed that astrocytes contribute to neopterin synthesis in the CNS.

Besides being an immune system biomarker, neopterin production may be a response against inflammation, reducing ROS production and increasing Nrf2 activation and subsequent HO-1 content. Therefore, the modulation of antioxidant systems may be the mechanism by which neopterin inhibits inflammasome activation in nervous cells. Taking into account that astrocytes are resident nervous cells essential for synaptic formation and function, and neuronal survival and death, controlling cytokine secretion from astrocytes may be an important tool in neuroinflammatory conditions. Furthermore, increased neopterin and anti-inflammatory mediators were observed in ASD patients' serum, probably representing a beneficial response to inflammatory cytokines secretion *in vitro*, we can suggest that neopterin production in chronic inflammatory conditions, like ASD, may exert neuroprotective effects.
## **Chapter 7** *Future Directions*

In order to improve our understanding on neopterin biology and effect on inflammasome activation, we will further:

- Investigate whether the NLRP3 inflammasome is activated in blood mononuclear cells from ASD patients and if it is affected by neopterin production. To achieve this objective, we will analyse NLRP3, ASC and caspase-1 content and IL-1 $\beta$  and neopterin secretion and evaluate their correlation.

## References

- Abraham WC, Logan B, Greenwood JM, Dragunow M (2002) Induction and experiencedependent consolidation of stable long-term potentiation lasting months in the hippocampus. THE JOURNAL OF NEUROSCIENCE 22:9626-9634.
- Aganna E, Martinon F, Hawkins PN, Ross JB, Swan DC, Booth DR, Lachmann HJ, Bybee A, Gaudet R, Woo P, Feighery C, Cotter FE, Thome M, Hitman GA, Tschopp J, McDermott MF (2002) Association of mutations in the NALP3/CIAS1/PYPAF1 gene with a broad phenotype including recurrent fever, cold sensitivity, sensorineural deafness, and AA amyloidosis. ARTHRITIS AND RHEUMATISM JOURNAL 46:2445-2452.
- Agostini L, Martinon F, Burns K, McDermott MF, Hawkins PN, Tschopp J (2004) NALP3 forms an IL-1beta-processing inflammasome with increased activity in Muckle-Wells autoinflammatory disorder. IMMUNITY JOURNAL 20:319-325.
- Aksentijevich I, Nowak M, Mallah M, Chae JJ, Watford WT, Hofmann SR, Stein L, Russo R, Goldsmith D, Dent P, Rosenberg HF, Austin F, Remmers EF, Balow JE, Jr., Rosenzweig S, Komarow H, Shoham NG, Wood G, Jones J, Mangra N, Carrero H, Adams BS, Moore TL, Schikler K, Hoffman H, Lovell DJ, Lipnick R, Barron K, O'Shea JJ, Kastner DL, Goldbach-Mansky R (2002) De novo CIAS1 mutations, cytokine activation, and evidence for genetic heterogeneity in patients with neonatal-onset multisystem inflammatory disease (NOMID): a new member of the expanding family of pyrin-associated autoinflammatory diseases. ARTHRITIS AND RHEUMATISM JOURNAL 46:3340-3348.
- Albina JE, Abate JA, Henry WL, Jr. (1991) Nitric oxide production is required for murine resident peritoneal macrophages to suppress mitogen-stimulated T cell proliferation. Role of IFN-gamma in the induction of the nitric oxide-synthesizing pathway. JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY 147:144-148.
- Alfonso-Loeches S, Urena-Peralta JR, Morillo-Bargues MJ, Oliver-De La Cruz J, Guerri C (2014) Role of mitochondria ROS generation in ethanol-induced NLRP3 inflammasome activation and cell death in astroglial cells. FRONTIERS IN CELLULAR NEUROSCIENCE 8:216.

- Almeida, A., Moncada, S., and Bolanos, J.P. (2004). Nitric oxide switches on glycolysis through the AMP protein kinase and 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase pathway. NATURE CELL BIOLOGY 6, 45-51.
- APA AAdP (2014) DMS-5: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. Washington, DC.
- APA AAdP (2000) Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. Washington, DC.
- Ashwood P, Krakowiak P, Hertz-Picciotto I, Hansen R, Pessah I, Van de Water J (2011a) Elevated plasma cytokines in autism spectrum disorders provide evidence of immune dysfunction and are associated with impaired behavioral outcome. BRAIN, BEHAVIOR, AND IMMUNITY 25:40-45.
- Ashwood P, Krakowiak P, Hertz-Picciotto I, Hansen R, Pessah IN, Van de Water J (2011b) Altered T cell responses in children with autism. BRAIN, BEHAVIOR, AND IMMUNITY 25:840-849.
- Atladottir HO, Thorsen P, Schendel DE, Ostergaard L, Lemcke S, Parner ET (2010) Association of hospitalization for infection in childhood with diagnosis of autism spectrum disorders: a Danish cohort study. ARCHIVES OF PEDIATRICS & ADOLESCENT MEDICINE 164:470-477.
- Azumagawa K, Suzuki S, Tanabe T, Wakamiya E, Kawamura N, Tamai H (2003) Neopterin, biopterin, and nitric oxide concentrations in the cerebrospinal fluid of children with central nervous system infections. BRAIN & DEVELOPMENT 25:200-202.
- Baier-Bitterlich G, Fuchs D, Murr C, Reibnegger G, Werner-Felmayer G, Sgonc R, Bock G, Dierich MP, Wachter H (1995) Effect of neopterin and 7,8-dihydroneopterin on tumor necrosis factor-alpha induced programmed cell death. FEDERATION OF AMERICAN SOCIETIES FOR EXPERIMENTAL BIOLOGY LETTERS 364:234-238.
- Bailey A, Luthert P, Dean A, Harding B, Janota I, Montgomery M, Rutter M, Lantos P (1998) A clinicopathological study of autism. BRAIN 121 (Pt 5):889-905.
- Bailey AR, Giunta BN, Obregon D, Nikolic WV, Tian J, Sanberg CD, Sutton DT, Tan J (2008) Peripheral biomarkers in Autism: secreted amyloid precursor protein-alpha as a probable key player in early diagnosis. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF CLINICAL AND EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE 1:338-344.
- Balci-Peynircioglu B, Waite AL, Schaner P, Taskiran ZE, Richards N, Orhan D, Gucer S, Ozen S, Gumucio D, Yilmaz E (2008) Expression of ASC in renal tissues of familial mediterranean fever patients with amyloidosis: postulating a role for ASC in AA type amyloid deposition. EXPERIMENTAL BIOLOGY AND MEDICINE 233:1324-1333.

- Ball HJ, Yuasa HJ, Austin CJ, Weiser S, Hunt NH (2009) Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-2; a new enzyme in the kynurenine pathway. THE INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF BIOCHEMISTRY & CELL BIOLOGY 41:467-471.
- Barja G (1998) Mitochondrial free radical production and aging in mammals and birds. ANNALS OF THE NEW YORK ACADEMY OF SCIENCES 854:224-238.
- Bauer M, Suppmann S, Meyer M, Hesslinger C, Gasser T, Widmer HR, Ueffing M (2002) Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor up-regulates GTP-cyclohydrolase I activity and tetrahydrobiopterin levels in primary dopaminergic neurones. JOURNAL OF NEUROCHEMISTRY 82:1300-1310.
- Bechmann I, Nitsch R (1997) Astrocytes and microglial cells incorporate degenerating fibers following entorhinal lesion: a light, confocal, and electron microscopical study using a phagocytosis-dependent labeling technique. GLIA 20:145-154.
- Bender DA (1983) Biochemistry of tryptophan in health and disease. MOLECULAR ASPECTS OF MEDICINE 6:101-197.
- Berg BM, Godbout JP, Kelley KW, Johnson RW (2004) Alpha-tocopherol attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced sickness behavior in mice. BRAIN, BEHAVIOR, AND IMMUNITY 18:149-157.
- Bertin J, Nir WJ, Fischer CM, Tayber OV, Errada PR, Grant JR, Keilty JJ, Gosselin ML, Robison KE, Wong GH, Glucksmann MA, DiStefano PS (1999) Human CARD4 protein is a novel CED-4/Apaf-1 cell death family member that activates NF-kappaB. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 274:12955-12958.
- Bhattacharyya A, Pathak S, Basak C, Law S, Kundu M, Basu J (2003) Execution of macrophage apoptosis by Mycobacterium avium through apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1/p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling and caspase 8 activation. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 278:26517-26525.
- Bilbo SD, Biedenkapp JC, Der-Avakian A, Watkins LR, Rudy JW, Maier SF (2005) Neonatal infection-induced memory impairment after lipopolysaccharide in adulthood is prevented via caspase-1 inhibition. THE JOURNAL OF NEUROSCIENCE 25:8000-8009.
- Blau N, Barnes I, Dhondt JL (1996) International database of tetrahydrobiopterin deficiencies. JOURNAL OF INHERITED METABOLIC DISEASE 19:8-14.
- Boatright KM, Renatus M, Scott FL, Sperandio S, Shin H, Pedersen IM, Ricci JE, Edris WA, Sutherlin DP, Green DR, Salvesen GS (2003) A unified model for apical caspase activation. MOLECULAR CELL 11:529-541.

- Bohn E, Sing A, Zumbihl R, Bielfeldt C, Okamura H, Kurimoto M, Heesemann J, Autenrieth IB (1998) IL-18 (IFN-gamma-inducing factor) regulates early cytokine production in, and promotes resolution of, bacterial infection in mice. JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY 160:299-307.
- Bolanos JP, Peuchen S, Heales SJ, Land JM, Clark JB (1994) Nitric oxide-mediated inhibition of the mitochondrial respiratory chain in cultured astrocytes. JOURNAL OF NEUROCHEMISTRY 63:910-916.
- Bowman CC, Rasley A, Tranguch SL, Marriott I (2003) Cultured astrocytes express toll-like receptors for bacterial products. GLIA 43:281-291.
- Brodacki B, Staszewski J, Toczylowska B, Kozlowska E, Drela N, Chalimoniuk M, Stepien A (2008) Serum interleukin (IL-2, IL-10, IL-6, IL-4), TNFalpha, and INFgamma concentrations are elevated in patients with atypical and idiopathic parkinsonism. NEUROSCIENCE LETTERS 441:158-162.
- Broderick L, Hoffman HM (2014) cASCading specks. NATURE IMMUNOLOGY 15:698-700.
- Brown MS, Singel D, Hepburn S, Rojas DC (2013) Increased glutamate concentration in the auditory cortex of persons with autism and first-degree relatives: a (1)H-MRS study. AUTISM RESEARCH 6:1-10.
- Broz P, Newton K, Lamkanfi M, Mariathasan S, Dixit VM, Monack DM (2010) Redundant roles for inflammasome receptors NLRP3 and NLRC4 in host defense against Salmonella. THE JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE 207:1745-1755.
- Bruey JM, Bruey-Sedano N, Newman R, Chandler S, Stehlik C, Reed JC (2004) PAN1/NALP2/PYPAF2, an inducible inflammatory mediator that regulates NFkappaB and caspase-1 activation in macrophages. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 279:51897-51907.
- Butovsky O, Ziv Y, Schwartz A, Landa G, Talpalar AE, Pluchino S, Martino G, Schwartz M (2006) Microglia activated by IL-4 or IFN-gamma differentially induce neurogenesis and oligodendrogenesis from adult stem/progenitor cells. MOLECULAR AND CELLULAR NEUROSCIENCES 31:149-160.
- Cai Z, Pang Y, Lin S, Rhodes PG (2003) Differential roles of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-1 beta in lipopolysaccharide-induced brain injury in the neonatal rat. BRAIN RESEARCH 975:37-47.
- Calabrese V, Ravagna A, Colombrita C, Scapagnini G, Guagliano E, Calvani M, Butterfield DA, Giuffrida Stella AM (2005) Acetylcarnitine induces heme oxygenase in rat

astrocytes and protects against oxidative stress: involvement of the transcription factor Nrf2. JOURNAL OF NEUROSCIENCE RESEARCH 79:509-521.

- Cano OD, Neurauter G, Fuchs D, Shearer GM, Boasso A (2008) Differential effect of type I and type II interferons on neopterin production and amino acid metabolism in human astrocyte-derived cells. NEUROSCIENCE LETTERS 438:22-25.
- Carlin JM, Borden EC, Sondel PM, Byrne GI (1989) Interferon-induced indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase activity in human mononuclear phagocytes. JOURNAL OF LEUKOCYTE BIOLOGY 45:29-34.
- Carson MJ, Doose JM, Melchior B, Schmid CD, Ploix CC (2006) CNS immune privilege: hiding in plain sight. IMMUNOLOGICAL REVIEWS 213:48-65.
- Casal JA, Robles A, Tutor JC (2003) Serum markers of monocyte/macrophage activation in patients with Alzheimer's disease and other types of dementia. CLINICAL BIOCHEMISTRY 36:553-556.
- Casamenti F, Prosperi C, Scali C, Giovannelli L, Colivicchi MA, Faussone-Pellegrini MS, Pepeu G (1999) Interleukin-1beta activates forebrain glial cells and increases nitric oxide production and cortical glutamate and GABA release in vivo: implications for Alzheimer's disease. NEUROSCIENCE 91:831-842.
- Case C, Shin S, Roy C (2009a) Asc and Ipaf Inflammasomes direct distinct pathways for caspase-1 activation in response to Legionella pneumophila. INFECTION AND IMMUNITY 77:1981–1991.
- Chang YP, Ka SM, Hsu WH, Chen A, Chao LK, Lin CC, Hsieh CC, Chen MC, Chiu HW, Ho CL, Chiu YC, Liu ML, Hua KF (2015) Resveratrol inhibits NLRP3 inflammasome activation by preserving mitochondrial integrity and augmenting autophagy. JOURNAL OF CELLULAR PHYSIOLOGY 230:1567-1579.
- Chin MH, Qian WJ, Wang H, Petyuk VA, Bloom JS, Sforza DM, Lacan G, Liu D, Khan AH, Cantor RM, Bigelow DJ, Melega WP, Camp DG, 2nd, Smith RD, Smith DJ (2008) Mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress, and apoptosis revealed by proteomic and transcriptomic analyses of the striata in two mouse models of Parkinson's disease. JOURNAL OF PROTEOME RESEARCH 7:666-677.
- Choi SS, Lee HJ, Lim I, Satoh J, Kim SU (2014) Human Astrocytes: Secretome Profiles of Cytokines and Chemokines. PLOS ONE 9:e92325.
- Chu J, Thomas LM, Watkins SC, Franchi L, Nunez G, Salter RD (2009) Cholesteroldependent cytolysins induce rapid release of mature IL-1beta from murine macrophages in a NLRP3 inflammasome and cathepsin B-dependent manner. JOURNAL OF LEUKOCYTE BIOLOGY 86:1227-1238.

- Cirillo P, Pacileo M, de Rosa S, Calabro P, Gargiulo A, Angri V, Granato-Corigliano F, Fiorentino I, Prevete N, De Palma R, Mauro C, Leonardi A, Chiariello M (2006) Neopterin induces pro-atherothrombotic phenotype in human coronary endothelial cells. JOURNAL OF THROMBOSIS AND HAEMOSTASIS 4:2248–2255.
- Codolo G, Plotegher N, Pozzobon T, Brucale M, Tessari I, Bubacco L, de Bernard M (2013) Triggering of inflammasome by aggregated alpha-synuclein, an inflammatory response in synucleinopathies. PLOS ONE 8:e55375.
- Coll RC, Robertson AA, Chae JJ, Higgins SC, Munoz-Planillo R, Inserra MC, Vetter I, Dungan LS, Monks BG, Stutz A, Croker DE, Butler MS, Haneklaus M, Sutton CE, Nunez G, Latz E, Kastner DL, Mills KH, Masters SL, Schroder K, Cooper MA, O'Neill LA (2015) A small-molecule inhibitor of the NLRP3 inflammasome for the treatment of inflammatory diseases. NATURE MEDICINE 21:248-255.
- Comi AM, Zimmerman AW, Frye VH, Law PA, Peeden JN (1999) Familial clustering of autoimmune disorders and evaluation of medical risk factors in autism. JOURNAL OF CHILD NEUROLOGY 14:388-394.
- Conway KE, McConnell BB, Bowring CE, Donald CD, Warren ST, Vertino PM (2000) TMS1, a novel proapoptotic caspase recruitment domain protein, is a target of methylation-induced gene silencing in human breast cancers. CANCER RESEARCH 60:6236-6242.
- Couturier J, Stancu IC, Schakman O, Pierrot N, Huaux F, Kienlen-Campard P, Dewachter I, Octave JN (2016) Activation of phagocytic activity in astrocytes by reduced expression of the inflammasome component ASC and its implication in a mouse model of Alzheimer disease. JOURNAL OF NEUROINFLAMMATION 13:20.
- D'Sa C, Hirayama K, West A, Hahn M, Zhu M, Kapatos G (1996) Tetrahydrobiopterin biosynthesis in C6 glioma cells: induction of GTP cyclohydrolase I gene expression by lipopolysaccharide and cytokine treatment. MOLECULAR BRAIN RESEARCH 41:105-110.
- Dai W, Gupta SL (1990) Regulation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase gene expression in human fibroblasts by interferon-gamma. Upstream control region discriminates between interferon-gamma and interferon-alpha. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 265:19871-19877.
- Das T, Hoarau JJ, Jaffar Bandjee MC, Maquart M, Gasque P (2014) Multifaceted innate immune responses engaged by astrocytes, microglia and resident dendritic cells against chikungunya neuroinfection. THE JOURNAL OF GENERAL VIROLOGY 96 (Pt 2): 294-310.
- de Lucas RD, Caputo F, Mendes de Souza K, Sigwalt AR, Ghisoni K, Lock Silveira PC, Remor AP, da Luz Scheffer D, Guglielmo LG, Latini A (2014) Increased platelet

oxidative metabolism, blood oxidative stress and neopterin levels after ultraendurance exercise. JOURNAL OF SPORTS SCIENCES 32:22-30.

- de Rivero Vaccari JP, Lotocki G, Alonso OF, Bramlett HM, Dietrich WD, Keane RW (2009) Therapeutic neutralization of the NLRP1 inflammasome reduces the innate immune response and improves histopathology after traumatic brain injury. JOURNAL OF CEREBRAL BLOOD FLOW AND METABOLISM 29:1251-1261.
- de Rivero Vaccari JP, Lotocki G, Marcillo AE, Dietrich WD, Keane RW (2008) A molecular platform in neurons regulates inflammation after spinal cord injury. THE JOURNAL OF NEUROSCIENCE 28:3404-3414.
- DeYoung KL, Ray ME, Su YA, Anzick SL, Johnstone RW, Trapani JA, Meltzer PS, Trent JM (1997) Cloning a novel member of the human interferon-inducible gene family associated with control of tumorigenicity in a model of human melanoma. ONCOGENE 15:453-457.
- DiDonato JA, Hayakawa M, Rothwarf DM, Zandi E, Karin M (1997) A cytokine-responsive IkappaB kinase that activates the transcription factor NF-kappaB. NATURE 388:548-554.
- Dixon MS, Golstein C, Thomas CM, van Der Biezen EA, Jones JD (2000) Genetic complexity of pathogen perception by plants: the example of Rcr3, a tomato gene required specifically by Cf-2. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 97:8807-8814.
- Docherty LE, Rezwan FI, Poole RL, Turner CL, Kivuva E, Maher ER, Smithson SF, Hamilton-Shield JP, Patalan M, Gizewska M, Peregud-Pogorzelski J, Beygo J, Buiting K, Horsthemke B, Soellner L, Begemann M, Eggermann T, Baple E, Mansour S, Temple IK, Mackay DJ (2015) Mutations in NLRP5 are associated with reproductive wastage and multilocus imprinting disorders in humans. NATURE COMMUNICATIONS 6:8086.
- Dong W, Yang R, Yang J, Yang J, Ding J, Wu H, Zhang J (2015) Resveratrol pretreatment protects rat hearts from ischemia/reperfusion injury partly via a NALP3 inflammasome pathway. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF CLINICAL AND EXPERIMENTAL PATHOLOGY 8:8731-8741.
- Dostert C, Guarda G, Romero JF, Menu P, Gross O, Tardivel A, Suva ML, Stehle JC, Kopf M, Stamenkovic I, Corradin G, Tschopp J (2009) Malarial hemozoin is a Nalp3 inflammasome activating danger signal. PLOS ONE 4:e6510.
- Dostert C, Petrilli V, Van Bruggen R, Steele C, Mossman BT, Tschopp J (2008) Innate immune activation through Nalp3 inflammasome sensing of asbestos and silica. SCIENCE 320:674-677.

- Duewell P, Kono H, Rayner KJ, Sirois CM, Vladimer G, Bauernfeind FG, Abela GS, Franchi L, Nunez G, Schnurr M, Espevik T, Lien E, Fitzgerald KA, Rock KL, Moore KJ, Wright SD, Hornung V, Latz E (2010) NLRP3 inflammasomes are required for atherogenesis and activated by cholesterol crystals. NATURE 464:1357-1361.
- Duncan JA, Bergstralh DT, Wang Y, Willingham SB, Ye Z, Zimmermann AG, Ting JP (2007) Cryopyrin/NALP3 binds ATP/dATP, is an ATPase, and requires ATP binding to mediate inflammatory signaling. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 104:8041-8046.
- Duncan JA, Gao X, Huang MT, O'Connor BP, Thomas CE, Willingham SB, Bergstralh DT, Jarvis GA, Sparling PF, Ting JP (2009) Neisseria gonorrhoeae activates the proteinase cathepsin B to mediate the signaling activities of the NLRP3 and ASC-containing inflammasome. JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY 182:6460-6469.
- Enstrom AM, Lit L, Onore CE, Gregg JP, Hansen RL, Pessah IN, Hertz-Picciotto I, Van de Water JA, Sharp FR, Ashwood P (2009) Altered gene expression and function of peripheral blood natural killer cells in children with autism. BRAIN, BEHAVIOR, AND IMMUNITY 23:124-133.
- Estruch M, Rajamaki K, Sanchez-Quesada JL, Kovanen PT, Oorni K, Benitez S, Ordonez-Llanos J (2015) Electronegative LDL induces priming and inflammasome activation leading to IL-1beta release in human monocytes and macrophages. BIOCHIMICA ET BIOPHYSICA ACTA 1851:1442-1449.
- Eto I, Bandy MD, Butterworth CE, Jr. (1992) Plasma and urinary levels of biopterin, neopterin, and related pterins and plasma levels of folate in infantile autism. JOURNAL OF AUTISM AND DEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS 22:295-308.
- Fann DY, Lee SY, Manzanero S, Tang SC, Gelderblom M, Chunduri P, Bernreuther C, Glatzel M, Cheng YL, Thundyil J, Widiapradja A, Lok KZ, Foo SL, Wang YC, Li YI, Drummond GR, Basta M, Magnus T, Jo DG, Mattson MP, Sobey CG, Arumugam TV (2013) Intravenous immunoglobulin suppresses NLRP1 and NLRP3 inflammasomemediated neuronal death in ischemic stroke. CELL DEATH & DISEASE 4:e790.
- Fatemi SH, Reutiman TJ, Folsom TD, Thuras PD (2009) GABA(A) receptor downregulation in brains of subjects with autism. JOURNAL OF AUTISM AND DEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS 39:223-230.
- Faustin B, Lartigue L, Bruey JM, Luciano F, Sergienko E, Bailly-Maitre B, Volkmann N, Hanein D, Rouiller I, Reed JC (2007) Reconstituted NALP1 inflammasome reveals two-step mechanism of caspase-1 activation. MOLECULAR CELL 25:713-724.
- Fernandes-Alnemri T, Wu J, Yu J, Datta P, Miller B, Jankowski W, Rosenberg S, Zhang J, Alnemri E (2007) The pyroptosome: a supramolecular assembly of ASC dimers

mediating inflammatory cell death via caspase-1 activation. CELL DEATH & DIFFERENTIATION 14:1590–1604.

- Filloux F, Townsend JJ (1993) Pre- and postsynaptic neurotoxic effects of dopamine demonstrated by intrastriatal injection. EXPERIMENTAL NEUROLOGY 119:79-88.
- Fink SL, Bergsbaken, T., Cookson, B.T. (2008) Anthrax lethal toxin and Salmonella elicit the common cell death pathway of caspase-1-dependent pyroptosis via distinct mechanisms. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 105:4312–4317.
- Fink SL, Cookson BT (2006) Caspase-1-dependent pore formation during pyroptosis leads to osmotic lysis of infected host macrophages. CELLULAR MICROBIOLOGY 8:1812-1825.
- Fitzgerald KA, Rowe DC, Barnes BJ, Caffrey DR, Visintin A, Latz E, Monks B, Pitha PM, Golenbock DT (2003) LPS-TLR4 signaling to IRF-3/7 and NF-kappaB involves the toll adapters TRAM and TRIF. THE JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE 198:1043-1055.
- Fombonne E (2009) Epidemiology of pervasive developmental disorders. PEDIATRIC RESEARCH 65:591-598.
- Franchi L, Amer A, Body-Malapel M, Kanneganti TD, Ozoren N, Jagirdar R, Inohara N, Vandenabeele P, Bertin J, Coyle A, Grant EP, Nunez G (2006) Cytosolic flagellin requires Ipaf for activation of caspase-1 and interleukin 1beta in salmonella-infected macrophages. NATURE IMMUNOLOGY 7:576-582.
- Franchi L, Kanneganti TD, Dubyak GR, Nunez G (2007) Differential requirement of P2X7 receptor and intracellular K+ for caspase-1 activation induced by intracellular and extracellular bacteria. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 282:18810-18818.
- Franklin BS, Bossaller L, De Nardo D, Ratter JM, Stutz A, Engels G, Brenker C, Nordhoff M, Mirandola SR, Al-Amoudi A, Mangan MS, Zimmer S, Monks BG, Fricke M, Schmidt RE, Espevik T, Jones B, Jarnicki AG, Hansbro PM, Busto P, Marshak-Rothstein A, Hornemann S, Aguzzi A, Kastenmuller W, Latz E (2014) The adaptor ASC has extracellular and 'prionoid' activities that propagate inflammation. NATURE IMMUNOLOGY 15:727-737.
- Franscini N, Blau N, Walter RB, Schaffner A, Schoedon G (2003) Critical role of interleukin-1beta for transcriptional regulation of endothelial 6-pyruvoyltetrahydropterin synthase. ARTERIOSCLEROSIS, THROMBOSIS, AND VASCULAR BIOLOGY 23:e50-53.

- Fredrikson S, Link H, Eneroth P (1987) CSF neopterin as marker of disease activity in multiple sclerosis. ACTA NEUROLOGICA SCANDINAVICA 75:352-355.
- Frick B, Schroecksnadel K, Neurauter G, Leblhuber F, Fuchs D (2004) Increasing production of homocysteine and neopterin and degradation of tryptophan with older age. CLINICAL BIOCHEMISTRY 37:684-687.
- Fu HQ, Yang T, Xiao W, Fan L, Wu Y, Terrando N, Wang TL (2014) Prolonged neuroinflammation after lipopolysaccharide exposure in aged rats. PLOS ONE 9:e106331.
- Fuchs D, Chiodi F, Albert J, Asjo B, Hagberg L, Hausen A, Norkrans G, Reibnegger G, Werner ER, Wachter H (1989a) Neopterin concentrations in cerebrospinal fluid and serum of individuals infected with HIV-1. AIDS 3:285-288.
- Fuchs D, Moller AA, Reibnegger G, Stockle E, Werner ER, Wachter H (1990) Decreased serum tryptophan in patients with HIV-1 infection correlates with increased serum neopterin and with neurologic/psychiatric symptoms. JOURNAL OF ACQUIRED IMMUNE DEFICIENCY SYNDROMES 3:873-876.
- Fuchs D, Spira TJ, Hausen A, Reibnegger G, Werner ER, Felmayer GW, Wachter H (1989b) Neopterin as a predictive marker for disease progression in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. CLINICAL CHEMISTRY 35:1746-1749.
- Ganong AH, Lanthorn TH, Cotman CW (1983) Kynurenic acid inhibits synaptic and acidic amino acid-induced responses in the rat hippocampus and spinal cord. BRAIN RESEARCH 273:170-174.
- Garcia-Alloza M, Robbins EM, Zhang-Nunes SX, Purcell SM, Betensky RA, Raju S, Prada C, Greenberg SM, Bacskai BJ, Frosch MP (2006) Characterization of amyloid deposition in the APPswe/PS1dE9 mouse model of Alzheimer disease. NEUROBIOLOGY OF DISEASE 24:516-524.
- Guillot-Sestier, M, Doty, KR, Gate, D, Rodriguez Jr, J, Leung, BPY, Rezai-Zadeh, K, Town, T (2015) II10 deficiency re-balances innate immunity to mitigate Alzheimer-like pathology. NEURON 85(3): 534–548.
- Ghisoni K. (2015) Neopterin synthesis in the central nervous system and its cytoprotetor and cognitive enhancer effects. PhD Thesis –Federal University of Santa Catarina, Biological Sciences Center, Graduate Program in Neuroscience, Florianopolis, Brazil.
- Ghisoni K, da Silva Jr AA, de Oliveira PA, Matheus FC, Gabach L, Perez MF, Carlini VP, Barbeito L, Mongeau R, Lanfumey L, Prediger RD, Latini A (2016) Neopterin acts as an endogenous cognitive enhancer. BRAIN, BEHAVIOR, AND IMMUNITY 56:156-64.

- Ghisoni K, Latini A (2015) Kuehne LK, Reiber H, Bechter K, Hagberg L, Fuchs D., Cerebrospinal fluid neopterin is brain-derived and not associated with blood-CSF barrier dysfunction in non-inflammatory affective and schizophrenic spectrum disorders. Journal of Psychiatric Research, Volume 47, Issue 10, October 2013, pages 1417-1422. JOURNAL OF PSYCHIATRIC RESEARCH 63:141-142.
- Ghisoni K, Martins RP, Barbeito L, Latini A (2015) Neopterin as a potential cytoprotective brain molecule. JOURNAL OF PSYCHIATRIC RESEARCH 71:134-139.
- Godbout JP, Chen J, Abraham J, Richwine AF, Berg BM, Kelley KW, Johnson RW (2005) Exaggerated neuroinflammation and sickness behavior in aged mice following activation of the peripheral innate immune system. FEDERATION OF AMERICAN SOCIETIES FOR EXPERIMENTAL BIOLOGY JOURNAL 19:1329-1331.
- Goines PE, Ashwood P (2013) Cytokine dysregulation in autism spectrum disorders (ASD): possible role of the environment. NEUROTOXICOLOGY AND TERATOLOGY 36:67-81.
- Goldring C, Kitteringham N, Jenkins R, Copple I, Jeannin JF, Park BK (2006) Plasticity in cell defence: access to and reactivity of critical protein residues and DNA response elements. THE JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL BIOLOGY 209:2337-2343.
- Goldstein, N.I., Prewett, M., Zuklys, K., Rockwell, P., and Mendelsohn, J. (1995). Biological efficacy of a chimeric antibody to the epidermal growth factor receptor in a human tumor xenograft model. CLINICAL CANCER RESEARCH *1*:1311-1318.
- Gong Z, Zhou J, Li H, Gao Y, Xu C, Zhao S, Chen Y, Cai W, Wu J (2015) Curcumin suppresses NLRP3 inflammasome activation and protects against LPS-induced septic shock. MOLECULAR NUTRITION & FOOD RESEARCH 59(11)2132-42.
- Gonzalez-Reyes S, Guzman-Beltran S, Medina-Campos ON, Pedraza-Chaverri J (2013) Curcumin pretreatment induces Nrf2 and an antioxidant response and prevents hemininduced toxicity in primary cultures of cerebellar granule neurons of rats. OXIDATIVE MEDICINE AND CELLULAR LONGEVITY 2013:801418.
- Grossmann V, Schmitt VH, Zeller T, Panova-Noeva M, Schulz A, Laubert-Reh D, Juenger C, Schnabel RB, Abt TG, Laskowski R, Wiltink J, Schulz E, Blankenberg S, Lackner KJ, Munzel T, Wild PS (2015) Profile of the immune and inflammatory response in individuals with prediabetes and type 2 diabetes. DIABETES CARE 38:1356-1364.
- Guarda G, Zenger M, Yazdi AS, Schroder K, Ferrero I, Menu P, Tardivel A, Mattmann C, Tschopp J (2011) Differential expression of NLRP3 among hematopoietic cells. JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY 186:2529-2534.
- Gubandru M, Margina D, Tsitsimpikou C, Goutzourelas N, Tsarouhas K, Ilie M, Tsatsakis AM, Kouretas D (2013) Alzheimer's disease treated patients showed different patterns

for oxidative stress and inflammation markers. FOOD AND CHEMICAL TOXICOLOGY 61:209-214.

- Guillemin GJ, Smythe G, Takikawa O, Brew BJ (2005) Expression of indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase and production of quinolinic acid by human microglia, astrocytes, and neurons. GLIA 49:15-23.
- Guillemin, G.J., Cullen, K.M., Lim, C.K., Smythe, G.A., Garner, B., Kapoor, V., et al. (2007). Characterization of the kynurenine pathway in human neurons. JOURNAL OF NEUROSCIENCE, 27, 12884–12892.
- Guo H, Callaway JB, Ting JP (2015) Inflammasomes: mechanism of action, role in disease, and therapeutics. NATURE MEDICINE 21:677-687.
- Guo H, Petrin D, Zhang Y, Bergeron C, Goodyer CG, LeBlanc AC (2006) Caspase-1 activation of caspase-6 in human apoptotic neurons. CELL DEATH AND DIFFERENTIATION 13:285-292.
- Gurcel L, Abrami L, Girardin S, Tschopp J, van der Goot FG (2006) Caspase-1 activation of lipid metabolic pathways in response to bacterial pore-forming toxins promotes cell survival. CELL 126:1135-1145.
- Gurung P, Li B, Subbarao Malireddi RK, Lamkanfi M, Geiger TL, Kanneganti TD (2015) Chronic TLR Stimulation Controls NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation through IL-10 Mediated Regulation of NLRP3 Expression and Caspase-8 Activation. SCIENTIFIC REPORTS 5:14488.
- Hagar JA, Powell DA, Aachoui Y, Ernst RK, Miao EA (2013) Cytoplasmic LPS activates caspase-11: implications in TLR4-independent endotoxic shock. SCIENCE 341:1250-1253.
- Hagberg L, Dotevall L, Norkrans G, Larsson M, Wachter H, Fuchs D (1993) Cerebrospinal fluid neopterin concentrations in central nervous system infection. THE JOURNAL OF INFECTIOUS DISEASES 168:1285-1288.
- Halle A, Hornung V, Petzold GC, Stewart CR, Monks BG, Reinheckel T, Fitzgerald KA, Latz E, Moore KJ, Golenbock DT (2008) The NALP3 inflammasome is involved in the innate immune response to amyloid-beta. NATURE IMMUNOLOGY 9:857-865.
- Hanamsagar R, Aldrich A, Kielian T (2014) Critical role for the AIM2 inflammasome during acute CNS bacterial infection. JOURNAL OF NEUROCHEMISTRY 129:704-711.
- Harijith A, Ebenezer DL, Natarajan V (2014) Reactive oxygen species at the crossroads of inflammasome and inflammation. FRONTIERS IN PHYSIOLOGY 5:352.

- Harrison KL, Pheasant AE (1995) Analysis of urinary pterins in autism. BIOCHEMICAL SOCIETY TRANSACTIONS 23:603S.
- Hashimoto-Torii K, Kawasawa YI, Kuhn A, Rakic P (2011) Combined transcriptome analysis of fetal human and mouse cerebral cortex exposed to alcohol. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 108:4212-4217.
- Hausen A, Fuchs D, Konig K, Wachter H (1982) Determination of neopterine in human urine by reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatography. JOURNAL OF CHROMATOGRAPHY 227:61-70.
- He Y, Franchi L, Nunez G (2013a) TLR agonists stimulate Nlrp3-dependent IL-1beta production independently of the purinergic P2X7 receptor in dendritic cells and in vivo. JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY 190:334-339.
- He Y, Zhou A, Jiang W (2013b) Toll-like receptor 4-mediated signaling participates in apoptosis of hippocampal neurons. NEURAL REGENERATION RESEARCH 8:2744-2753.
- Heneka MT, Kummer MP, Stutz A, Delekate A, Schwartz S, Vieira-Saecker A, Griep A, Axt D, Remus A, Tzeng TC, Gelpi E, Halle A, Korte M, Latz E, Golenbock DT (2013) NLRP3 is activated in Alzheimer's disease and contributes to pathology in APP/PS1 mice. NATURE 493:674-678.
- Henry CJ, Huang Y, Wynne A, Hanke M, Himler J, Bailey MT, Sheridan JF, Godbout JP (2008) Minocycline attenuates lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced neuroinflammation, sickness behavior, and anhedonia. JOURNAL OF NEUROINFLAMMATION 5:15.
- Henry CJ, Huang Y, Wynne AM, Godbout JP (2009) Peripheral lipopolysaccharide (LPS) challenge promotes microglial hyperactivity in aged mice that is associated with exaggerated induction of both pro-inflammatory IL-1beta and anti-inflammatory IL-10 cytokines. BRAIN, BEHAVIOR, AND IMMUNITY 23:309-317.
- Hoffman HM, Wanderer AA, Broide DH (2001) Familial cold autoinflammatory syndrome: phenotype and genotype of an autosomal dominant periodic fever. THE JOURNAL OF ALLERGY AND CLINICAL IMMUNOLOGY 108:615-620.
- Hoffmann G, Rieder J, Smolny M, Seibel M, Wirleitner B, Fuchs D, Schobersberger W (1999) Neopterin-induced expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) in type II-like alveolar epithelial cells. CLINICAL AND EXPERIMENTAL IMMUNOLOGY 118:435-440.
- Hoffmann G, Schobersberger W, Frede S, Pelzer L, Fandrey J, Wachter H, Fuchs D, Grote J (1996) Neopterin activates transcription factor nuclear factor-kappa B in vascular

smooth muscle cells. FEDERATION OF AMERICAN SOCIETIES FOR EXPERIMENTAL BIOLOGY LETTERS 391:181-184.

- Hogquist KA, Nett MA, Unanue ER, Chaplin DD (1991) Interleukin 1 is processed and released during apoptosis. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 88:8485-8489.
- Hornung V, Ablasser A, Charrel-Dennis M, Bauernfeind F, Horvath G, Caffrey DR, Latz E, Fitzgerald KA (2009) AIM2 recognizes cytosolic dsDNA and forms a caspase-1-activating inflammasome with ASC. NATURE 458:514-518.
- Hornung V, Bauernfeind F, Halle A, Samstad EO, Kono H, Rock KL, Fitzgerald KA, Latz E (2008) Silica crystals and aluminum salts activate the NALP3 inflammasome through phagosomal destabilization. Nature immunology 9:847-856.
- Horowitz PM, Patterson KR, Guillozet-Bongaarts AL, Reynolds MR, Carroll CA, Weintraub ST, Bennett DA, Cryns VL, Berry RW, Binder LI (2004) Early N-terminal changes and caspase-6 cleavage of tau in Alzheimer's disease. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 24:7895-7902.
- Hsieh HL, Yang CM (2013) Role of redox signaling in neuroinflammation and neurodegenerative diseases. BioMed research international 2013:484613.
- Hsu LC, Ali SR, McGillivray S, Tseng PH, Mariathasan S, Humke EW, Eckmann L, Powell JJ, Nizet V, Dixit VM, Karin M (2008) A NOD2-NALP1 complex mediates caspase-1-dependent IL-1beta secretion in response to Bacillus anthracis infection and muramyl dipeptide. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105:7803-7808.
- Huber C, Batchelor JR, Fuchs D, Hausen A, Lang A, Niederwieser D, Reibnegger G, Swetly P, Troppmair J, Wachter H (1984) Immune response-associated production of neopterin. Release from macrophages primarily under control of interferon-gamma. The Journal of experimental medicine 160:310-316.
- Hull M, Pasinetti GM, Aisen PS (2000) Elevated plasma neopterin levels in Alzheimer disease. Alzheimer disease and associated disorders 14:228-230.
- Hurme M, Seppala IJ (1988) Differential induction of membrane-associated interleukin 1 (IL-1) expression and IL-1 alpha and IL-1 beta secretion by lipopolysaccharide and silica in human monocytes. Scandinavian journal of immunology 27:725-730.
- Hytonen J, Kortela E, Waris M, Puustinen J, Salo J, Oksi J (2014) CXCL13 and neopterin concentrations in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with Lyme neuroborreliosis and other diseases that cause neuroinflammation. Journal of neuroinflammation 11:103.

- Inohara N, Koseki T, del Peso L, Hu Y, Yee C, Chen S, Carrio R, Merino J, Liu D, Ni J, Nunez G (1999) Nod1, an Apaf-1-like activator of caspase-9 and nuclear factor-kappaB. The Journal of biological chemistry 274:14560-14567.
- Ishii M, Shimizu S, Wajima T, Hagiwara T, Negoro T, Miyazaki A, Tobe T, Kiuchi Y (2005) Reduction of GTP cyclohydrolase I feedback regulating protein expression by hydrogen peroxide in vascular endothelial cells. Journal of pharmacological sciences 97:299-302.
- Ishino H, Otsuki S (1975) Distribution of Alzheimer's neurofibrillary tangles in the basal ganglia and brain stem of progressive supranuclear palsy and Alzheimer's disease. Folia psychiatrica et neurologica japonica 29:179-187.
- Itoh K, Chiba T, Takahashi S, Ishii T, Igarashi K, Katoh Y, Oyake T, Hayashi N, Satoh K, Hatayama I, Yamamoto M, Nabeshima Y (1997) An Nrf2/small Maf heterodimer mediates the induction of phase II detoxifying enzyme genes through antioxidant response elements. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 236:313-322.
- Itoh K, Wakabayashi N, Katoh Y, Ishii T, O'Connor T, Yamamoto M (2003) Keap1 regulates both cytoplasmic-nuclear shuttling and degradation of Nrf2 in response to electrophiles. Genes to cells : devoted to molecular & cellular mechanisms 8:379-391.
- Jabaut J, Ather JL, Taracanova A, Poynter ME, Ckless K (2013) Mitochondria-targeted drugs enhance Nlrp3 inflammasome-dependent IL-1beta secretion in association with alterations in cellular redox and energy status. Free radical biology & medicine 60:233-245.
- James SJ, Rose S, Melnyk S, Jernigan S, Blossom S, Pavliv O, Gaylor DW (2009) Cellular and mitochondrial glutathione redox imbalance in lymphoblastoid cells derived from children with autism. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology 23:2374-2383.
- Jha S, Srivastava SY, Brickey WJ, Iocca H, Toews A, Morrison JP, Chen VS, Gris D, Matsushima GK, Ting JP (2010) The inflammasome sensor, NLRP3, regulates CNS inflammation and demyelination via caspase-1 and interleukin-18. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 30:15811-15820.
- Jiang J, Tian K, Diao Y, Chen H, Zhu P, Wang Z (1997) Expression of TNF alpha, IL-1 beta, IL-6 mRNA, release of TNF alpha in vital organs and their relationship with endotoxin translocation following hemorrhagic shock. Chinese medical sciences journal = Chung-kuo i hsueh k'o hsueh tsa chih / Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences 12:41-46.
- Jiang Y, Wang M, Huang K, Zhang Z, Shao N, Zhang Y, Wang W, Wang S (2012) Oxidized low-density lipoprotein induces secretion of interleukin-1beta by macrophages via

reactive oxygen species-dependent NLRP3 inflammasome activation. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 425:121-126.

- Juliana C, Fernandes-Alnemri T, Kang S, Farias A, Qin F, Alnemri ES (2012) Nontranscriptional priming and deubiquitination regulate NLRP3 inflammasome activation. The Journal of biological chemistry 287:36617-36622.
- Juliana C, Fernandes-Alnemri T, Wu J, Datta P, Solorzano L, Yu JW, Meng R, Quong AA, Latz E, Scott CP, Alnemri ES (2010) Anti-inflammatory compounds parthenolide and Bay 11-7082 are direct inhibitors of the inflammasome. The Journal of biological chemistry 285:9792-9802.
- Jyonouchi H, Geng L, Davidow AL (2014) Cytokine profiles by peripheral blood monocytes are associated with changes in behavioral symptoms following immune insults in a subset of ASD subjects: an inflammatory subtype? Journal of neuroinflammation 11:187.
- Jyonouchi H, Sun S, Le H (2001) Proinflammatory and regulatory cytokine production associated with innate and adaptive immune responses in children with autism spectrum disorders and developmental regression. Journal of neuroimmunology 120:170-179.
- Ka SM, Lin JC, Lin TJ, Liu FC, Chao LK, Ho CL, Yeh LT, Sytwu HK, Hua KF, Chen A (2015) Citral alleviates an accelerated and severe lupus nephritis model by inhibiting the activation signal of NLRP3 inflammasome and enhancing Nrf2 activation. Arthritis research & therapy 17:331.
- Kajava AV (1998) Structural diversity of leucine-rich repeat proteins. Journal of molecular biology 277:519-527.
- Kaushal, V., Dye, R., Pakavathkumar, P., Foveau, B., Flores, J., Hyman, B., Ghetti, B., Koller, B.H., and LeBlanc, A.C. (2015). Neuronal NLRP1 inflammasome activation of Caspase-1 coordinately regulates inflammatory interleukin-1-beta production and axonal degeneration-associated Caspase-6 activation. Cell death and differentiation 22, 1676-1686.
- Kayagaki, N., Warming, S., Lamkanfi, M., Vande Walle, L., Louie, S., Dong, J., Newton, K., Qu, Y., Liu, J., Heldens, S., *et al.* (2011). Non-canonical inflammasome activation targets caspase-11. Nature 479, 117-121.
- Khan A (2012) Detection and quantitation of forty eight cytokines, chemokines, growth factors and nine acute phase proteins in healthy human plasma, saliva and urine. Journal of Proteomics, 75, 4802–4819.
- Kaneko YS, Ikemoto K, Mori K, Nakashima A, Nagatsu I, Ota A (2001) Expression of GTP cyclohydrolase I in murine locus ceruleus is enhanced by peripheral administration of lipopolysaccharide. Brain research 890:203-210.

- Kaneko YS, Mori K, Nakashima A, Nagatsu I, Ota A (2003) Peripheral administration of lipopolysaccharide enhances the expression of guanosine triphosphate cyclohydrolase I mRNA in murine locus coeruleus. Neuroscience 116:7-12.
- Kaushal V, Dye R, Pakavathkumar P, Foveau B, Flores J, Hyman B, Ghetti B, Koller BH, LeBlanc AC (2015) Neuronal NLRP1 inflammasome activation of Caspase-1 coordinately regulates inflammatory interleukin-1-beta production and axonal degeneration-associated Caspase-6 activation. Cell death and differentiation 22:1676-1686.
- Kayagaki N, Warming S, Lamkanfi M, Vande Walle L, Louie S, Dong J, Newton K, Qu Y, Liu J, Heldens S, Zhang J, Lee WP, Roose-Girma M, Dixit VM (2011) Non-canonical inflammasome activation targets caspase-11. Nature 479:117-121.
- Kerler F, Ziegler I, Schwarzkopf B, Bacher A (1989) Regulation of tetrahydrobiopterin synthesis during lectin stimulation of human peripheral blood lymphocytes. FEDERATION OF AMERICAN SOCIETIES FOR EXPERIMENTAL BIOLOGY LETTERS 250:622-624.
- Kerr JF, Wyllie AH, Currie AR (1972) Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wideranging implications in tissue kinetics. BRITISH JOURNAL OF CANCER 26:239-257.
- Keystone EC, Wang MM, Layton M, Hollis S, McInnes IB, Team DCS (2012) Clinical evaluation of the efficacy of the P2X7 purinergic receptor antagonist AZD9056 on the signs and symptoms of rheumatoid arthritis in patients with active disease despite treatment with methotrexate or sulphasalazine. ANNALS OF THE RHEUMATIC DISEASES 71:1630-1635.
- Khorooshi R, Owens T (2010) Injury-induced type I IFN signaling regulates inflammatory responses in the central nervous system. JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY 185:1258-1264.
- Kojima S, Nomura T, Icho T, Kajiwara Y, Kitabatake K, Kubota K (1993) Inhibitory effect of neopterin on NADPH-dependent superoxide-generating oxidase of rat peritoneal macrophages. FEDERATION OF AMERICAN SOCIETIES FOR EXPERIMENTAL BIOLOGY LETTERS 329:125-128.
- Kone-Paut I, Galeotti C (2014) Anakinra for cryopyrin-associated periodic syndrome. EXPERT REVIEW OF CLINICAL IMMUNOLOGY 10:7-18.
- Kontoyiannis D, Kotlyarov A, Carballo E, Alexopoulou L, Blackshear PJ, Gaestel M, Davis R, Flavell R, Kollias G (2001) Interleukin-10 targets p38 MAPK to modulate AREdependent TNF mRNA translation and limit intestinal pathology. THE EMBO JOURNAL 20:3760-3770.

- Krumm N, Turner TN, Baker C, Vives L, Mohajeri K, Witherspoon K, Raja A, Coe BP, Stessman HA, He ZX, Leal SM, Bernier R, Eichler EE (2015) Excess of rare, inherited truncating mutations in autism. NATURE GENETICS 47:582-588.
- Kuehne LK, Reiber H, Bechter K, Hagberg L, Fuchs D (2013) Cerebrospinal fluid neopterin is brain-derived and not associated with blood-CSF barrier dysfunction in noninflammatory affective and schizophrenic spectrum disorders. JOURNAL OF PSYCHIATRIC RESEARCH 47:1417-1422.
- Kummer JA, Broekhuizen R, Everett H, Agostini L, Kuijk L, Martinon F, van Bruggen R, Tschopp J (2007) Inflammasome components NALP 1 and 3 show distinct but separate expression profiles in human tissues suggesting a site-specific role in the inflammatory response. THE JOURNAL OF HISTOCHEMISTRY AND CYTOCHEMISTRY 55:443-452.
- Lachmann HJ, Kone-Paut I, Kuemmerle-Deschner JB, Leslie KS, Hachulla E, Quartier P, Gitton X, Widmer A, Patel N, Hawkins PN, Canakinumab in CSG (2009a) Use of canakinumab in the cryopyrin-associated periodic syndrome. THE NEW ENGLAND JOURNAL OF MEDICINE 360:2416-2425.
- Lachmann HJ, Lowe P, Felix SD, Rordorf C, Leslie K, Madhoo S, Wittkowski H, Bek S, Hartmann N, Bosset S, Hawkins PN, Jung T (2009b) In vivo regulation of interleukin 1beta in patients with cryopyrin-associated periodic syndromes. THE JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE 206:1029-1036.
- Lai CF, Ripperger J, Morella KK, Jurlander J, Hawley TS, Carson WE, Kordula T, Caligiuri MA, Hawley RG, Fey GH, Baumann H (1996) Receptors for interleukin (IL)-10 and IL-6-type cytokines use similar signaling mechanisms for inducing transcription through IL-6 response elements. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 271:13968-13975.
- Lamkanfi M, Declercq W, Kalai M, Saelens X, Vandenabeele P (2002) Alice in caspase land. A phylogenetic analysis of caspases from worm to man. CELL DEATH AND DIFFERENTIATION 9:358-361.
- Lamkanfi M, Kanneganti TD, Van Damme P, Vanden Berghe T, Vanoverberghe I, Vandekerckhove J, Vandenabeele P, Gevaert K, Nunez G (2008) Targeted peptidecentric proteomics reveals caspase-7 as a substrate of the caspase-1 inflammasomes. MOLECULAR & CELLULAR PROTEOMICS 7:2350-2363.
- Lamkanfi M, Mueller JL, Vitari AC, Misaghi S, Fedorova A, Deshayes K, Lee WP, Hoffman HM, Dixit VM (2009) Glyburide inhibits the Cryopyrin/Nalp3 inflammasome. THE JOURNAL OF CELL BIOLOGY 187:61-70.
- Lampa J, Westman M, Kadetoff D, Agreus AN, Le Maitre E, Gillis-Haegerstrand C, Andersson M, Khademi M, Corr M, Christianson CA, Delaney A, Yaksh TL, Kosek

E, Svensson CI (2012) Peripheral inflammatory disease associated with centrally activated IL-1 system in humans and mice. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 109:12728-12733.

- Lampert F (1986) Infantile multisystem inflammatory disease: another case of a new syndrome. EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF PEDIATRICS 144:593-596.
- Lazzarini M, Martin S, Mitkovski M, Vozari RR, Stuhmer W, Bel ED (2013) Doxycycline restrains glia and confers neuroprotection in a 6-OHDA Parkinson model. GLIA 61:1084-1100.
- Leary, S.C., Hill, B.C., Lyons, C.N., Carlson, C.G., Michaud, D., Kraft, C.S., Ko, K., Glerum, D.M., and Moyes, C.D. (2002). Chronic treatment with azide in situ leads to an irreversible loss of cytochrome c oxidase activity via holoenzyme dissociation. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 277:11321-11328.
- Lehmann J, Schaefer P, Ferkany JW, Coyle JT (1983) Quinolinic acid evokes [3H]acetylcholine release in striatal slices: mediation by NMDA-type excitatory amino acid receptors. EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF PHARMACOLOGY 96:111-115.
- Lenzlinger PM, Hans VH, Joller-Jemelka HI, Trentz O, Morganti-Kossmann MC, Kossmann T (2001) Markers for cell-mediated immune response are elevated in cerebrospinal fluid and serum after severe traumatic brain injury in humans. JOURNAL OF NEUROTRAUMA 18:479-489.
- Leuzzi V, Carducci CA, Carducci CL, Pozzessere S, Burlina A, Cerone R, Concolino D, Donati MA, Fiori L, Meli C, Ponzone A, Porta F, Strisciuglio P, Antonozzi I, Blau N (2010) Phenotypic variability, neurological outcome and genetics background of 6pyruvoyl-tetrahydropterin synthase deficiency. CLINICAL GENETICS 77:249-257.
- Levine RA, Kapatos G, Kaufman S, Milstien S (1990) Immunological evidence for the requirement of sepiapterin reductase for tetrahydrobiopterin biosynthesis in brain. JOURNAL OF NEUROCHEMISTRY 54:1218-1224.
- Li H, Zhou X, Zhang J (2014) Induction of heme oxygenase-1 attenuates lipopolysaccharideinduced inflammasome activation in human gingival epithelial cells. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF MOLECULAR MEDICINE 34:1039-1044.
- Li X, Chauhan A, Sheikh AM, Patil S, Chauhan V, Li XM, Ji L, Brown T, Malik M (2009a) Elevated immune response in the brain of autistic patients. JOURNAL OF NEUROIMMUNOLOGY 207:111-116.
- Li XZ, Bai LM, Yang YP, Luo WF, Hu WD, Chen JP, Mao CJ, Liu CF (2009b) Effects of IL-6 secreted from astrocytes on the survival of dopaminergic neurons in

lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation. NEUROSCIENCE RESEARCH 65:252-258.

- Li Y, Li J, Li S, Li Y, Wang X, Liu B, Fu Q, Ma S (2015) Curcumin attenuates glutamate neurotoxicity in the hippocampus by suppression of ER stress-associated TXNIP/NLRP3 inflammasome activation in a manner dependent on AMPK. TOXICOLOGY AND APPLIED PHARMACOLOGY 286:53-63.
- Liang Y, Jing X, Zeng Z, Bi W, Chen Y, Wu X, Yang L, Liu J, Xiao S, Liu S, Lin D, Tao E (2015) Rifampicin attenuates rotenone-induced inflammation via suppressing NLRP3 inflammasome activation in microglia. BRAIN RESEARCH 1622:43-50.
- Lim CK, Essa MM, de Paula Martins R, Lovejoy DB, Bilgin AA, Waly MI, Al-Farsi YM, Al-Sharbati M, Al-Shaffae MA, Guillemin GJ (2016) Altered kynurenine pathway metabolism in autism: Implication for immune-induced glutamatergic activity. AUTISM RESEARCH 9(6):621-31.
- Lim CK, Yap MM, Kent SJ, Gras G, Samah B, Batten JC, De Rose R, Heng B, Brew BJ, Guillemin GJ (2013) Characterization of the kynurenine pathway and quinolinic Acid production in macaque macrophages. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF TRYPTOPHAN RESEARCH 6:7-19.
- Lin W, Wu RT, Wu T, Khor TO, Wang H, Kong AN (2008) Sulforaphane suppressed LPSinduced inflammation in mouse peritoneal macrophages through Nrf2 dependent pathway. BIOCHEMICAL PHARMACOLOGY 76:967-973.
- Lippai D, Bala S, Petrasek J, Csak T, Levin I, Kurt-Jones EA, Szabo G (2013) Alcoholinduced IL-1beta in the brain is mediated by NLRP3/ASC inflammasome activation that amplifies neuroinflammation. JOURNAL OF LEUKOCYTE BIOLOGY 94:171-182.
- Liu Z, Zaki MH, Vogel P, Gurung P, Finlay BB, Deng W, Lamkanfi M, Kanneganti TD (2012) Role of inflammasomes in host defense against Citrobacter rodentium infection. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 287:16955-16964.
- Lodge PA, Sriram S (1996) Regulation of microglial activation by TGF-beta, IL-10, and CSF-1. JOURNAL OF LEUKOCYTE BIOLOGY 60:502-508.
- Lowry OH, Rosebrough NJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ (1951) Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 193:265-275.
- Lu M, Sun XL, Qiao C, Liu Y, Ding JH, Hu G (2014) Uncoupling protein 2 deficiency aggravates astrocytic endoplasmic reticulum stress and nod-like receptor protein 3 inflammasome activation. NEUROBIOLOGY OF AGING 35:421-430.

- Luheshi NM, Giles JA, Lopez-Castejon G, Brough D (2012) Sphingosine regulates the NLRP3-inflammasome and IL-1beta release from macrophages. EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY 42:716-725.
- MacKenzie A, Wilson HL, Kiss-Toth E, Dower SK, North RA, Surprenant A (2001) Rapid secretion of interleukin-1beta by microvesicle shedding. IMMUNITY 15:825-835.
- Maes M, Twisk FN, Ringel K (2012) Inflammatory and cell-mediated immune biomarkers in myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome and depression: inflammatory markers are higher in myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome than in depression. PSYCHOTHERAPY AND PSYCHOSOMATICS 81:286-295.
- Maggioli E, McArthur S, Mauro C, Kieswich J, Kusters DH, Reutelingsperger CP, Yaqoob M, Solito E (2015) Estrogen protects the blood-brain barrier from inflammationinduced disruption and increased lymphocyte trafficking. BRAIN, BEHAVIOR, AND IMMUNITY. 51:212-22
- Makkonen I, Riikonen R, Kokki H, Airaksinen MM, Kuikka JT (2008) Serotonin and dopamine transporter binding in children with autism determined by SPECT. DEVELOPMENTAL MEDICINE AND CHILD NEUROLOGY 50:593-597.
- Malyak M, Smith MF, Jr., Abel AA, Hance KR, Arend WP (1998) The differential production of three forms of IL-1 receptor antagonist by human neutrophils and monocytes. JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY 161:2004-2010.
- Manea A, Manea SA, Gafencu AV, Raicu M (2007) Regulation of NADPH oxidase subunit p22(phox) by NF-kB in human aortic smooth muscle cells. ARCHIVES OF PHYSIOLOGY AND BIOCHEMISTRY 113:163-172.
- Mao K, Chen S, Chen M, Ma Y, Wang Y, Huang B, He Z, Zeng Y, Hu Y, Sun S, Li J, Wu X, Wang X, Strober W, Chen C, Meng G, Sun B (2013) Nitric oxide suppresses NLRP3 inflammasome activation and protects against LPS-induced septic shock. CELL RESEARCH 23:201-212.
- Mariathasan S, Newton K, Monack DM, Vucic D, French DM, Lee WP, Roose-Girma M, Erickson S, Dixit VM (2004) Differential activation of the inflammasome by caspase-1 adaptors ASC and Ipaf. NATURE 430:213-218.
- Martinon F, Burns K, Tschopp J (2002) The inflammasome: a molecular platform triggering activation of inflammatory caspases and processing of proIL-beta. MOLECULAR CELL 10:417-426.
- Martinon F, Petrilli V, Mayor A, Tardivel A, Tschopp J (2006) Gout-associated uric acid crystals activate the NALP3 inflammasome. NATURE 440:237-241.

- Masters SL, Dunne A, Subramanian SL, Hull RL, Tannahill GM, Sharp FA, Becker C, Franchi L, Yoshihara E, Chen Z, Mullooly N, Mielke LA, Harris J, Coll RC, Mills KH, Mok KH, Newsholme P, Nunez G, Yodoi J, Kahn SE, Lavelle EC, O'Neill LA (2010) Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome by islet amyloid polypeptide provides a mechanism for enhanced IL-1beta in type 2 diabetes. NATURE IMMUNOLOGY 11:897-904.
- Masumoto J, Taniguchi S, Ayukawa K, Sarvotham H, Kishino T, Niikawa N, Hidaka E, Katsuyama T, Higuchi T, Sagara J (1999) ASC, a novel 22-kDa protein, aggregates during apoptosis of human promyelocytic leukemia HL-60 cells. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 274:33835-33838.
- Mauro C, Leow SC, Anso E, Rocha S, Thotakura AK, Tornatore L, Moretti M, De Smaele E, Beg AA, Tergaonkar V, Chandel NS, Franzoso G (2011) NF-kappaB controls energy homeostasis and metabolic adaptation by upregulating mitochondrial respiration. NATURE CELL BIOLOGY 13:1272-1279.
- Mawhinney LJ, de Rivero Vaccari JP, Dale GA, Keane RW, Bramlett HM (2011) Heightened inflammasome activation is linked to age-related cognitive impairment in Fischer 344 rats. BIOMED CENTRAL NEUROSCIENCE 12:123.
- Mayer B, John M, Bohme E (1990) Purification of a Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent nitric oxide synthase from porcine cerebellum. Cofactor-role of tetrahydrobiopterin. FEDERATION OF AMERICAN SOCIETIES FOR EXPERIMENTAL BIOLOGY LETTERS 277:215-219.
- McDougle CJ, Naylor ST, Cohen DJ, Aghajanian GK, Heninger GR, Price LH (1996) Effects of tryptophan depletion in drug-free adults with autistic disorder. ARCHIVES OF GENERAL PSYCHIATRY 53:993-1000.
- McGeer PL, Itagaki S, Boyes BE, McGeer EG (1988) Reactive microglia are positive for HLA-DR in the substantia nigra of Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease brains. NEUROLOGY 38:1285-1291.
- Meissner F, Seger RA, Moshous D, Fischer A, Reichenbach J, Zychlinsky A (2010) Inflammasome activation in NADPH oxidase defective mononuclear phagocytes from patients with chronic granulomatous disease. BLOOD 116:1570-1573.
- Melichar B, Kalabova H, Krcmova LK, Trivedi SV, Kralickova P, Malirova E, Pecka M, Studentova H, Zezulova M, Holeckova P, Solichova D (2014) Urinary neopterin concentrations during combination therapy with cetuximab in previously treated patients with metastatic colorectal carcinoma. IN VIVO 28:953-959.
- Meng XF, Tan L, Tan MS, Jiang T, Tan CC, Li MM, Wang HF, Yu JT (2014) Inhibition of the NLRP3 inflammasome provides neuroprotection in rats following amygdala

kindling-induced status epilepticus. JOURNAL OF NEUROINFLAMMATION 11:212.

- Messahel S, Pheasant AE, Pall H, Ahmed-Choudhury J, Sungum-Paliwal RS, Vostanis P (1998) Urinary levels of neopterin and biopterin in autism. NEUROSCIENCE LETTERS 241:17-20.
- Miao EA, Ernst RK, Dors M, Mao DP, Aderem A (2008) Pseudomonas aeruginosa activates caspase 1 through Ipaf. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 105:2562-2567.
- Miles JH, Takahashi TN, Bagby S, Sahota PK, Vaslow DF, Wang CH, Hillman RE, Farmer JE (2005) Essential versus complex autism: definition of fundamental prognostic subtypes. AMERICAN JOURNAL OF MEDICAL GENETICS Part A 135:171-180.
- Miller DT, Shen Y, Weiss LA, Korn J, Anselm I, Bridgemohan C, Cox GF, Dickinson H, Gentile J, Harris DJ, Hegde V, Hundley R, Khwaja O, Kothare S, Luedke C, Nasir R, Poduri A, Prasad K, Raffalli P, Reinhard A, Smith SE, Sobeih MM, Soul JS, Stoler J, Takeoka M, Tan WH, Thakuria J, Wolff R, Yusupov R, Gusella JF, Daly MJ, Wu BL (2009) Microdeletion/duplication at 15q13.2q13.3 among individuals with features of autism and other neuropsychiatric disorders. JOURNAL OF MEDICAL GENETICS 46:242-248.
- Mills KH (2011) TLR-dependent T cell activation in autoimmunity. NATURE REVIEWS IMMUNOLOGY 11:807-822.
- Minkiewicz J, de Rivero Vaccari JP, Keane RW (2013) Human astrocytes express a novel NLRP2 inflammasome. GLIA 61:1113-1121.
- Misra, H.P., and Fridovich, I. (1978). Inhibition of superoxide dismutases by azide. ARCHIVES OF BIOCHEMISTRY AND BIOPHYSICS 189, 317-322.
- Mistry P, Reid J, Pouliquen I, McHugh S, Abberley L, DeWall S, Taylor A, Tong X, Rocha Del Cura M, McKie E (2014) Safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics of single-dose antiinterleukin- 18 mAb GSK1070806 in healthy and obese subjects. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF CLINICAL PHARMACOLOGY AND THERAPEUTICS 52:867-879.
- Molero-Luis M, Fernandez-Urena S, Jordan I, Serrano M, Ormazabal A, Garcia-Cazorla A, Artuch R, Neopterin Working G (2013) Cerebrospinal fluid neopterin analysis in neuropediatric patients: establishment of a new cut off-value for the identification of inflammatory-immune mediated processes. PLOS ONE 8:e83237.
- Molofsky AB, Byrne BG, Whitfield NN, Madigan CA, Fuse ET, Tateda K, Swanson MS (2006) Cytosolic recognition of flagellin by mouse macrophages restricts Legionella

pneumophila infection. JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE 203:1093-1104.

- Mostafa GA, Al-Ayadhi LY (2011) A lack of association between hyperserotonemia and the increased frequency of serum anti-myelin basic protein auto-antibodies in autistic children. JOURNAL OF NEUROINFLAMMATION 8:71.
- Motori E, Puyal J, Toni N, Ghanem A, Angeloni C, Malaguti M, Cantelli-Forti G, Berninger B, Conzelmann KK, Gotz M, Winklhofer KF, Hrelia S, Bergami M (2013) Inflammation-induced alteration of astrocyte mitochondrial dynamics requires autophagy for mitochondrial network maintenance. CELL METABOLISM 18:844-859.
- Muckle TJ, Wellsm (1962) Urticaria, deafness, and amyloidosis: a new heredo-familial syndrome. THE QUARTERLY JOURNAL OF MEDICINE 31:235-248.
- Murakami T, Ockinger J, Yu J, Byles V, McColl A, Hofer AM, Horng T (2012) Critical role for calcium mobilization in activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 109:11282-11287.
- Nagatsu T, Sawada M, Yamaguchi T, Sugimoto T, Matsuura S, Akino M, Nakazawa N, Ogawa H (1984) Radioimmunoassay for neopterin in body fluids and tissues. ANALYTICAL BIOCHEMISTRY 141:472-480.
- Nagyoszi P, Nyul-Toth A, Fazakas C, Wilhelm I, Kozma M, Molnar J, Hasko J, Krizbai IA (2015) Regulation of NOD-like receptors and inflammasome activation in cerebral endothelial cells. JOURNAL OF NEUROCHEMISTRY 135:551-564.
- Nakahira K, Haspel JA, Rathinam VA, Lee SJ, Dolinay T, Lam HC, Englert JA, Rabinovitch M, Cernadas M, Kim HP, Fitzgerald KA, Ryter SW, Choi AMK (2011) Autophagy proteins regulate innate immune responses by inhibiting the release of mitochondrial DNA mediated by the NALP3 inflammasome. NATURE IMMUNOLOGY 12:222–230.
- Napolioni V, Ober-Reynolds B, Szelinger S, Corneveaux JJ, Pawlowski T, Ober-Reynolds S, Kirwan J, Persico AM, Melmed RD, Craig DW, Smith CJ, Huentelman MJ (2013) Plasma cytokine profiling in sibling pairs discordant for autism spectrum disorder. JOURNAL OF NEUROINFLAMMATION 10:38.
- Netea MG, Nold-Petry CA, Nold MF, Joosten LA, Opitz B, van der Meer JH, van de Veerdonk FL, Ferwerda G, Heinhuis B, Devesa I, Funk CJ, Mason RJ, Kullberg BJ, Rubartelli A, van der Meer JW, Dinarello CA (2009) Differential requirement for the activation of the inflammasome for processing and release of IL-1beta in monocytes and macrophages. BLOOD 113:2324-2335.

- Nichol CA, Smith GK, Duch DS (1985) Biosynthesis and metabolism of tetrahydrobiopterin and molybdopterin. ANNUAL REVIEW OF BIOCHEMISTRY 54:729-764.
- Niederwieser A, Curtius HC, Bettoni O, Bieri J, Schircks B, Viscontini M, Schaub J (1979) Atypical phenylketonuria caused by 7, 8-dihydrobiopterin synthetase deficiency. LANCET 1:131-133.
- Nishiyama A, Matsui M, Iwata S, Hirota K, Masutani H, Nakamura H, Takagi Y, Sono H, Gon Y, Yodoi J (1999) Identification of thioredoxin-binding protein-2/vitamin D(3) up-regulated protein 1 as a negative regulator of thioredoxin function and expression. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 274:21645-21650.
- Ogiwara S, Kiuchi K, Nagatsu T, Teradaira R, Nagatsu I, Fujita K, Sugimoto T (1992) Highly sensitive, specific enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay of neopterin and biopterin in biological samples. CLINICAL CHEMISTRY 38:1954-1958.
- Olivera S, Fernandez A, Latini A, Rosillo JC, Casanova G, Wajner M, Cassina P, Barbeito L (2008) Astrocytic proliferation and mitochondrial dysfunction induced by accumulated glutaric acidemia I (GAI) metabolites: possible implications for GAI pathogenesis. NEUROBIOLOGY OF DISEASE 32:528-534.
- OMS (2013) Autism spectrum disorders and other developmental disorders: From raising awareness to building capacity. Geneva.
- Opladen T, Hoffmann GF, Blau N (2012) An international survey of patients with tetrahydrobiopterin deficiencies presenting with hyperphenylalaninaemia. JOURNAL OF INHERITED METABOLIC DISEASE 35:963-973.
- Ozinsky A, Underhill DM, Fontenot JD, Hajjar AM, Smith KD, Wilson CB, Schroeder L, Aderem A (2000) The repertoire for pattern recognition of pathogens by the innate immune system is defined by cooperation between toll-like receptors. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 97:13766-13771.
- Palotai M, Kiss E, Bagosi Z, Jaszberenyi M, Toth G, Varadi G, Telegdy G (2014) Interleukin-1beta (187-207)-induced hyperthermia is inhibited by interleukin-1beta (193-195) in rats. NEUROCHEMICAL RESEARCH 39:254-258.
- Pan Y, Chen XY, Zhang QY, Kong LD (2014) Microglial NLRP3 inflammasome activation mediates IL-1beta-related inflammation in prefrontal cortex of depressive rats. BRAIN, BEHAVIOR, AND IMMUNITY 41:90-100.
- Park KW, Lee HG, Jin BK, Lee YB (2007) Interleukin-10 endogenously expressed in microglia prevents lipopolysaccharide-induced neurodegeneration in the rat cerebral cortex in vivo. EXPERIMENTAL & MOLECULAR MEDICINE 39:812-819.

- Park S, Juliana C, Hong S, Datta P, Hwang I, Fernandes-Alnemri T, Yu JW, Alnemri ES (2013) The mitochondrial antiviral protein MAVS associates with NLRP3 and regulates its inflammasome activity. JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY 191:4358-4366.
- Parker DC, Mielke MM, Yu Q, Rosenberg PB, Jain A, Lyketsos CG, Fedarko NS, Oh ES (2013) Plasma neopterin level as a marker of peripheral immune activation in amnestic mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF GERIATRIC PSYCHIATRY 28:149-154.
- Pekny M, Pekna M (2014) Astrocyte reactivity and reactive astrogliosis: costs and benefits. PHYSIOLOGICAL REVIEWS 94:1077-1098.
- Pelegrin P, Surprenant A (2006) Pannexin-1 mediates large pore formation and interleukin-1beta release by the ATP-gated P2X7 receptor. THE EMBO JOURNAL 25:5071-5082.
- Perea G, Araque A (2007) Astrocytes potentiate transmitter release at single hippocampal synapses. SCIENCE 317:1083-1086.
- Perregaux D, Gabel CA (1994) Interleukin-1 beta maturation and release in response to ATP and nigericin. Evidence that potassium depletion mediated by these agents is a necessary and common feature of their activity. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 269:15195-15203.
- Petrilli V, Papin S, Dostert C, Mayor A, Martinon F, Tschopp J (2007) Activation of the NALP3 inflammasome is triggered by low intracellular potassium concentration. CELL DEATH AND DIFFERENTIATION 14:1583-1589.
- Piantadosi CA, Withers CM, Bartz RR, MacGarvey NC, Fu P, Sweeney TE, Welty-Wolf KE, Suliman HB (2011) Heme oxygenase-1 couples activation of mitochondrial biogenesis to anti-inflammatory cytokine expression. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 286:16374-16385.
- Piccini A, Carta S, Tassi S, Lasiglie D, Fossati G, Rubartelli A (2008) ATP is released by monocytes stimulated with pathogen-sensing receptor ligands and induces IL-1beta and IL-18 secretion in an autocrine way. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 105:8067-8072.
- Pizzirani C, Ferrari D, Chiozzi P, Adinolfi E, Sandona D, Savaglio E, Di Virgilio F (2007) Stimulation of P2 receptors causes release of IL-1beta-loaded microvesicles from human dendritic cells. BLOOD 109:3856-3864.
- Poltorak A, He X, Smirnova I, Liu MY, Van Huffel C, Du X, Birdwell D, Alejos E, Silva M, Galanos C, Freudenberg M, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Layton B, Beutler B (1998)

Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: mutations in Tlr4 gene. SCIENCE 282:2085-2088.

- Pop C, Timmer J, Sperandio S, Salvesen GS (2006) The apoptosome activates caspase-9 by dimerization. MOLECULAR CELL 22:269-275.
- Poyet JL, Srinivasula SM, Tnani M, Razmara M, Fernandes-Alnemri T, Alnemri ES (2001) Identification of Ipaf, a human caspase-1-activating protein related to Apaf-1. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 276:28309-28313.
- Prestera T, Talalay P, Alam J, Ahn YI, Lee PJ, Choi AM (1995) Parallel induction of heme oxygenase-1 and chemoprotective phase 2 enzymes by electrophiles and antioxidants: regulation by upstream antioxidant-responsive elements (ARE). MOLECULAR MEDICINE 1:827-837.
- Puntener U, Booth SG, Perry VH, Teeling JL (2012) Long-term impact of systemic bacterial infection on the cerebral vasculature and microglia. JOURNAL OF NEUROINFLAMMATION 9:146.
- Quincozes-Santos A, Bobermin LD, Latini A, Wajner M, Souza DO, Goncalves CA, Gottfried C (2013) Resveratrol protects C6 astrocyte cell line against hydrogen peroxide-induced oxidative stress through heme oxygenase 1. PLOS ONE 8:e64372.
- Rafice SA, Chauhan N, Efimov I, Basran J, Raven EL (2009) Oxidation of L-tryptophan in biology: a comparison between tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. BIOCHEMICAL SOCIETY TRANSACTIONS 37:408-412.
- Rapin I, Tuchman RF (2008) Autism: definition, neurobiology, screening, diagnosis. PEDIATRIC CLINICS OF NORTH AMERICA 55:1129-1146, viii.
- Redcay E, Courchesne E (2005) When is the brain enlarged in autism? A meta-analysis of all brain size reports. BIOLOGICAL PSYCHIATRY 58:1-9.
- Roberts TL, Idris A, Dunn JA, Kelly GM, Burnton CM, Hodgson S, Hardy LL, Garceau V, Sweet MJ, Ross IL, Hume DA, Stacey KJ (2009) HIN-200 proteins regulate caspase activation in response to foreign cytoplasmic DNA. SCIENCE 323:1057-1060.
- Rubenstein JL, Merzenich MM (2003) Model of autism: increased ratio of excitation/inhibition in key neural systems. GENES, BRAIN, AND BEHAVIOR 2:255-267.
- Rushworth SA, Zaitseva L, Murray MY, Shah NM, Bowles KM, MacEwan DJ (2012) The high Nrf2 expression in human acute myeloid leukemia is driven by NF-kappaB and underlies its chemo-resistance. BLOOD 120:5188-5198.

- Rutter M, Bailey A, Bolton P, Le Couteur A (1994) Autism and known medical conditions: myth and substance. JOURNAL OF CHILD PSYCHOLOGY AND PSYCHIATRY, AND ALLIED DISCIPLINES 35:311-322.
- Salvemini D, Mollace V, Pistelli A, Anggard E, Vane J (1992) Cultured astrocytoma cells generate a nitric oxide-like factor from endogenous L-arginine and glyceryl trinitrate: effect of E. coli lipopolysaccharide. BRITISH JOURNAL OF PHARMACOLOGY 106:931-936.
- Salvesen GS, Dixit VM (1999) Caspase activation: the induced-proximity model. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 96:10964-10967.
- Sanchis-Segura, C., Miquel, M., Correa, M., and Aragon, C.M. (1999). The catalase inhibitor sodium azide reduces ethanol-induced locomotor activity. ALCOHOL *19*, 37-42.
- Saresella M, Marventano I, Guerini FR, Mancuso R, Ceresa L, Zanzottera M, Rusconi B, Maggioni E, Tinelli C, Clerici M (2009) An autistic endophenotype results in complex immune dysfunction in healthy siblings of autistic children. BIOLOGICAL PSYCHIATRY 66:978-984.
- Sawada M, Hirata Y, Arai H, Iizuka R, Nagatsu T (1987) Tyrosine hydroxylase, tryptophan hydroxylase, biopterin, and neopterin in the brains of normal controls and patients with senile dementia of Alzheimer type. JOURNAL OF NEUROCHEMISTRY 48:760-764.
- Saxena G, Chen J, Shalev A (2010) Intracellular shuttling and mitochondrial function of thioredoxin-interacting protein. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 285:3997-4005.
- Schobersberger W, Hoffmann G, Grote J, Wachter H, Fuchs D (1995) Induction of inducible nitric oxide synthase expression by neopterin in vascular smooth muscle cells. FEDERATION OF AMERICAN SOCIETIES FOR EXPERIMENTAL BIOLOGY LETTERS 377:461-464.
- Schobersberger W, Hoffmann G, Hobisch-Hagen P, Bock G, Volkl H, Baier-Bitterlich G, Wirleitner B, Wachter H, Fuchs D (1996) Neopterin and 7,8-dihydroneopterin induce apoptosis in the rat alveolar epithelial cell line L2. FEDERATION OF AMERICAN SOCIETIES FOR EXPERIMENTAL BIOLOGY LETTERS 397:263-268.
- Schoedon G, Troppmair J, Fontana A, Huber C, Curtius HC, Niederwieser A (1987) Biosynthesis and metabolism of pterins in peripheral blood mononuclear cells and leukemia lines of man and mouse. EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF BIOCHEMISTRY 166:303-310.

Schroder K, Tschopp J (2010) The inflammasomes. CELL 140:821-832.

- Schroecksnadel S, Ledjeff E, Gostner J, Winkler G, Kurz K, Schennach H, Fuchs D (2013) Neopterin suppresses the activity of tryptophan-degrading enzyme indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. PTERIDINES 24:237-243.
- Schwarcz R, Brush GS, Foster AC, French ED (1984) Seizure activity and lesions after intrahippocampal quinolinic acid injection. EXPERIMENTAL NEUROLOGY 84:1-17.
- Shih AY, Johnson DA, Wong G, Kraft AD, Jiang L, Erb H, Johnson JA, Murphy TH (2003) Coordinate regulation of glutathione biosynthesis and release by Nrf2-expressing glia potently protects neurons from oxidative stress. THE JOURNAL OF NEUROSCIENCE 23:3394-3406.
- Shinohe A, Hashimoto K, Nakamura K, Tsujii M, Iwata Y, Tsuchiya KJ, Sekine Y, Suda S, Suzuki K, Sugihara G, Matsuzaki H, Minabe Y, Sugiyama T, Kawai M, Iyo M, Takei N, Mori N (2006) Increased serum levels of glutamate in adult patients with autism. PROGRESS IN NEURO-PSYCHOPHARMACOLOGY & BIOLOGICAL PSYCHIATRY 30:1472-1477.
- Siniscalco D, Sapone A, Giordano C, Cirillo A, de Novellis V, de Magistris L, Rossi F, Fasano A, Maione S, Antonucci N (2012) The expression of caspases is enhanced in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of autism spectrum disorder patients. JOURNAL OF AUTISM AND DEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS 42:1403-1410.
- Souza DG, Vieira AT, Soares AC, Pinho V, Nicoli JR, Vieira LQ, Teixeira MM (2004) The essential role of the intestinal microbiota in facilitating acute inflammatory responses. JOURNAL OF IMMUNOLOGY 173:4137-4146.
- Sriram K, Matheson JM, Benkovic SA, Miller DB, Luster MI, O'Callaghan JP (2006) Deficiency of TNF receptors suppresses microglial activation and alters the susceptibility of brain regions to MPTP-induced neurotoxicity: role of TNF-alpha. FEDERATION OF AMERICAN SOCIETIES FOR EXPERIMENTAL BIOLOGY JOURNAL 20:670-682.
- Sterka D, Jr., Rati DM, Marriott I (2006) Functional expression of NOD2, a novel pattern recognition receptor for bacterial motifs, in primary murine astrocytes. GLIA 53:322-330.
- Stone TW (1993) Neuropharmacology of quinolinic and kynurenic acids. PHARMACOLOGICAL REVIEWS 45:309-379.
- Suh J, Sinclair E, Peterson J, Lee E, Kyriakides TC, Li FY, Hagberg L, Fuchs D, Price RW, Gisslen M, Spudich S (2014) Progressive increase in central nervous system immune

activation in untreated primary HIV-1 infection. JOURNAL OF NEUROINFLAMMATION 11:199.

- Surprenant A, Rassendren F, Kawashima E, North RA, Buell G (1996) The cytolytic P2Z receptor for extracellular ATP identified as a P2X receptor (P2X7). SCIENCE 272:735-738.
- Suzuki K, Matsuzaki H, Iwata K, Kameno Y, Shimmura C, Kawai S, Yoshihara Y, Wakuda T, Takebayashi K, Takagai S, Matsumoto K, Tsuchiya KJ, Iwata Y, Nakamura K, Tsujii M, Sugiyama T, Mori N (2011) Plasma cytokine profiles in subjects with high-functioning autism spectrum disorders. PLOS ONE 6:e20470.
- Suzuki T, Franchi L, Toma C, Ashida H, Ogawa M, Yoshikawa Y, Mim-uro H, Inohara N, Sasakawa C, Nunez G (2007) Differential regulation of caspase-1 activation, pyroptosis, and autophagy via Ipaf and ASC in Shigella-infected macrophages. PLOS PATHOGENS 3:e111.
- Sweeten TL, Posey DJ, McDougle CJ (2003) High blood monocyte counts and neopterin levels in children with autistic disorder. THE AMERICAN JOURNAL OF PSYCHIATRY 160:1691-1693.
- Takahashi K, Rochford CD, Neumann H (2005) Clearance of apoptotic neurons without inflammation by microglial triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-2. THE JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE 201:647-657.
- Takikawa O, Yoshida R, Kido R, Hayaishi O (1986) Tryptophan degradation in mice initiated by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 261:3648-3653.
- Tammimies K, Marshall CR, Walker S, Kaur G, Thiruvahindrapuram B, Lionel AC, Yuen RK, Uddin M, Roberts W, Weksberg R, Woodbury-Smith M, Zwaigenbaum L, Anagnostou E, Wang Z, Wei J, Howe JL, Gazzellone MJ, Lau L, Sung WW, Whitten K, Vardy C, Crosbie V, Tsang B, D'Abate L, Tong WW, Luscombe S, Doyle T, Carter MT, Szatmari P, Stuckless S, Merico D, Stavropoulos DJ, Scherer SW, Fernandez BA (2015) Molecular Diagnostic Yield of Chromosomal Microarray Analysis and Whole-Exome Sequencing in Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder. JAMA 314:895-903.
- Tan MS, Tan L, Jiang T, Zhu XC, Wang HF, Jia CD, Yu JT (2014) Amyloid-beta induces NLRP1-dependent neuronal pyroptosis in models of Alzheimer's disease. CELL DEATH & DISEASE 5:e1382.
- Terrill-Usery SE, Mohan MJ, Nichols MR (2014) Amyloid-beta(1-42) protofibrils stimulate a quantum of secreted IL-1beta despite significant intracellular IL-1beta accumulation in microglia. BIOCHIMICA ET BIOPHYSICA ACTA 1842:2276-2285.

- Thornberry NA, Bull HG, Calaycay JR, Chapman KT, Howard AD, Kostura MJ, Miller DK, Molineaux SM, Weidner JR, Aunins J, et al. (1992) A novel heterodimeric cysteine protease is required for interleukin-1 beta processing in monocytes. NATURE 356:768-774.
- Tong ZB, Bondy CA, Zhou J, Nelson LM (2002) A human homologue of mouse Mater, a maternal effect gene essential for early embryonic development. HUMAN REPRODUCTION 17:903-911.
- Tong ZB, Gold L, De Pol A, Vanevski K, Dorward H, Sena P, Palumbo C, Bondy CA, Nelson LM (2004) Developmental expression and subcellular localization of mouse MATER, an oocyte-specific protein essential for early development. ENDOCRINOLOGY 145:1427-1434.
- Tronel C, Rochefort GY, Arlicot N, Bodard S, Chalon S, Antier D (2013) Oxidative stress is related to the deleterious effects of heme oxygenase-1 in an in vivo neuroinflammatory rat model. OXIDATIVE MEDICINE AND CELLULAR LONGEVITY 2013:264935.
- Troppmair J, Nachbaur K, Herold M, Aulitzky W, Tilg H, Gastl G, Bieling P, Kotlan B, Flener R, Mull B, et al. (1988) In-vitro and in-vivo studies on the induction of neopterin biosynthesis by cytokines, alloantigens and lipopolysaccharide (LPS). CLINICAL AND EXPERIMENTAL IMMUNOLOGY 74:392-397.
- Tsai PY, Ka SM, Chang JM, Chen HC, Shui HA, Li CY, Hua KF, Chang WL, Huang JJ, Yang SS, Chen A (2011) Epigallocatechin-3-gallate prevents lupus nephritis development in mice via enhancing the Nrf2 antioxidant pathway and inhibiting NLRP3 inflammasome activation. FREE RADICAL BIOLOGY & MEDICINE 51:744-754.
- Turgan N, Habif S, Parildar Z, Ozmen D, Mutaf I, Erdener D, Bayindir O (2001) Association between homocysteine and neopterin in healthy subjects measured by a simple HPLC-fluorometric method. CLINICAL BIOCHEMISTRY 34:271-275.
- Vaissiere C, Le Cabec V, Maridonneau-Parini I (1999) NADPH oxidase is functionally assembled in specific granules during activation of human neutrophils. JOURNAL OF LEUKOCYTE BIOLOGY 65:629-634.
- Vallabhapurapu S, Karin M (2009) Regulation and function of NF-kappaB transcription factors in the immune system. ANNUAL REVIEW OF IMMUNOLOGY 27:693-733.
- van Kooten IA, Palmen SJ, von Cappeln P, Steinbusch HW, Korr H, Heinsen H, Hof PR, van Engeland H, Schmitz C (2008) Neurons in the fusiform gyrus are fewer and smaller in autism. BRAIN 131:987-999.

- Vargas DL, Nascimbene C, Krishnan C, Zimmerman AW, Pardo CA (2005) Neuroglial activation and neuroinflammation in the brain of patients with autism. ANNALS OF NEUROLOGY 57:67-81.
- Vasconcelos AR, Kinoshita PF, Yshii LM, Marques Orellana AM, Bohmer AE, de Sa Lima L, Alves R, Andreotti DZ, Marcourakis T, Scavone C, Kawamoto EM (2015) Effects of intermittent fasting on age-related changes on Na,K-ATPase activity and oxidative status induced by lipopolysaccharide in rat hippocampus. NEUROBIOLOGY OF AGING 36:1914-1923.
- Vogt C, Hailer NP, Ghadban C, Korf HW, Dehghani F (2008) Successful inhibition of excitotoxic neuronal damage and microglial activation after delayed application of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. JOURNAL OF NEUROSCIENCE RESEARCH 86:3314-3321.
- Wakselman S, Bechade C, Roumier A, Bernard D, Triller A, Bessis A (2008) Developmental neuronal death in hippocampus requires the microglial CD11b integrin and DAP12 immunoreceptor. THE JOURNAL OF NEUROSCIENCE 28:8138-8143.
- Walev I, Reske K, Palmer M, Valeva A, Bhakdi S (1995) Potassium-inhibited processing of IL-1 beta in human monocytes. THE EMBO JOURNAL 14:1607-1614.
- Walsh JG, Reinke SN, Mamik MK, McKenzie BA, Maingat F, Branton WG, Broadhurst DI, Power C (2014) Rapid inflammasome activation in microglia contributes to brain disease in HIV/AIDS. RETROVIROLOGY 11:35.
- Wang L, Zhai YQ, Xu LL, Qiao C, Sun XL, Ding JH, Lu M, Hu G (2014) Metabolic inflammation exacerbates dopaminergic neuronal degeneration in response to acute MPTP challenge in type 2 diabetes mice. EXPERIMENTAL NEUROLOGY 251:22-29.
- Wang P, Wu P, Siegel MI, Egan RW, Billah MM (1995) Interleukin (IL)-10 inhibits nuclear factor kappa B (NF kappa B) activation in human monocytes. IL-10 and IL-4 suppress cytokine synthesis by different mechanisms. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 270:9558-9563.
- Wang Y, Xia H, Yu X, Lu T, Chi X, Cai J (2015) Hemin protects against hippocampal damage following orthotopic autologous liver transplantation in adult rats. LIFE SCIENCES 135:27-34.
- Weber K, Schilling JD (2014) Lysosomes integrate metabolic-inflammatory cross-talk in primary macrophage inflammasome activation. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 289:9158-9171.

- Wegiel J, Kuchna I, Nowicki K, Imaki H, Wegiel J, Marchi E, Ma SY, Chauhan A, Chauhan V, Bobrowicz TW, de Leon M, Louis LA, Cohen IL, London E, Brown WT, Wisniewski T (2010) The neuropathology of autism: defects of neurogenesis and neuronal migration, and dysplastic changes. ACTA NEUROPATHOLOGICA 119:755-770.
- Weiss G, Fuchs D, Hausen A, Reibnegger G, Werner ER, Werner-Felmayer G, Semenitz E, Dierich MP, Wachter H (1993) Neopterin modulates toxicity mediated by reactive oxygen and chloride species. FEDERATION OF AMERICAN SOCIETIES FOR EXPERIMENTAL BIOLOGY LETTERS 321:89-92.
- Werner ER, Bichler A, Daxenbichler G, Fuchs D, Fuith LC, Hausen A, Hetzel H, Reibnegger G, Wachter H (1987) Determination of neopterin in serum and urine. CLINICAL CHEMISTRY 33:62-66.
- Werner ER, Blau N, Thony B (2011) Tetrahydrobiopterin: biochemistry and pathophysiology. THE BIOCHEMICAL JOURNAL 438:397-414.
- Werner ER, Werner-Felmayer G, Fuchs D, Hausen A, Reibnegger G, Yim JJ, Pfleiderer W, Wachter H (1990) Tetrahydrobiopterin biosynthetic activities in human macrophages, fibroblasts, THP-1, and T 24 cells. GTP-cyclohydrolase I is stimulated by interferongamma, and 6-pyruvoyl tetrahydropterin synthase and sepiapterin reductase are constitutively present. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 265:3189-3192.
- Werner-Felmayer G, Prast H, Werner ER, Philippu A, Wachter H (1993a) Induction of GTP cyclohydrolase I by bacterial lipopolysaccharide in the rat. FEDERATION OF AMERICAN SOCIETIES FOR EXPERIMENTAL BIOLOGY LETTERS 322:223-226.
- Werner-Felmayer G, Werner ER, Weiss G, Wachter H (1993b) Modulation of nitric oxide synthase activity in intact cells by intracellular tetrahydrobiopterin levels. ADVANCES IN EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE AND BIOLOGY 338:309-312.
- Widner B, Baier-Bitterlich G, Wede I, Wirleitner B, Fuchs D (1998) Neopterin derivatives modulate the nitration of tyrosine by peroxynitrite. BIOCHEMICAL AND BIOPHYSICAL RESEARCH COMMUNICATIONS 248:341-346.
- Widner B, Leblhuber F, Fuchs D (2002) Increased neopterin production and tryptophan degradation in advanced Parkinson's disease. JOURNAL OF NEURAL TRANSMISSION 109:181-189.
- Widner B, Leblhuber F, Walli J, Tilz GP, Demel U, Fuchs D (2000) Tryptophan degradation and immune activation in Alzheimer's disease. JOURNAL OF NEURAL TRANSMISSION (Vienna) 107:343-353.

- Wirleitner B, Reider D, Ebner S, Bock G, Widner B, Jaeger M, Schennach H, Romani N, Fuchs D (2002) Monocyte-derived dendritic cells release neopterin. JOURNAL OF LEUKOCYTE BIOLOGY 72:1148-1153.
- Wissmann P, Geisler S, Leblhuber F, Fuchs D (2013) Immune activation in patients with Alzheimer's disease is associated with high serum phenylalanine concentrations. JOURNAL OF THE NEUROLOGICAL SCIENCES 329:29-33.
- Xiong M, Yang Y, Chen GQ, Zhou WH (2009) Post-ischemic hypothermia for 24h in P7 rats rescues hippocampal neuron: association with decreased astrocyte activation and inflammatory cytokine expression. BRAIN RESEARCH BULLETIN 79:351-357.
- Yamamoto M, Yaginuma K, Tsutsui H, Sagara J, Guan X, Seki E, Yasuda K, Yamamoto M, Akira S, Nakanishi K, Noda T, Taniguchi S (2004) ASC is essential for LPS-induced activation of procaspase-1 independently of TLR-associated signal adaptor molecules. GENES TO CELLS 9:1055-1067.
- Yan Y, Jiang W, Liu L, Wang X, Ding C, Tian Z, Zhou R (2015) Dopamine controls systemic inflammation through inhibition of NLRP3 inflammasome. CELL 160:62-73.
- Yang D, Sun YY, Bhaumik SK, Li Y, Baumann JM, Lin X, Zhang Y, Lin SH, Dunn RS, Liu CY, Shie FS, Lee YH, Wills-Karp M, Chougnet CA, Kallapur SG, Lewkowich IP, Lindquist DM, Murali-Krishna K, Kuan CY (2014) Blocking lymphocyte trafficking with FTY720 prevents inflammation-sensitized hypoxic-ischemic brain injury in newborns. THE JOURNAL OF NEUROSCIENCE 34:16467-16481.
- Yoshida Y, Une F, Utatsu Y, Nomoto M, Furukawa Y, Maruyama Y, Machigashira N, Matsuzaki T, Osame M (1999) Adenosine and neopterin levels in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with neurological disorders. INTERNAL MEDICINE 38:133-139.
- Youm YH, Nguyen KY, Grant RW, Goldberg EL, Bodogai M, Kim D, D'Agostino D, Planavsky N, Lupfer C, Kanneganti TD, Kang S, Horvath TL, Fahmy TM, Crawford PA, Biragyn A, Alnemri E, Dixit VD (2015) The ketone metabolite betahydroxybutyrate blocks NLRP3 inflammasome-mediated inflammatory disease. NATURE MEDICINE 21:263-269.
- Yu M, Li H, Liu Q, Liu F, Tang L, Li C, Yuan Y, Zhan Y, Xu W, Li W, Chen H, Ge C, Wang J, Yang X (2011) Nuclear factor p65 interacts with Keap1 to repress the Nrf2-ARE pathway. CELLULAR SIGNALLING 23:883-892.
- Zhang WH, Wang X, Narayanan M, Zhang Y, Huo C, Reed JC, Friedlander RM (2003) Fundamental role of the Rip2/caspase-1 pathway in hypoxia and ischemia-induced neuronal cell death. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 100:16012-16017.

- Zhao C, Gillette DD, Li X, Zhang Z, Wen H (2014) Nuclear factor E2-related factor-2 (Nrf2) is required for NLRP3 and AIM2 inflammasome activation. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY 289:17020-17029.
- Zhou R, Tardivel A, Thorens B, Choi I, Tschopp J (2010) Thioredoxin-interacting protein links oxidative stress to inflammasome activation. NATURE IMMUNOLOGY 11:136-140.
- Zhu Y, Chen X, Liu Z, Peng YP, Qiu YH (2016) Interleukin-10 Protection against Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Neuro-Inflammation and Neurotoxicity in Ventral Mesencephalic Cultures. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF MOLECULAR SCIENCES 17(1)pii:25.
- Zielasek J, Tausch M, Toyka KV, Hartung HP (1992) Production of nitrite by neonatal rat microglial cells/brain macrophages. CELLULAR IMMUNOLOGY 141:111-120.
- Zimmerman AW, Jyonouchi H, Comi AM, Connors SL, Milstien S, Varsou A, Heyes MP (2005) Cerebrospinal fluid and serum markers of inflammation in autism. PEDIATRIC NEUROLOGY 33:195-201.
- Zou H, Henzel WJ, Liu X, Lutschg A, Wang X (1997) Apaf-1, a human protein homologous to C. elegans CED-4, participates in cytochrome c-dependent activation of caspase-3. CELL 90:405-413.
- Zou J, Crews FT (2012) Inflammasome-IL-1beta Signaling Mediates Ethanol Inhibition of Hippocampal Neurogenesis. FRONTIERS IN NEUROSCIENCE 6:77.
# Appendix

Office of the Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Research)

MACQUARIE University Sydney-Australia

Research Office Research Hub, Building C5C East Macquarie University NSW 2109 Australia **T:** +61 (2) 9850 4459 http://www.research.mq.edu.au/ ABN 90 952 801 237

15 December 2017

Dear Professor Guillemin

#### **Reference No:** 5201600719

**Title:** Human foetal tissue biobank for the investigation of physiological and pathological mechanisms involved in human development and diseases

Thank you for submitting the above application for ethical and scientific review. Your application was considered by the Macquarie University Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC (Medical Sciences)).

I am pleased to advise that <u>ethical and scientific approval</u> has been granted for this project to be conducted at:

• Macquarie University

This approval is subject to the following conditions as determined by the HREC (Medical Sciences) Executive:

- The approved sources of Foetal Tissue are:
  - Clinic66 31 Bertram St, Chatswood
    - All other sources of Foetal tissue must be reviewed and approved by the HREC
- For Macquarie University Researchers (internal) accessing samples from the Foetal Tissue Biobank to conduct research that fits within the scope of current HREC approval, approval will be sought from the Foetal Tissue Biobank Committee. The Biobank committee will provide quarterly reports to the HREC on the research being conducted using the samples and the investigators involved.
- For Macquarie University Researchers (internal) accessing samples from the Foetal Tissue Biobank to conduct research that does not fit within the scope of current HREC approval, ethics approval must be sought from the MDS HREC.
- For External researchers wishing to access samples from the Foetal Tissue Biobank, Ethics approval will be sought. The Biobank committee will provide the MDS HREC with:
  - Information on the research being conducted using the samples
  - An MTA covering transfer of samples

- A copy of the external institutions ethics application and ethics approval covering use of samples.
- This will be done for each request made by an external researcher and research will not commence using the samples until approval by the MDS HREC has been finalised.

This research meets the requirements set out in the *National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research* (2007 – Updated May 2015) (the *National Statement*).

#### **Standard Conditions of Approval:**

1. Continuing compliance with the requirements of the *National Statement*, which is available at the following website:

http://www.nhmrc.gov.au/book/national-statement-ethical-conduct-human-research

2. This approval is valid for five (5) years, subject to the submission of annual reports. Please submit your reports on the anniversary of the approval for this protocol.

3. All adverse events, including events which might affect the continued ethical and scientific acceptability of the project, must be reported to the HREC within 72 hours.

4. Proposed changes to the protocol and associated documents must be submitted to the Committee for approval before implementation.

It is the responsibility of the Chief investigator to retain a copy of all documentation related to this project and to forward a copy of this approval letter to all personnel listed on the project.

Should you have any queries regarding your project, please contact the Ethics Secretariat on 9850 4194 or by email <u>ethics.secretariat@mq.edu.au</u>

The HREC (Medical Sciences) Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures are available from the Research Office website at:

http://www.research.mq.edu.au/for/researchers/how\_to\_obtain\_ethics\_approval/human\_research\_ethics\_

The HREC (Medical Sciences) wishes you every success in your research.

Yours sincerely

Alms

**Professor Tony Eyers** Chair, Macquarie University Human Research Ethics Committee (Medical Sciences)

This HREC is constituted and operates in accordance with the National Health and Medical Research Council's (NHMRC) *National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research* (2007) and the *CPMP/ICH Note for Guidance on Good Clinical Practice*.

### Details of this approval are as follows:

## Approval Date: XX

The following documentation has been reviewed and approved by the HREC (Medical Sciences):

Documents reviewed	Version no.	Date
Macquarie University Ethics Application Form		Revised version received 28/10/17
Correspondence responding to the issues raised by the HREC (Medical Sciences)		Received 28/10/16, 25/11/17
MQ Participant Information and Consent Form (PICF) entitled Human foetal tissue biobank	7	12/12/16
HFT Biobank Proposal Template	1	Received 28/10/16
Members of HFT Biobank Committee	1	Received 28/10/16
Workflow for HREC		Received 28/10/16
Letter confirming Clinic66 as source of tissue		Received 21/11/16



## Animal Ethics Application 5201700249 - Outcome of AEC Meeting<%=Approval Date%>

animal.ethics@mq.edu.au <animal.ethics@mq.edu.au> To: roberta.de-paula-martins@students.mq.edu.au Wed, Apr 12, 2017 at 3:05 AM

Dear,

Your notification of collaboration for the following project was considered and noted by the Animal Ethics Committee at the meeting of 12/04/2017

5201700249 - (Collaboration)(PP00760) Modulation of pterines cerebral metabolism as neuroprotective tool in neurodegenerative diseases

Decision The Committee noted the collaborative report.

This email serves as official notification of the AEC decision. Please keep a copy for your records. Should you have any queries or require clarification, please contact the AEC Secretariat.

Regards,

Chair/Deputy Chair Animal Ethics Committee

Office of the Deputy Vice Chancellor (Research) Animal Ethics Secretariat Research Office Level 3 C5C Research Hub East Macquarie University NSW 2109

+61 2 9850 7758 animal.ethics@mq.edu.au

#### Resultado de Solicitação de Protocolo

#### Protocolo PP00760 Título Modulação do metabolismo cerebral das pterinas como ferramenta neuroprotetora em doenças neurodegenarativas Data de Entrada 08/05/2012

Resultado: Aprovado Data/Prazo 16/10/2015

**Considerações** Oficio nº 89/CEUA/PROPESQ/2015 Do: Presidente da Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais- CEUA Ao(à): Prof(a) Dr(a), Alexandra Susana Latini, Departamento de Bioquímica - CCB

Prezado(a) Professor(a), Em relação ao protocolo de pesquisa sob sua responsabilidade a CEUA deliberou o seguinte:

- APROVADO o adendo de suplementação de oito ratos (Rattus Norvegicus).

Adita-se o Oficio nº 007/CEUA/PROPESQ/2015 Do: Presidente da Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais- CEUA Ao(à): Prof(a) Dr(a), Alexandra Susana Latini, Departamento de Bioquímica - CCB

Prezado(a) Professor(a), Em relação ao protocolo de pesquisa sob sua responsabilidade a CEUA deliberou o seguinte:

- APROVADO o adendo com as novas metodologias e suplementação de trinta ratos (Rattus Norvegicus).

Adita-se o Oficio nº 83/CEUA/PRPE/2012 Do: Presidente da Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais-CEUA Ao(à): Prof(a) Dr(a) Alexandra Susana Latini, Departamento de Bioquímica - CCB

Prezado(a) Professor(a),

Em relação ao protocolo de pesquisa sob sua responsabilidade a CEUA deliberou o seguinte:

-- APROVADO ad referendum, por quatro anos, para a utilização de seiscentos e trinta e seis camundongos (Mus musculus) e trezentos e quatorze ratos (Rattus Norvegicus).

- Procedência do animal: Biotério Central da UFSC

Por ocasião do término desse protocolo, DEVERÁ SER APRESENTADO RELATÓRIO detalhado relacionando o uso de animais no Projeto desenvolvido aos resultados obtidos, conforme formulário ON LINE CEUA.

Atenciosamente,

Relatório Final previsto para (90 dias após término da vigência do protocolo ou no momento da apresentação de um novo protocolo) Data 02/01/2015

Data 16/10/2015

Parecer(es):

